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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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About Calliditas

Calliditas Therapeutics is a commercial stage
holm, Sweden focused on identifying, devel
treatments in orphan indications, with an in
eases with significant unmet medical needs.
has been approved by the FDA as the first ¢
(lgAN), indicated for reduction of proteinuri.
rapid disease progression, generally a UPCR
a marketing authorization application (MAA
(EMA) for this drug product. Additionally, C:
trial with the first in class NOX inhibitor pro
biliary cholangitis and is also initiating a Pha
neck cancer,

Calliditas is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm (ticl
Select Market (ticker: CALT).

Visit www.calliditas.com for further informa
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Business
highlights
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996,304
Total assets {SEK ) 1,463,908
Average number of employees
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CEO STATEMENT

» The successful approval of
NEFECON is the result of the
incredibly hard work and
dedication of a diverse and
extraordinary group of people,
working as a team towards the
common goal of addressing the
unmet medical need of patients
with this rare disease.«

Approval!

2021 was a transformative year for Calliditas, as our lead product NEFECON was
granted accelerated approval in the US by the FDA under the brand name of TARPEYO.
This was the first time that the FDA's cardio renal division granted an accelerated
approval in a nephrology indication, a milestone event that we are very proud to be a part of.

Calliditas has actively been pioneering research and
development in this rare kidney disease for well over a
decade and we are therefore overjoyed that patients

in the US suffering from lgAN now have access to a
medication which has been through the FDAS rigorous
review pracess. The full indication granted is reduction
of proteinuria (the endpoint of the Phase 3 trial) in adults
with primary lgA nephropathy (IgAN) at risk of rapid
disease progression, generally a UPCR of 1.5g/gram. It is
well established that patients with higher levels of UPCR
hawve a warse outlook and prognasis with regards to their
progression towards end stage renal disease, so it is even
more important for these patients to obtain a reduction
in proteinuria and to ensure that their kidney function
{measured by eGFR) is stabilized as quickly as possible.

Discussions regarding how to target the actual origin of
the dizease started in the late 1990’ between Profes-
sars Fellstrdm and Hallgren, who were focused on deliv
ering a drug agent to the ileum where the production
of the secretory lgh antibadies are thought to originate.
The farus on lacal treatment remains just as novel and
intriguing today as it was then. Calliditas was convinced

of the value of this approach and designed a drug devel-

opment program focused on achieving disease modi-
fication by targeting the production of these secretory
antibodies, a brave and ambitious decision. Develop-
ment programs of any kind are inherently complex and
can run into various problems along the way, so it was
therefore extremely gratifying to see this approach
produce such strong clinical results,
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The Phase 3 program is still ongeing, as there is an
integrated confirmatony part which has the purpose

of complementing the existing data with longer term
outcome data related to the impact of the treatment on
the kidney function over a longer period of time. This
fimal part of the Phase 3 program will form the basis of a
subrmission for full approwval

The successful approval of MEFECON is the result of
the incredibly hard work and dedication of a diverse
and extraordinary group of people, working as a team
towards the common goal of addressing the unmet
medical need of patients with this rare disease. To
date, clinical trials involving over 365 patients across
three separate programs have successfully read out,
with over 100 patients still enrolled across our Phase 3
program and our open label extension study. Calliditas’
CMC department has provided clinical trial material
and successfully generated and overseen formulation
improvements, upscaling of manufacturing and supply
chain management to deliver a commercial product

in a timehy manner. The regulatory group has expertly
provided both strategic and tactical insight and support
far the entire regulatory process, including recenthy
managing parallel EMA and FDA submissions.

Market access and medical affairs have brought insight
from healthcare professionals and the payor universe,
conducted hundreds of interactions with graups and
individuals to inform the organization and provided
relevant input for crifical decision making. Marketing
and commercial have worked to create and implement
all of the systemns, resources, structures and materials
required for the commercial launch, while legal, HR, IT
and finance have all worked in tandem to ensure that
our resources, compliance, communication, integration
and reporting have kept up with the increasing demands
and opportunities of a fast paced and growing orga
nization, one which was transforming from an R&D
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s REGULATORY SUBMISSIONS

2021: The culmination of a long but
exciting regulatory journey

At the end of the year, Calliditas achieved a huge milestone when the FDA approved our
drug for IgA nephropathy, an achievement that was the result of over a decade of clinical

development and regulatory interaction.

This journey began with discussions on how to target
the origins of this autoimmune kidney disease in the
1990s between Professors Fellstrém and Hallgren,

wheo patented the underlying concept to target the gut.

the presumed origin of the disease, Two decades later,
Calliditas submitted two landmark regulatory filings
with the FDA and EMA, seeking approval in this indica-
fion for the first time,

The regulatory undertaking began with a Phase 2a
trial in 16 Swedish patients, who were treated for six
months fallowed by a three menth follow up peried.
which read out positive data in 2009. The following
wear, Calliditas was granted US orphan drug designa-
tion for this product, by then narmed Nefecon. This laid
the foundation for the company to initiate the largest,
at the time, study ever canducted in IgA nephropathy,
a Phase 2b randomized double-blinded, placebo-con
trolled clinical trial assessing the safety and efficacy
of two different doses of Nefecon over a nine-maonth

treatment period. This study, named NEFIGAN, was
conducted in 62 centers across 10 European countries;

it originally intended to recruit 0 patients but over-re
cruitment almast doubled this number, and ultimately
the study read out positive data on over 150 patients.
It was at the end of Phase 2b meeting in January 2017
that Calliditas received a groundbreaking acceptance
of proteinuria as a surrogate marker for accelerated
approval, which marked the first time that the FDA
allowed the use of this surrogate endpeoint for a Phase
3 nephrology study.

Calliditas helped to pioneer this regulatory pathway,
collaborating on a meta-analysis - publishad in 2016

- with Professor Inker at Tufts University and the
Mational Kidney Foundation that examined the correla-
tion between changes in urine protein and clinical end
points at individual and trial levels

Calliditas subsequently agreed with the FDA on the
design for our Phase 3 Neflgard study, which is stll
ongoing with a tatal of 360 patients as a randomized,
double blinded and placebo controlled trial for confir-

matory purposes, and closely echoes the NEFIGAN trial,
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The first patient was enrolled in November 2018, and
tw years later Calliditas read out positive topline data
from Part A, with statistically significant results both for
the primary endpaint of proteinuria reduction, as well

as for eGFR at 9 months, which alongside the results of
the NEFIGAN trial formed the basis for the submission
of an NDA with the FDA, which sought accelerated
approval under Subpart H for the 505(h)(2) application
To compile all the data and materials that had been
accurmulated over a decade of clinical development was
an enormaus undertaking: thousands of pages, graphs
and tables needed to be produced, edited, reviewed and
daouble checked. Cur MDA consisted of 1,178 docu-
ments which, if printed, would amount to 75,533 pages.

Sharthy after this submission, we also filed an MAA
with the EMA. Though some of the documents used
in the NDA filing could be used also for the regulatory
process in Europe, many were EU specific and thus
had to be created, compiled and checked separately.
The MAA ulbimately consisted of 576 documents
amounting to a total of 38,442 pages, submitted as
ane electronic document with 18.8%4 links and 4,055
hyperlinks. Both of these submissions, which were filed
on time as planned, represented a hugely significant
achievernent and reflected the hard work of many
different people in the company, guided by our
regulatory team.
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s TARPEYO APPROVAL

TARPEYO: First ever approved

treatment for IgAN

On December 15th, 2021, the US Food and Drug Administration granted accelerated
approval of Calliditas’ lead product, TARPEYO, indicated to reduce proteinuria in adults
with primary immunoglobulin A nephropathy (IgAN) at risk of rapid disease progression,
generally defined as a urine protein-to-creatinine ratio (UPCR) =1.5g/g.

»TARPEYO (developed under the project name
NEFECON) is the first ever and only

approved FDA-approved treatment for
IgA Nephropathy«

TARPEYQ is an oral, delaved release formulation of
budesaonide, a corticosteroid with potent glucocorticoid
activity and weak mineralocorticoid activity that under-
goes substantial first pass metabolism.

TARPEYQ is designed as a 4 mg delayed release
capsule with an enteric coating so that it remains intact
until it reaches the lleum. Each capsule contains beads
coated with polymers and budesanide designed to
target mucosal B-cells responsible for the production of
the galactose-deficient Iga1 antibodies (Gd-Ag1) that
are believed to cause [gA nephropathy,

TARPEYO was approved by the FDA under the acceler-
ated approval pathway, based on achieving its primary
endpaint of reduction in proteinuria in Part A of the
MeflgArd pivotal Phase 3 study, an ongoing, random-
ized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-center-
study conducted to evaluate the efficacy and safety of
TARPEYD 14 mg once daily vs placebo in adult patients
with primary [gaAM.

The effect of TARPEYO was assessed in patients with
biopsy-proven lgAN, eGFR 235 mL/min/1.73 m2, and
proteinuria (defined as either =1 g/day or UPCR =0.8
E/E) who were on a stable dose of maximally-tolerated
RAS inhibitor therapy. Part A of the study included

a 9-month blinded treatment peried and a 3-month
follow-up peried. The primary endpoint was UPCR, and
eGFR was a secondary endpaint.

‘As a IGAN patient the approval of Tarpeyo finally gives hope for new treatment. | am thankful for Calliditas to see
the need and spend the time to be the first to get a treatment for FDA approval”

- John

U Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2021

"I was ecstatic to hear of the FDA approval of Tarpeyo. Itisat
community that has been waiting for a designated treatment +
long. We finally have hope, and | cannot wait to see the positi
community.”

- Judy

Patients taking TARPEYO showed a statistically signif- rernait
icant 34% reduction in proteinuria from baseling vs of 15
5% in the placebo cohart at ¥ months. The treatment compl
effects for the primary endpoint of UPCR at ¢ months fram t
were consistent across key subgroups, including key

demographic and baseline disease characteristics. Callidi
for the
The second part of the Neflghrd study, Part B, is 3 comm

canfirmatory validation study in which no TARPEYD
treatment will be administered and which will assess
eGFR at two years, Each patient will be dosed for

9 months and then manitored off-drug for the

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annua




IGA NEPHROPATHY

Overview of the disease

IgA nephropathy (IgAN) - also known as Berger's disease - is the most common form

of glomerulonephritis, a chronic inflammatory condition of the kidney, in the Western

world.

IgAN Disease Background

lgAN is a serious progressive autoimmune disease of
the kidney, inwhich up to 50% of patients end up

at risk of developing end-stage renal disease (ESRD)
within ten to twenty yvears. The standard of care for
ESRD is dialysis or kidney transplant, which represents
a significant health economic burden as well as a mate-
rial impact on patients' quality of life.

lgAN is an arphan disease that we estimate affects
approximately 130,000 - 150,000 people in the U5
and approximately 200,000 people in Europe. A signifi-
cantly higher prevalence of IgAN has been observed in
Asia, including in Greater China, where it has histor-
ically been a leading cause of ESRD and where we
estimate that IgAN affects approximately 2,000,000
people.

J chain

"

BONE MARROW

region of IgAl is

monomeric, heavily glycosylated

IgAN Pathophysiology

Although |gAN manifests in the kidney, the evidence
indicates that it is a disease that starts in the distal
part of the intesting, specifically in the ileum, Peyer's
patches, which are concentrated within the gut-associ-
ated lymphoid tissue in the ileum, have been identified
as a major source of mucosal-type lgAl antibodies,
lgAl antibodies play a key role in the immune system,
protecting the bady from foreign substances such as
food-derived factors, bacteria and viruses, Patients with
lgA nephropathy have elevated levels of mucosal-type
lgA, and studies have shown that the type of |gA that
deposits in the glomeruli in patients with [gAN s iden-
fical to the mucosal-type IgA produced in the gut.

The majority of the |gA in the blood circulation is
maonomeric, heavily O-galactosylated and is derived
fram bone-marrow-residing plasma cells. In contrast,
the mucosal-type lgA antibodies preduced by the
Peyer's patches are predominately dimeric or poly-
meric and are galactose deficient. In lgAN patients, a
combination of a genetic predisposition and of envi-

The structure of IgA antibadies varies depending on where they are produced
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Mesangial accumulation of pathogenic |gA immune complexes dep
from the circulation and/or formed in situ in the glomerular mesang

ronmental, bacterial and dietary factors is presumed Treati
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tose-deficient IgA antibodies. This increased produc- in the
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block
The galactose-deficient spot at the hinge region of the angiot
lg& antibodies is immunogenic when found in the circu- — angiot
lation. It therefore generates an autoimmune response,  reduc
attracting autoantibodies in the form of 1gG or lgA and reduci

forming pathogenic immune complexes that deposit ment
in the glomeruli, the kidney's filtration apparatus. The not ac
trapped immune complexes initiate an inflammatory
response which damages the kidney and ultimately In the
destroys its filtration mechanism. This leads to slow, cians
progressive deterioration of renal function, which in variet
many patients ultimately results in the need for dialysis immu
ar kidney transplant syster
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s COMMERCIALIZATION PLAN

Commercialization in the US

[ASN] Digital Kidney Week 2021 in the 'Glomerular Sales |
Diseases; Immunolagy and Inflammation in IgANP, Cur F
C3GP TMA, and Nephrotic Diseases' session. Dr Karen tenure
Molyneux fram the Mayer IgA Nephropathy Laboratory Q3 re
at the University of Leicester presented a poster titled diseas
"Targeted Release Farmulation Budesonide Selectively experi

Reduces Circulating Levels of Chemokines Critical prepa

to Immune Cell Trafficking to Peyer Patches in lgh with ¢

Nephropathy”. In addition, Laura Pérez-Alds presented territc

research on how "Treatment with Targeted Release upon

Formulation Budesonide Madulates the Complement sentat

System in Patients with IgA Nephropathy”. reach

» During 2021 we secured the patier

' Market Access: target

necessary partnershlps to ensure Calliditas has done extensive work in syster

an efficient, timely and optimal market access aver the past several prame
launch strategy.« years. During 2021 we developed

and implemented the optimal trade In sun

and distribution path for TARPEYO. partng

MARKET This included selecting and part launch

ACCESS nering with two of the industry's sSUppC

best in IC5 from AmerisourceBergen campi

and our exclusive specialty pharmacy Biologics, a persol

The US Market President of US Medical Affairs, joined Calliditas from McKesson company. We cc

Calliditas is commercializing TARPYEQ in the US with a Regeneron, where he served as a Senior Director, Our national account managers were in the field in the focuse

targeted commercial infrastructure and primary focus Mational Lead in Immunology in Medical Affairs. Tecna months leading up to approval, holding and arranging comm

an the specialist physicians (nephrologists) treating the Johnson, Head of US Marketing, joined Calliditas after meetings with payers to educate them on IgAN - as launch

lgAn patient population. We estimate the prevalence spending over 10 years in leadership roles in marketing this marked the first time that a company approached itas of

of IgAN in the US to be between 130,000 - 150,000 at Pfizer Inc and bringing over 15 years of marketing them to treat this rare disease. TARPEYO is priced initial

with up to 50% of these patients progressing and
ending up at risk of developing end stage renal disease
(ESRD)

Commercial Launch Readiness

In 2021, Calliditas was focused on getting its commer-
cial infrastructure in place in preparation far an FODA
approval. Calliditas focused its pre-commercial efforts
on disease education, market access and patient advo-
cacy with the goal of facilitating appropriate access

to TARPEYO for the patients for which it can fulfil an
unmet medical need, Prior to approval, the focus was
on medical education supported by unbranded disease
state education and preparations, as well as market
access preparations to ensure the successful commer-
cialization of TARPEYO in early Q1 2022,

We have an experienced medical affairs, market access,
marketing, and sales leadership tearn, with an average
tenure of over 20 years. In March, we welcomed three
additional industry veterans to the Calliditas team
respansible for key functional areas of Medical Affairs,
Marketing and Sales. Warren Brooks, PhD, our Vice

experience which includes a proven track record of
successfully launching and growing brands in the
biopharmaceutical industry. Our Head of Sales, David
Ferrarg, joined the team from Kyowa Kirin, Inc,, a global
speacialty pharmaceutical company, where he served

as the National Sales Director for the Oncology / Rare
Disease business unit.

Medical Affairs:

Our medical science liaison team,
which was initially formed in

early 2020, continued its work

in establishing relationships and
collabarating with our advisory
boards and with key opinion leaders
(KOLs) on how to best address and
educate our audience. In 2021, we
were also well published and active
at the relevant congresses, attending the International
Symposium on lgh Nephropathy {IIGANN). the ERA
EDTA Congress and the International Symposium on
lgA Mephropathy (IGANN). Calliditas also published
two posters at the American Society of Nephrology

MEDICAL
AFFAIRS
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according to the value it offers patients and towards
reducing lgAN disease burden an society. Value was
assessed according to clinical, economic, and societal
benefits, factoring in both established and innovative
treatments that are currently available. We believe
health insurance will provide broad coverage of
TARPEYOQ, and Calliditas is committed to help ensure
that all appropriate patients will have access to this
medication.

Upon approval we launched TARPEYO Touchpoints™,
a full-service patient and provider support program.
offering services, assistance and resources designed to
accelerate and streamline access to TARPEYO for the
appropriate patients, The program ublizes Biologics by
McKesson's PharmacyElite™ maodel, which integrates
the Hub and exclusive Specialty Pharmacy services
under one roof, We have a dedicated team of Care
Mavigators (dedicated Case Managers), as well as a
designated Rare Pod Team which contains nurses, phar-
macists, and a fulfilment and distribution team,

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annua




s COMMERCIALIZATION PLAN

6

Interview
with
Dr. Brad Rovin

Dr Brad Rovin is the Director of the Division of Nephrology and the Vice Chairman

of Medicine for Research at the Ohio State University Wexner Medical Centre. He is
also the Lee A. Hebert Distinguished Professor of Nephrology at OSU. As a nephrologist,
Dr. Rovin specializes in autoimmune kidney diseases, with a focus on how the immune

system interacts with the kidney and causes renal inflammation and injury.

Historically, what have the challenges been when
approaching the treatment of IgAN?

The biggest challenge is trying to tell the patient that
after many years of study we still don't know how to
treat IgAMN, and all that can be offered is good blood

pressure control, RASI inhibition, and systemic gluco-
corticoids, with all of their side effects.

What does it mean broadly for nephrologists and
patients to have the first approved medication for
this indication?

Several impartant paints. It shows that the nephralogy
community, the IgAN patient community, and the FDA
can all work together to make progress in this disease. |
think it also give patients hope and faith in the medical
research enterprise.

What approach do you currently take to treating
your IgAN patients?

| generally start all patients on RAS inhibition as soon
as the diagnosis is established. My goal is to minimize
proteinuria, and while | am happy if | can get the patient
below 1 g/d, | really want them below 500 mg/d.

How do you think the TARPEYO approval will
shift your approach to treating your patients?

| am hopeful this will greatly attenuate my use of systemic
Eglucocorticoids for IgAN patients. After giving suffi-

clent time with RAS inhibition, | would pivot and add
TARPEYO. Having TARPEYO available affards me the
option of thinking about treatment for IgAN as multi-
target. For example, if patients do not respond to RASI
the way we want, we generally keep pushing the dose up
and/or add another RASH, like an aldasterene antagonist,
It may be better tolerated and avoid issues like hypoten-
sion or increased serum creatinine to use a reasonable
dose of RASH and if blood pressure is controlled appropri-
ately to move directly to a drug with a different mecha-
nism of action to try and generate synergy.
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Commercialisation in Ei

STADA Deal

This year, Calliditas and STADA Arzneimittel AG er
to register and commercialize NEFECON for the tr

in Europe.

In July 20271, Calliditas announced a deal with STADA
cavering European Econemic Area (EEA] member
states, Switzerland and the UK valued at a total of 7.5
million EUR ($115m), plus royalties. Under the terms

of the agreement, Calliditas received an initial upfront
payment af 20 million EUR ($24m) upon signing and is
entitled ta up to an additional 77.5 million EUR ($91m)
in future payments linked ta pre-defined regulatory and
commercialization milestones. STADA is also due to pay
tiered royalties on net sales expressed as a percentage
between the low twenties and the low thirties

Calliditas is advancing its delayed release formula-
tion of budesonide under the development name
"NEFECON®" autside of the US, Calliditas submitted
a Marketing Autharization Application for NEFECON
to the European Medicines Agency in May 2021. The
submission was based, as was the submission to the
FDA, on positive data fram Part A of the NeflgArd
pivotal Phase 3 study and on the Phase 2b NEFIGAN
study, which also met both its primary endpeint of
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' Important milestones
in the development of NEFECON

201
1

(=

}

=» The Phase 2a study is completed with =» Calliditas obtains orphan drug designation =» First patient is randomized in the pivotal 2>
positive results for NEFECON in Eurepe clinical Phase 3 study NeflgArd
= Calliditas obtains orphan designation = Tufts Medical Center publishes the meta- = Poster from Professor Barratt at IgANN
for NEFECON in the US analysis study related to changes of 2018 demonstrates that Nefecon modifies
3 NEFECON becomes the lead product candidate proteinuria as a surrogate endpoint in I[gAN circulating 1gA-1gG immune complex levels
. ) i in American Journal of Kidney Disease and levels of poorly O-Galactosylated IgA
2 Calliditas gains exclusive rights to the TARGIT . M N 3
formulation technology to develop and <> First patient is enrolled in the pivotal Phase 3 3

manufacture NEFECON

Neflghrd study

2019

3 NEFECON core patents = Publication of results from the Phase 2b = All 200 patients are enrolled in Part A 2>
are granted in the US, study in The Lancet {required for market approval) of the
Europe, China and Hong = Calliditas completes a number of End of Phase NeflgArd study >
Kong 2 meetings with the EMA and FDA, achieving = After positive interaction with the FDA, the
acceptance by the FDA in January for the use design of Part B of the NeflgArd study is
of reduction in proteinuria as an approvable maodified, significantly reducing the number >
endpoint for a pivotal Phase 3 study of patients required in Part B, as well as
reducing the overall study duration 3
= NEFECON is outlicensed to Everest Medi-
cines, covering Greater China and Singapore
= Calliditas collaborates with KHI E:
(American Society of Nephrology) on
proteinuria as a surrogate endpoint in IgAN
= Calliditas announces initial results from the
Phase 2b study and achieves the primary
endpoint in a planned interim analysis, the
/ only placebo-controlled, randomized study in >

IgAN to achieve this milestone
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A NOX Inhibitor Platform

Calliditas' pipeline contains development programs based on a first in class, novel NOX

inhil
reach the clinical trial stage.

Calliditas is presently launching trials with setanaxib in
Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC) and in Squamous Cell
Carcinoma of the Head & Neck (SCCHN),

NOX Enzymes

MNOX enzyme inhibitors are a set of promising novel
experimental drugs in a new therapeutic class,
recagnised by the WHO since 2019 when it approved
“naxib’ as a new stem. Nicotinamide adenine dinucle-
otide phosphate (NADPH) oxidases, otherwise known
as NOX enzymes, are the only known enzymes that are
solely dedicated to producing reactive axygen species
(ROS) as their primary and sole function. They are
transmembrane enzymes that transfer electrons from
NADPH in the cytoplasm across the cell membrane,
which results in the formation of ROS. There are seven
MO members, each differing in compasition, modes
of activation and the ROS type they produce. NOX1.
NOX2, NOX3. and NOX5 transfer electrons from
NADPH to molecular oxygen, producing superoxide
anion (027). NOX4, DUCX1 and DUOX2, meanwhile,
mainly produce hydrogen peroxide (H,0,).

*Q:0- -O:0O: H:O: Ol
T ar anm Y
OXYGEN  SUPERCXIDE ANION  1yDROGEN PEROXIDE
o, (a9 H,0,
At appropriate concentrations, ROS have essential
functions in cellular signalling processes. helping to
regulate cell proliferation, differentiation and migration,
as well as modulating the innate immune response,
inflammation and fibrosis. However, disruption of the
redox homeostasis has been implicated in multiple
disease pathways. Oxidative stress, caused by an
excess of ROS, is a likely common underlying mech-
anism for many disorders, including cardiovascular
diseases, neurodegenerative disorders, and cancer
disease pathways, Setanaxib inhibits NOX1 and NOX4,

enzymes which are implicated in inflammation and
fibrosis pathways.

tor platform that includes lead compound setanaxib, the first NOX inhibitor to

Clinical Development of Setanaxib

Setanaxib in Primary Biliary Cholangitis (PBC)
PBC Disease Background

PEC is a progressive and chronic autoimmune disease
of the liver that causes a cycle of immune injury to
biliary epithelial cells. resulting in cholestasis and
fibrosis, It is an orphan disease and, based on its known
prevalence rates, we estimate that there are approxi-
mately 140,000 patients in the US, where the annual
incidence ranges from 0.3 to 5.8 cases per 100,000,
The origin of this autoimmune response is believed

to be the production of cytotoxic T-cells and B-cell
derived autoantibodies directed towards the epithe-
lial cells of the small bile ducts in the liver, resulting

in inflammation and damage to the duct cells and
eventually in the destruction of the bile ducts, This
destruction results in the accumulation of increased
bile acid in the liver, a condition known as cholestasis.
to levels that are toxic to the liver cells, which in turm
results in the destruction of liver cells and formation of
fibrous tissue.

Early symptoms of PBC include fatigue, itchy skin,

and dry eyes and mouth, As the disease progresses,
symptoms range from pain in the upper right abdomen
and musculoskeletal pain to oedema, jaundice, oste-
oporosis, elevated cholesterol and hypothyroidism. If
untreated, active liver tissue is destroyed and replaced
by fibrous tissue, leading to liver failure and the need
for a liver transplant. Individuals with PBC are also at a
greater risk than the general population of developing
hepatocellular carcinoma.

Current Approved Treatments for PBC
Ursodeaxycholic acid, a generic drug also known

as ursadiol or UDCA, and abeticholic acid, known
as Ocaliva, are the only FDA- and EMA-approved
treatments for PBC. These drugs are primarily anti-
cholestatic. UDCA s a bile acid analogue which is
incorporated into the bile acid pool, replacing other
mare toxic bile acids and reducing inflammation and
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Mean Change from Baseline (%)}

cholestasis. However, while it remains the first-line
therapy for patients with PBC, only 40% to 60% of
patients respond adequately to UDCA. Ocaliva, 2 modi-
fed bile acid, is a famesaid X receptor (FXR) aganist
which modulates bile acid homecstasis. decreasing bile
acid synthesis and increasing its clearance. Howewver,
despite these treatment aptions, there is still an unmet
medical need among PBC patients, in particular when it
comes to important guality of life outcomes.

Phase 2 Trial

Setanaxib previously has been investigated in a 24 week
Phase 2 trial with 111 patients and has received orphan
drug designation for the treatment of PBC in the United
States and Europe. Although the study did not meet its
prirmary endpoint, it met key secondary endpoints related
to change in alkaline phosphatase (ALP), liver stiffness and
important quality of life metrics.

Setanaxib 400mg BID achieved significant reduction

in ALP of 12% vs placebo over the 24-week treatment
peried (p<0.001). Furthermare, in a pre-defined patient
population with an estimated liver fibrosis stage of F3 or
higher (defined as liver stiffness of =%.6 kPa), setanaxib
had a more pronounced effect on ALP reduction and
fibrosis.

Percent reduction in ALP at week 24

Placebo  w400mg Q0 w-400me BID
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Phase 2b/3 TRANSFORM Trial

Calliditas has initiated a pivotal 52-week, randomized.
placebo-contralled. double-blind, trial with an adaptive
Phase 2b/3 design. Calliditas announced that the first
patient was randomised in the TRANSFORM study on
15th February 2022,

Setanaxib will be administered to approximately 318
patients with PEC and elevated liver stiffness as well as
intolerance or inadequate response to UDCA In a global
trial conducted at up to 150 investigational centres,

The primary endpoint is ALP reduction, with key
secondary endpoints including change in liver stiffness,
and effect an pruritus (itching) and fatigue. An interim
analysis will be conducted ance the $9th randomized
patient has completed the Week 24 visit, which is
expected in Q2 or Q3 2023, and the trial is expected to
read out final data in late 2024 or early 2025,

In August 2021, Calliditas received FDA Fast Track Desig-
nation for setanaxib in PBC.

52 WEEKS

Setanaxib 1200mg daily*

5
52 WEEK Extension Phase

S2WEEK |
Extension Phase

Placeba 1 _ ﬁlhdéd

axib dose TBD* ‘setanadb

“Dese of 1200 mg dally adminkstered as 800 mg AM and 400 mg P
#Dosc af 1600 mg daily administered a5 800 mg AM and 800 mg P

Setanaxib in Head and Neck Cancer

Calliditas is also initating a Phase 2 clinical trial to eval-
uate setanaxib in head and neck cancer. The response
to immuna-ancology therapies can be affected by the
turnour microenvironment, in particular by the numbers
of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and cancer-as-
sociated fibroblasts (CAFs) in the tumour, A relationship
between cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and prog-
nosis in Sguamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head & Neck
(SCCHM) has been established.

NOX4 is highly over-expressed in CAFs and drives
myofibrablastic ackivation within tumaurs, shielding
them from CD8+ TlLs. Targeting CAFs with setanaxib
could improve patients’ responses to immunatherapies,
and function as an adjunct therapy. There is increasing
use of pembrolizumab as 1st line monotherapy in
patients with relapsed or metastatic SCCHN, although
response rates are low (ORR approx. 206).

Setanaxib has shown promising preclinical data in mice,
reversing CAF differentiation and overcoming CD8-cell
exclusion in viva, Using a CAF-rich tumour madel in
mice, administration of setanaxib + pembrolizumab
{wersus either treatment alone) resulted in:

= |mproved penetration of TLs into the centre of the
furmnour

= Slowing of tumour growth

» Improved survival

This research paper, ‘NOX4 Inhibition Potentiates Immu-
notherapy by Overcoming Cancer-Assaciated Fibro-
blast-tMediated CDB T-cell Exclusion from Tumors' (DOI:
10.1158/0008-5472 CAN-19-3158), was one of the
most highly cited Cancer Research articles in 2020 and
2021 and will be featured at the American Association
for Cancer Research {AACR) Annual Meeting 2022,

2
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CAF = Cancer Associated Fibroblast 9 weeks

IV = Intraveneausly x1week) gy

PO = Per os orally) ke
Calliditas is initiating a double-blind, randomized, imatel
placebo-controlled, proof-of-concept Phase 2 study, until L
which will investigate the effect of setanaxib 800 mg keepir
twice daily in conjunction with pembralizumab 200mg
IV, administered every 3 weeks, in up to 60 patients The tz
with relapsed or metastatic SCCHN and tumours with interin
moderate or high levels of CAFs. A tumour biopsy will 24 20

be taken prior to randomization and again after approx-

Our pipeline

i'.NEFEcoN ||gANif OLE! |

Dapicts cngaing/planned clinical trial stage: - Depicts Imvestigator Led T
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I ESG

Environmental, Social, and Corporate

Governance

Qur drive to provide access to treatment for patients with rare diseases with a high unmet

medical need is the foundation of our business. As part of our mission to serve patients,

we support environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) initiatives that are

aligned with our values and that can help us positively impact our patients, our employees

and our planet.

Our Vision:

We are dedicated to ensuring that we act ethically

and respensibly in every area of our business, with

a commitment to the highest standards of clinical
development and business ethics as well as the highest
safety and quality standards.

Our committment to our employees

2021 was yet another year where the Calliditas

team grew significantly, as the company bolstered its
US team in preparation for TARPEYO's accelerated
approval and formally completed our acquisition of
Genkyotex, which became a wholly owned subsidiary
of Calliditas in October. This growth has made our
quality systems and our internal policies even more
paramaunt, and we remain passianately committed
to cultivating a productive, diverse and inclusive wark
environment and to maintaining a company culture that
we are extremely proud of.

The success of Calliditas Therapeutics is determined by
our ability to operate as a unified team as we work to
earn the trust and respect of our co-workers, inves-
tors, and ultimately our patients, Qur company is built
an a foundation of creative, productive and dedicated
employees and Calliditas is committed to ensuring
equal apportunities for everyone to flourish and
contribute to our overall mission. We lock to promote
ethical behaviour amongst our team through our

company values and our employee code of conduct,
and we view our employees as essential to helping

us maintain a work environment that meets a high
ethical standard. Every member of the Calliditas team is
expected and encouraged to ask questions. seek guid-
ance and repart suspected violations of this code.

We also strongly believe in cultivating engagement
acrass the different teams in our company and encour-
aging open communication. Employees have access to
management, and receive regular feedback, including at
vearly employee review sessions. The senior leadership
team holds quarterly town hall meetings as a forum to
share details about the progress made and plans far the
future, and to foster an apen dialogue with employees
about the direction and objectives of the company.

We are always seeking feedback and input to ensure
that employees have the resources and support they
need to be successful in their role and to contribute to
the company's mission. We also encourage an appro-
priate wark-life balance as we aim to maintain healthy
employees and a healthy work environment. We are
proud to offer a safe, inclusive, and stimulating work-
place with equal development oppartunities for all.

Commitment to Safety and Environmental
Responsibility
Calliditas understands the importance of acting in
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an environmentally conscious way, and we always
strive to be mindful of how our business operations
could be impacting the planet. Our offices in New
York and Stockhelm are equipped with energy saving
features like smart outlets, energy efficient lightbulbs
and maotion activated lights in commaon areas and
bathrooms, While business travel is important to our
company, with employees based across Europe and
the United States, we are always mindful of aur envi-
ronmental impact, and have positionad our offices in
areas with excellent transport links so as to encourage
employees to utilize public transport.

Calliditas is also committed to rigorous safety stan
dards, both for ourselves and our partners. Calliditas
does not own or manage any manufacturing facilities,
but we are rigorous and mindful about how we select
aur suppliers and build partnerships. All of our current
appointed commercial suppliers are reputable compa-
nies, located in western Europe and USA. They were
chosen through a selection process strictly evaluating
amaong other things, quality standards, compliance
with laws and regulations and all relevant permits. We
hold ourselves to higher guality standards than those
required by law and will always hold any partners to the
same rigorous standards.

Qur acquisition and integration of Genkyotex has
added two new offices, in France and Switzerland, and
also means that as a company Calliditas is now engaged
in clinical research. We stricthy follow bioethics policies
defined by French regulations when it comes to clinical
research, which includes an internal Animal Welfare
Committee and an external Ethics Committee to ensure
all animal experiment project requests are accept-

able from an ethical point of view. A careful regard

for bicethics is embedded in all of our procedures,
processes and decision-making in our clinical research.

Commitment to Our Patients

Since our company was founded, our mission and
vision has been to focus on unmet needs in orphan
indications and to bring to market treatments for those
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Share Performance

Nasdag Stockholm

Calliditas was listed on Nasdag Stockholm Mid-Cap, on
June 29, 2018. As of December 31, 2021, the closing
rate was SEK 112.8 yielding an decrease of 19% in
2021, During the same period, the OMXSPI increased
by 34%. The highest closing rate during the year was
SEK 143.6 and the lowest SEK 62.0.

Nasdag USA

Calliditas was listed on Nasdag Global Select Market
inthe US., on June 5, 2020, An ADS listed in the US.
corresponds to two ordinary shares. On December 31,
2021, the closing price was USD 24.8, which gave a
decrease of 26 percent during the period January-De-
cember 2021, Masdag Composite increased by 31
percent during the same period. The highest closing
price during the year was USD 33.2 and the lowest was
uUsD 15.0

Turnover

Nasdag Stockholm

Atotal of 946 million shares were traded during the
wear, with a total value of SEK 10,1462 million. On
average, 373,999 shares were traded each day.
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Trading platforms, %
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Nasdag USA

During the period January-December 2021, a total of
17.2 million ADSs were traded. On average, 68,390
ADSs were traded per day.

Shareholders

As of December 31, 2021, Calliditas had 19,879 share-
holders. The 15 largest shareholders controlled 64.6% of
the capital and voting rights at vear-end. The three largest
shareholders were BVF Partners, Sfiftelsen Industri-
fonden and Linc AB. Foreign shareholders accounted for
31.7% of voting rights and capital.

Share Capital

As of December 31, 2021, share capital in Calliditas
amounted to SEK 2,094 thousand. The number of
shares was 52,341,584 carresponding to a quotient
wvalue per share of SEK 0.04. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, share capital must be not less
than SEK 710 thousand and not more than SEK 2,840
thousand. distributed between at least 17,750,000
shares and not exceed 71,000,000 shares.

The proportion of shares available for trade (free float)
amounted approximately to 65.8% at year-end.

Investor Relations Work

Investar Relations work in 2021 has focused on the
continued establishment of Calliditas in the capital
market in the Nardic region, Europe and the USA.

The management has participated in a number of
sector-specific conferences that during the year were
primarily virtual. Calliditas has also conducted a large
number of virtual meetings an both the sales and buying
side to educate the market and ensure that there is a
broad knowledge of the company in the market

Analysts

Calliditas is monitored by Carnegie. Stifel, Kempen,
Citi, Jefferies, Life S5ci Capital, HC Wainwright, SEB and
Penser.

‘Ownership per country, %

B Swedish institutional cwners 29.8% B Nasdag 89.37% W Sweden 58.3%
W Foreign institutional owners 20.9% W Choe Global Markets 1045% WUEA 15.2%
= Other 17.7% ™ France 27%
W Swedish private persons 329% B Great Britain 17%
W Anonymaus ewnership B.7% W Narway 1.2%
Qther 23%

® Ancrymous ownership B

Source: Monitar by Modutar Finance AB and Fidessa,
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The 15 largest shareholders as of December 31, 2021 CALT

......bl:‘:: Daily av
Shareholders. shares  Holding, % ates, % Low SE
BVF Partrers LP 6331562 12.7% 12.7% High, SE
Stiftedsen Industriforsden 5772995 1L0% 1L.0% VAR !
Linc AB 5486108 10.5% 10.5% Nurnhes
Fiarde AP-fanden 2,675.000 51% 5.1% Aoverage
Sweedbank Robur Feeder 2438107 5.0% 5.0% Average
Unianen 1858.342 3.6% 3.6% Nurmber
Handelsbanken Fander 1767236 R 34% Average
Awanza Pension 1401182 31% 31% Diaily tu
Safinnava Partners 1318078 26% 2.6% Part Ma:
Mikae! Bervder 1100459 21% 21% Choe &
Ghman Fander 827419 1.6% 1.6% -
Palar Capital 750.000 14% 14%
BlackRock 4998467 1.0% L.O0%
Renée Aguiar-Lucander A1B.000 08% 0.8%
Adlant Fonder 390,568 0.7% 0.7%
Total share of the 15 Largest
sharcholders 33434543 5465 6463
Other sharehoiders 18,906,631 25.4% 35.4%
Total 52,341,584 100.0% 100.0%
Size classes as of December 31, 2021

Ne. of known

Sige classes shareholders No. of shares.
1-100 11264 413748
101 - 200 2570 306,484
201 - 500 2918 995,116
501 - 1000 1453 1,156,638
1001 - 2000 B3 1273079
2001 - 5000 505 1,63847%
5001 - 10000 181 1,173,940
10001 - 20000 73 1,085,443
20001 - 50000 43 1424350
50201 - 100000 17 1117 745
100001 - 200000 12 1,725,739
200001 - 500000 B 2809799
500001 - 1000000 2 1577419
1000001 - 4000000 7 12,956,404
AD00001 - 3 17,590,645
Ancrymous ownership 5,004,514
TOTAL 19,879 52,341,584
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W= Board of Directors’ Report

The Beard of Directors and the CEQ of Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ), with its registered office, in Stackhalm,
Sweden and Corporate Registration Number 55465%-9766, hereby submit the Annual Report and consclidated
financial statements for the fiscal year 2021, All amounts are expressed in SEK millions unless otherwise stated.

Multi-Year Summary, Group

2021
Met sales (SEK in thousands) 229,247
Loss befare income tax (SEK in thousands) (513.373)
Total assets (SEK in thousands) 1459910
Average number of employees 56
Multi-Year Summary, Parent Company

2021
Met sales (SEK in thousands) 229,347
Loss befare income tax {SEK in thousands) 354,405)
Total assets (SEK in thousands) 1528439
Awerage number of employees 29

Operations

Calliditas Therapeutics is a commercial stage biopharma
company based in Stockholm, Sweden focused on
identifying, developing and commercializing novel
treatments in orphan indications. with an initial focus
an renal and hepatic diseases with significant unmet
medical needs. Calliditas' lead product, TARPEYO, has
been approved by the FDA as the first and only treat-
ment of Igh nephropathy (IgAN), indicated for reduc-
tion of proteinuria in adults with primary [gAM at risk of
rapid disease progression, generally a UPCR of =1.5g/
gram. Calliditas has also filed a marketing authoriza-
tion application (MAA] with the European Medicines
Agency (EMA) for this drug product. Additionally,
Calliditas has initiated a clinical trial in primary biliary
chelangitis and a trial in head and neck cancer, with
MNOX inhibitor product candidate setanaxib. Calliditas

is listed on Nasdag Stockholm (ticker: CALTX) and the
MNasdaq US Global Select Market (tHcker: CALT)

In 2020, Calliditas made a positive reading of top line
data from Part A of the Neflghrd study. The results were
statistically significant and clinically relevant: protein-
uria showed a 31% reduction compared to baseline, a
stronger effect than seen in the phase 2b study [27%).
In addition, eGFR was stabilized in the treated patient
population, which is ultimately the real treatment goal.
With the positive results from Part A of the Phase 3 clin-

2020 2019 2018 2017

a74 184 829
[436,151) {32.501) (132,043) (86,794}
1,463,908 845200 448,417 42,288
23 14 10 10
2020 2019 2018 2017

874 184,829
[407.363) (26.184) (131,923 (86.848)
1,318,525 838249 451,633 45,366
15 13 10 &

ical study top-line readout, Calliditas focused in 2021
mainly on applying for approval for Mefecon in the US
and the EU as well as preparing for commercialization in
the US and outlicensing Mefecon in the EU.

In March 2021, Calliditas submitted a New Drug Appli-
cation (NDA) to the US Feod and Drug Administration
{FDA) for Mefecon for the treatment of primary IgA
nephropathy (IlgAN) and applied for accelerated approval
under Chapter H, Section 505 { b) (2}, and in May 2021
submitted a Marketing Authorization Application (MAA)
to the European Medicines Agency (EMA)

In 2021, Calliditas intensified preparations for commer-
cialization in the United States, and in December

2021, the FDA granted an accelerated approval far
Nefecon in the United States under the name Tarpeyo™
{budesonide), for the treatment of adult patients with
primary |gA nephritis (IgAN] at risk of rapid disease
progression, Tarpeyo became the first treatment ever
approved for the treatment of [gAN. During the wear,
Calliditas also entered into a licensing agreement with
Stada Arzneimittel AG to register and commercialize
MNefecon for [gAN in the European Economic Area (EEA),
Switzerland and the United Kingdom, as well as an
agreement for a loan facility of 75 million divided into 3
parts of 25 million USD each with Kreos.

During the fourth quarter of 2021, Calliditas alsa
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completed the acquisition of the French listed company
Genkyotex SA, which now is fully owned by Calliditas.

The Group's revenues in 2021 derives mainly fram
milestone payments from Calliditas partnerships with
Stada and Everest, which amounted to SEK 229.3
millian and the Group may be dependent an external
financing until Nefecon/Tarpeyo starts generating
substantial revenues to ensure continued operabions,
During the year, a new share issue was carried out
which raised a total of SEK 324.0 millien before issue
costs,

The group consists of the parent company Calliditas
Therapeutics AB, the American subsidiaries Calliditas
MNA Enterprises Inc, Calliditas Therapeutics US Inc, the
French subsidiary Calliditas Therapeutics France SAS
and the Swedish subsidiary Nefecon AB, where there is
no angeing operations.

Significant Events During the Year

Devel plan for ib

In January 2021, Calliditas announced the clinical
develapment plan for setanaxib and additional data
from Part A of Neflghrd study at the company's R&D
Day. Calliditas set out plans to initiate a pivotal Phase
2/3 study in PBC in 2H 2021. In addition, Calliditas set
out plans to initiate a Phase 2 proof-of-concept study
in head and neck cancer which would study administra-
tion of setanaxib in conjunction with immunotherapy
targeting CAFs (cancer associated fibroblasts).

Calliditas also provided selected data from the recently
concluded Part A of the Phase 2 study Neflghrd. The
data presented included overall baseline characteristics,
rate of discontinuation of study treatment (9.5%) and
rate of discontinuation from the study (3.5%). It was
also confirmed that no adverse clinical effects were
seen with regards to weight gain, blood pressure or
HbaAlc, reflecting a safety profile in keeping with the
Phase 2b trial.

FDA New Drug Application

In March 2021, Calliditas submitted a New Drug
Application (NDA) to the US. Food and Drug Admin-
istration (FDA) for NEFECON in patients with primary
lgAN. Calliditas was seeking accelerated approval under
Subpart H for the 505(b)(2) application.

EMA Market Authorisation Application
In May 2021, Calliditas submitted a Marketing Authori-
sation Application (MAA) to the EMA for NEFECON,
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Sales and Earnings

Sales amounted to SEK 229.3 million and SEK 0.9
million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. The sales derive mainly from mile-
stane payments during the year from the out-licensing
aof Nefecon to Everest and Stada for China and the EU,
respectivehy,

Research and development expenses

Expenses for research and development amounted to
SEK 357.5 million and SEK 241.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
cost increase for the full year 2021 is mainly attribut-
able to the setanaxib studies and the development of
setanaxib as well as a write-down of the SIL platform
compared with the same period last year.

Administrative and selling expenses

Administrative and selling expenses amounted ta SEK
390.2 million and SEK 141.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The increase compared with the previous yvear is mainly
due to the commercial preparations for the launch of
TARPEYQ in the USA,

Other operating income / expenses

Other operating income amounted to SEK 0.3 million and
SEK 2.5 million for the years ended Decemnber 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively and mainly pertains to currency gains on
aperating receivables. Other operating expenses amounted
ta SEK 6.3 million the year ended December 31, 2021, and
mainhy pertains to currency losses on operating liabilities and
change inwvalue of contingent consideratian,

Financial income / expenses

Financial incame amounted to SEK 20.3 millian and
SEK 0.5 for the years ended December 31, 2021

and 2020, respectively and mainly pertains unreal-

ized currency gains. Financial expenses amounted

to SEK 9.3 million and SEK 57 .0 for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively and consist
mainly of interest expense and unrealized exchange
rate |osses

Tax

Income tax expenses, in all material respects, primarily
relates to the U.S, subsidiaries of Calliditas Therapeutics.
Deferred tax assets of SEK 5.1 million have been recog-
nized in the twelve months ended Decernber 31, 2021
due to future temporary differences that such losses
can be used to offset and are related to Genkyotex.

The Group's tax losses accumulated have otherwise not

been valued and not recognized as deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax assets will be recognized for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilized,

Eamings

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2019, the Group had a net loss of SEK
502.5 million and SEK 4356.5 millicn, respectively and
corresponding loss per share befare and after dilution
amecunted to SEK 9.84 and SEK 9.66 for the years,
respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Position

Cash amounted to SEK $55.5 million and SEK $96.3
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In
mid-2021, a new issue of 2.4 million shares was carrled
out. The total issue amount was SEK 324.0 million
before issue costs

Sharehalders' equity related to the shareholders of
the parent comparny amounted to SEK 1,008.2 million
and SEK 1,210.5 million as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

Cash Flow

Met cash used for operating activities was SEK 441.6
million and SEK 309.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Cash flow used in investing achivities was SEK

24.3 million and 172 .4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively and
derives mainly from a SEK 16.1 million milestone
payment for the Budenofalk license and SEK &.6 million
in purchase of equipment.

MNet cash provided by financing activitizs was SEK
435.2 million and SEK 748.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and
arises mainly from the new share issue in August of a
net SEK 304.0 million and the utilization in September
of the first part of Kreas loan facility of SEK 1995
million reduced by the purchase of the remaining
shares in Genkyotex SA.

Met increase/(decrease) in cash amounted to (SEK 50.8
million) and SEK 286 .8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Personnel
The number of employees in the Group were a6 and
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34 emplovyees as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The total number of full-time equivalent
(FTE). including the consultants, were 86 and 46 people
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
average number of employees were 56 and 23 for the
year ended Decermber 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively
af which 53% were women and 4 7% were men for 2021.

Environment

Calliditas works proactively to reduce its adverse environ-
mental impact and to evolve as a sustainable comparry.
Since Calliditas had no product sales during 2021,
Calliditas’ products have no impact on the erwironment,
Instead, environmental impact is in the areas of purchasing
of products and services, energy consumption and travel.
Calliditas aims to contribute to sustainable development
and is therefore endeavoring to actively improve environ-
mental performance as far as it is economicalky viable,

Long-Term Incentive Programs

The Group had at December 31, 2021 two warrant
programs outstanding, issued in 2018 and 201%.

The warrant program issued in 2018 was addressed

to employees and consultants and expired in March
2022 and the program issued 2017 was addressed to
employees and consultants and expires in December
2022, At the time of issuance, the warrants were priced
at market value in accordance with the Black & Scholes
pricing model. In the program from 2018 and 201%
the participants cannat exercise the warrants until the
first quarter of 2022 and fourth quarter 2022, respec-
tively. As of December 31, 2021, the total number of
warrants outstanding, if fully subscribed, correspanded
to 1,279,086 shares.

The Group also has two outstanding option programs,
ESOP 2020 and ESOP 2021. The options will be
granted to the participants free of charge, The options
have a three-year vesting periad from the grant date,
provided, with the usual exceptions, that the partic
ipant is still employed by / still provides services to
Calliditas. Once the options have been exercised, they
can be exercised over a one-year period. Each vested
option entitles the holder to acquire ane share in the
company at a predetermined price. The price per share
shall correspond to 115% of a weighted average price
at which the company's shares are traded on Nasdag
Stockhalm during the ten trading days preceding the
allotment date. Exercise of options from ESOP 2020
can take place at the earliest during the third quarter
of 2023. Exercise of options from ESOP 2021 can take
place at the earliest during the third quarter of 2024, At
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s BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT

Work of the Board of Directors

Calliditas' Board of Directors consists of five Board
members including the Chairman, who is elected for
the period until the 2022 AGM. The Board of Directars
follows a written procedure that is revised on an annual
basis and determined at the first regular Board meeting
every year. Amaong other things, the rules of proce-
dure govern the function of the Beard of Directors as
well as the functions and division of work between

the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO.

In connection with the Board meeting, the Board of
Directors also establishes the instructions for the CEQ,
including financial reporting.

The Board meets in accordance with an annual
schedule. In addition to these board meetings. addi-
tional board meetings may he canvened to address
issues that may not be referred to the regular board
meeting. In 2021, the board met 16 times. In addition
to the board meetings, the chairman of the board and
the CEC have a continuous dialogue about the compa-
ny's management

In cannection with the Board meeting, the Board of
Directors also establishes the instructions for the CEQ,
including financial reporting,

For additonal infarmation of the wark of the Board of
Directors, please see the Corparate Governance Report
an pages 86-91

Guidelines for Executive Remuneration

The executive management for the Group falls within
the provisions of these guidelines. Executive manage-
ment refers to the CEQ and other members of the
executive management, as well as board members. The
guidelines are forward-looking, i.e. they are applicable
to remuneration agreed, and amendments to remuner-
ation already agreed, after adoption of the guidelines
by the annual general meeting 2021. These guidelines
do not apply to any remuneration decided or approved
by the general meeting. For the most recently adopted
guidelines for remuneration to executive management,
see Note @ Employees and Personnel Costs.

The guidelines’ pr of Calliditas’ business strategy,
long-term interests and sustainability

Calliditas’ business strategy is to progress its lead
candidate Nefecon through Phase 3 dlinical develop-
ment and towards regulatory approval and subsequent
commercialization and licensing. Calliditas has after

accelerated approval, started to commercialize Mefecon
for lgA nephropathy on a standalone basis in the
United States market, branded as TARPEYO, and have
also signed partnerships in other regions. Calliditas will
also selectively explore line extensions for Nefecon and
setanaxib, and ather drug candidates in the pipeline,

in other diseases where there is a strong scientific and
clinical rationale and attractive commercial oppartuni-
ties, such as in certain liver diseases. Calliditas may also
selectively consider leveraging the Group's capabilities
through accessing additional product candidates with

a strong strategic and commercial fit with Nefecan for
development and commercialization,

Calliditas' business strategy and safeguarding of

its long-term interests, including its sustainability,
presumes that Calliditas is able to recruit and retain
qualified personnel. To this end, it is necessary that
Calliditas offers competitive remuneration. These
guidelines enable Calliditas to offer the executive
management a competitive total remuneration.

Types of remuneration, etc.

Calliditas shall offer remuneration in accordance with
market practice which enables the recruitment and
retention of qualified executives. Remunerations within
the Group shall be based on principles of performance,
competitiveness and fairess.

The remuneration to the executive management may
consist of fixed remuneration, variable remuneration,
share and share-price related incentive programs,
pension and other benefits, If local conditions justify
wariations in the remuneration principles, such varia-
tions may ocour.

The fixed remuneration shall reflect the individual's
responsibility and experience level. The fixed remunera-
tian shall be reviewed annually.

The variable cash remuneration covered by these
guidelines shall aim at promoting Calliditas’ business
strategy and long-term interests, including its sustain-
ability, by for example being clearly linked to the
business strategy or promate the executive's long-term
development. The satisfaction of criteria for awarding
variable cash remuneration shall be measured aver a
period of ane year. Variable remuneration paid in cash
may not exceed 60 percent of the annual fixed cash
salary, Variable remunerations shall be connected to
predetermined and measurable criteria, designed with
the aim of promoting the Group's long-term value
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creation. To which extent the criteria for awarding
variable cash remuneration has been satisfied shall be
evaluated/determined when the measurement periad
has ended. The Remuneration Committee is respon-
sible far the evaluation so far as it concerns variable
remuneration to the CEO and to other executives

For financial objectives, the evaluation shall be based
on the latest financial information made public by the
Group.

Pension shall be premium based. Variable cash remu-
neraticn shall not qualify for pension benefits. For

the CEO and other executives, the premium may, in
situations where premium-based pension is applicable,
amount tg a maximum of 30 percent of the annual
fied cash salary. Motwithstanding the above. the Board
of Directors is entitled to offer other selutions which, in
terms of cost. are equivalent to the above.

Executives may be awarded customary other benefits,
such as company car, cccupational health service, etc.
Such ather benefits may amount to not more than 15
percent of the fixed annual cash salary,

Lang-term share-related incentive plans for employees,
consultants and certain board members have been
implemented in Calliditas. Such plans have been
resolved by the general meeting and are therefore
excluded from these guidelines. For more information
regarding these incentive plans, including the criteria
an which the outcame depends on, please see https:#
wwww.calliditas.se/en/remuneration-2323/.

Between Calliditas and the CEQ, the notice period shall
be 12 months upon notice by the company. Upon notice
by the CEQ, the natice period is & months., For other
mermbers of the executive management, notice periods of
3 to 12 months apply. During the natice period, normal
cash salaries shall be paid. In addition, remuneration may
be paid for non-compete undertakings. Such remunera
tion shall compensate for loss of income and shall anly be
paid in so far as the previously employed executive is not
enfitled to severance pay. The remuneration shall amount
to not more than 60 percent of the fixed cash salary

at the time of termination of employment and be paid
during the time the non-compete undertaking applies,
however not for more than 12 months following termina-
tion of employmeant.

To the extent a board member conducts work for
Calliditas, in addition to the board work, consulting fees
and other compensation for such work may be payable,

For er
Swedi
duly 2
establ
extent

Salary
In the
for th
ment

taken

emplc
nerati
Remu
basis 1
lines &

The de
impler
The B
Camrr
the Bt
for ex
shall
every
The g
adopt
Comn
for vai
ment,
rermur
struct
mernk
dent t
CEO:
do no
of anc
matte

Derog
The B
derog:
specifi
anda.
term i
Group
ation
Direct
incluch

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annuz




s BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT

A

Risk Management

Calliditas’ board of directors and management wark
continuously to identify and assess risks for the compa-
ny's operations and take measures to reduce the effect of
these. A risk management strategy is drawn up for every
material risk. This work involves support fram expertise in
areas such as commercialization, regulatory strategies and
the design and implementation of clinical trials.

Risks and Uncertainties

Calliditas’ operations are impacted by a number of factors
that affect the Group's eamings and financial position and
that in certain respects cannot be contralled, in part ar in
full, by Calliditas. When assessing Calliditas’ future devel-
apment, it is important alongside opportunities for profit
growth to also consider these risks. The most important
material risks and uncertainties in terms of the Group's
future development are listed below, without any order of
precedence

Operational risks

Calliditas rmain activities are research and development
and commercialization of pharmaceuticals, which is

an area that is to a large extent both risky and capi-
tal-intensive. Calliditas has a product in the commercial
phase, Tarpeyo, which has been approved for marketing
in the USA, There is a risk that commercialization will
not go according to plan and that the uptake of treating
doctors will be worse than planned or that the drug

will not have sufficient effect or show unwanted side
effects, which may affect sales negatively. Calliditas

has two product candidates in clinical development,
Nefecon and setanaxib, for the treatment of g4
nephropathy and primary biliary chelangitis and head
and neck cancer, respectively, and there is a risk that
the projects will never reach market registration due

to the risk that the drugs do not have sufficient effect
or show unwanted side effects, Even after a drug has
been launched, market registration can be withdrawn if
serious side effects occur.

Calliditas conducts clinical studies regarding its product
candidates. Clinical studies are fime-consuming and
costly and involve risks such as difficulbes in finding
clinics, difficulties in recruiting suitable patients, that

the cost per patient exceeds budget and shortcomings
in the performance of the studies by the clinics partic-
ipating in the study. Both Nefecon and setanaxib are
drug candidates with orphan drug classification in [gA
nephropathy and primary biliary cholangitis, respectively,

The number of suitable patients for clinical trials is

thus lower than for comman diseases and it may be a
challenge for Calliditas to recruit patients for the imple-
mentation of the Phase 2/3 study for the treatment of
primary biliary cholangitis and the Phase 2 study for the
treatment of head and neck cancer.

If competing drugs take market shares or competing
research projects achieve a better effect and reach the
market faster, the future value of the product partfolio
may be lower than expected. Patent applications filed
by Calliditas may never be approved and approved
patents may be annulled, which may result in Calliditas
losing patent protection. The business is also affected
by government decisions such as approvals and price
changes, There is an ongoing political debate on
perceived overpricing of orphan drugs, especially in the
United States. There is a risk that new rules will have a
negative impact on arphan drug prices in the future.

There are also risks regarding the manufacture of the
product where the selected manufacturer may have
problems delivering sufficient quality and / or quantity
or lose the necessary permits to manufacture, Part

of Calliditas strategy is to investigate the possibility
of developing products in other indications. Callid-
itas, howewver, has not yet finished any clinical trials in
other indications, Conducting clinical trials is always
associated with risks related to the implementation of
the study. the results and the appraval of regulatary
authorities, and as a result it is currently uncertain
whether Calliditas ambition to develop products for
treatment for other indications will be realized.

The risk of the war in Ukraine and the EU sanctions
imposed on Russia and Belarus is expected to be
limited and not directly impact the Group since there is
no direct link or exposure to these countries or entities
listed by the EL restrictive measures. Any furture
enforced sanctions or development of the situation will
be monitored and adressed.

Liquidity risks

Calliuditas manages liquidity risks by confinuously
manitoring cash flow so that it can reduce liquidity risk
and ensure its solvency. Given that Calliditas currenthy
does not have its own earning ability, Calliditas may
be dependent on external inancing and there is a risk
external financing will not be available to Calliditas if
and when it is needed,
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Financial risks

A financial policy for managing financial risks has been
farmulated by the Board and forms a framework of
guidelines and rules in the form of risk mandates

and limits for financial aperations. Calliditas is mainly
affected by the exchange rate risk. Calliditas has most
of its expected future costs in the LS. dollars and
Euros. During 2021, Calliditas holded parts of the cash
and cash equivalents in Euro and US dollars to reduce
future currency exposure to EURO and US dollars, The
finance policy is updated at least once a year.

Parent Company

The Group's Parent Company is Calliditas Therapeutics
AB. Operations and accounting in the Parent Company
is aligned in all material respects with the operations
and accounting of the Group. Met profit for the year
and the financial position of the Parent Company are
aligned in all material respects with the Group's which
is why the comments for the Group are in all material
respects also valid for the Parent Company. For the
years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, the Parent Company had a net loss of SEK 354.4
million and SEK 4074 million, respectively.

The Parent Company had cash of SEK 8%4.5 million
and SEK 978.2 million as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

Outlook

Calliditas drug Nefecon has great market potential
The product has been approved under the brand name
TARPEYQ by the FDA in the USA which has granted
an accelerated approval for TARPEYO (budesonide)
targeted release capsules indicated to reduce
proteinuria in adults with primary immunoglobulin A
nephropathy (IlgAN) at risk of rapid disease progres-
sion, generally described as a urine protein-to-creatine
ratio (UPCR) z1.5g / g. TARPEYO is the first and only
FDA-approved treatment for this indication and has
been designed specifically to target the origin of the
disease. This appraval marks the transition for Calliditas
to a commercial phase biopharmaceutical company.

MNefecon is also in a Phase 3 clinical study for lg4
nephropathy where Part B of the NeflgArd study is
ongaing. With studies in PEC and head and neck
cancer with setanaxib initiated, the business is capital
intensive and until Nefecon/TARPEYO will bring

in steady revenues that exceed the costs, external
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I GROUP

Consolidated Statements of Income

“Year Ended December 31,

[SEK In thousands, sxcept pes share amounts) Nate 2021 2020 2019
et sales 3 229347 874 184829
Resgarch and development expenses [357 485} (241.371) (149 828}
Administrative and selling expenses (390,232} (141,724) (&62,882)
Other operating income: 4 259 2501 4,385
Other operating expenses 5 (6,344} (4,525}
Operating loss 7 (524.456) (379.720) (28,019)
Financial income 11 20,336 547 F26
Financial expenses 12 [%,253) [56,978) (5,408}
Loss before income tax (513,373) (436,151) (32,501)
neame tax expense 13 3,836 (34601 779
Loss for the year (509.537) 1436,511) (32,578)
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company (500,293} (433 494) (32,578

Mon-contralling interests (% 244) (3.017) 5

(509,537) (436,511) (32,578)

Loss per share

Before and after dilution to ordinary equity holders of the

Parent Company 14 (%84} 17.66) (D.88}

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annual Report 2021

GROUP
Consolidated Statements of Comj

(SEK in thousands) L}

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
rehensive income/lloss) that may be reclassified to profit or
squent periods:

Other cor

loss in s

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 21

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified ta
profit or loss in subsequent periods

ssified to

ome{loss) that will not be rech
ent periods;

Cther comprehensive i
profit or loss in subse

RRemeasurement gain on defined benefit plans

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Other comprehensive income/({loss) for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company

MNon-controlling interests
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I GROUP GROUP
. . . g .
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position Consolidated Statements of Chan
Atributable to the Equi
December 31,
Share Additional
(SEH in thousands) Nate 2021 2020 (SE In thousands) Mote  Capltal Pald-InCapltal 1
ASSETS Opening equity January 1, 2019 1,408 1,072,319
Non-current assets Loss for the year
Intangitle assets 1516 399,418 418825 Other comprehensive income/(loss) for
Equipment 17 6309 163 the year
Right-of-use assets ] 33,300 5,244 Total comprehensive loss for the year - -
Non-current financial assets 1820, 31 3915 2,225 Transactions with owners:
Deferred tax assets 19 | 4196 600 New share issue 140 210177
Total non-current assets 447,138 427,057 Coste attributable to new dhare fssue - {10.915)
Premiums from warrants issuance 10 - 2,634
Current assets Share-based payments 10 - 249
Inventorn; 2% 869 Total transactions with owners 140 202,345
Other current assets 20 11343 22801 Closing equity December 31, 2019 1548 1274.664
Prepaid expenses 22 45,032 177446
Cash 3 955,507 996,304 = 4
= e : Opening equity January 1, 2020 1,548 1,274,664
Total current assets 1,012,772 1,036,851
Loss for the vear
Cther comprehensive income/(loss) for
TOTALASSETS 1,459,910 1,463,908 the year I
Total comprehensive loss for the year - = {2
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Trancactions with owners:
Equlty 2 New share fssue 397 890990
Share capital 2,094 1998 . .
A e S S Aa3170 Costs attributable to new share issue : (97.686]
dditional paid-in capital 459, 133,179
et paicicarlta Sl ! Exercise of warrants 52 59199
Reserves (26,979) (6,090)
. =T - = - oy Share-based payments 10 - 6012
Retained earnings including net loss for the year 1.426574) 1918.598)
[l sntrolling interests fi busi
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 1,008,281 1,210,491 b i e b .
Non-controlling interests = 4580% e o
urchase of non-controlling interests - -
Total i 00 1,256,300
o) mqulty AL 2563 Total transactons with owners 449 858,516
= Closing equity December 31, 2020 10,1525 1,998 2133179 (¢
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 24 14,530 6,391 5 )
Contingent consideration 15,90 54390 AB589 Opening equity January 1, 2021 1,998 2133179 (¢
Pension liabilities 27 3,182 6296 1058 Tor Whe et
Deferred tax liabilities 1519 30856 37 454 Cther comprehensive income/(loss) for
the year (20
MNon-current interesting-bearing liabilities 21 189,164 Total enatve loss for th 12
comprehensive loss € year - -
Mon-current lease liabilities 8,20 24052 B78 b L
Total non-current liabilities 316,184 101,989 Transactions with owners:
Mew share issue 9% 323,904
Current liabilities Cantribution from non-controlling
Accounts payable 2021 67971 53827 B
Current tax liabilities 1221 618 Costs attributable to new share issue (20.90%)
Other current liabilities 5.20 12,702 9,888 Share-based payments 15 - 23547
Accrued expenses and deferred revenue 28 53.553 41,386 Purchase of non-controlling interests -
Total current liabilities 135444 105,619 Total transactions with owners 2% 326,562
Closing equity December 31, 2021 10,1525 2,094 2,459,741 (2¢
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,459,910 1,463,908
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BN GROUP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
(SEH in thousands) Note 2021 2020 201%
Operating activities
Operating loss (524 454) (379,720 (28.019)
Adjustments for non-cash items 23 46,676 15465 2308
Interest received 102 1912 926
Interest paid (5.43Z2) (393) 325)
Incame taxes paid [3.94%) (528) =
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working
capital (467,058) (363,264) (25,110}
Cash flow from changes in working capital
Changes in inventary (F45) A -
Changes in operating receivables {11,712) 8033 {33.546)
Changes in operating liabilities 15131 45050 7645
Cash flow from operating activities (461,588) (309,181) (71,011)
Investing activities
Acguisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 15 - (172,602)
Purchase of equipment 17 [6,588) - 118)
Investments in non-current financial assets 18 (1.686) (5] (1.888)
Purchase of intangible assets 14 {16,066) = (14 66)
Cash flow from investing activities = (@4340) (72607  (18072)
Financing activities
New share issue 324000 891,388 210,317
Costs attributable to new share issue (20,90%) (95,937} {12.683)
Exercise of warrants 59,251 o
Pramiums fram warrants issuance o 2,834
Purchase of non-controling interests (49.303) (B2172)
Contribution from non-controlling intereset 2,282
Mew bormowings 71 19%,524 - -
Costs attributable to new loans (14.858) st =
Repayment of lease liabilities 5.575) {3.972) (1.652)
Cash flow from financing activities 435,162 768,558 198,835
Met increase/(decrease) in cash (50,766) 286,770 109,752
Cash at beginning of the year 996,304 753,540 646,175
Exchange-rate difference in cash 99469 (44,004) (2.387)
Cash at the end of the year 23 ¥55,507 996,304 753,540
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GROUP

Notes to Consolidated Financial S

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Description of Business

Calliditas Therapeubcs AB {publ) (*Calliditas® or the *Parent Compary],
with corporate registration number 5565599766, and its subsidiaries
(callectively, the *Group”) conduct development and commercial activities
in pharmaceuticals. These cansolidated financial statements encompass
thn Graup, donmi n Stockhalm, Sweden, and its subsiciaries for the
a ervled December 31, 2021, December 31,2020 and December 31,
?019 The graup has elected to present in addition to minimum perods
required under IFRS, a consclidated statement of income. consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash
flaws, and consolidated statement of changes in equity. for an additional
comparative period,

Calliditas is clinical-stage biophammaceutical company focused on identi
developing and commerzializing novel treatments in orphan indica
ans, with an initial fecus on renal and hepatic diseases with significant
unmet medical needs. The registered address of the corporate headnuar
ters is Kungsbron 1, D5, Stackhalm, Sweden,

Calliditas was founs as a public limited liability campany under e
lawrs of Sweden on February 200 2004 under the name Pharmalink AB
and registered with the Swedish Companies Registration Office on April
15, 2004 As of December 31, 2021, Calliditas is the Parent Company

of four subsidiaries located in Sweden, France and in the United States.

The Swedich subsidiary is Mefacon 4B which is conduchng no aperating
activities, The subsidiaries in the United States are Cal Therapeutics
US Ing and Calliditas NA Enterprises Inc, who CONCUCHINE Pre-COmmer-
clalization and commercilization activites ies in the Uinited States,
respectively. The Fr emh subsidiary is Calliditas Therapeutics France SA5
lexcated in France which s eonducting preclinical acHities,

The Board of Directors the "Board") approved, and authorized for issuance,
these consolidated financial statements on April 27, 2022, which will be
presented for adoption al the Annual General Meeting on May 19, 2022

MNote 1 Significant Accounting Policies

Basls for Preparation

These consolicdated financial statements have been prepared in sccordance
with the Intermaticnal | wial oetirg Stancards IFRS) published by
the International Accounting Standards Board (1A5E) 25 adopted by the
European Union [EUL. In addition. the consolidated financial statements
comply with the recommendation of the Swedish Financial Reporting Board
RFR 1. Supplementary Accounting Regulations for Groups.

The accounting polici
appied comsistently o
statements, The Grewp's accounting policies have been applied consistently
by the Group's companies. The consalidated financial statements provide
comparative infoemation in respect of the previows perio:d

tated befow have, unless atheraise stated, heen
all penads presented in the consalidated financial

Functional Currency and Reporting Currency

The Farant Compamy's functional curency is :Na(\ls‘\ Kronor (SEK), which
is alsa the presentation o means that the finan
cial statements are presented in Swedish kranol band all amounts,
unless atherwise s , are rounded to the nearest thousand (SEK 000s).

Basis for Vialuation and Current versus Non-Curvent Classification

The consolicated financial statements have been prepared on a historical

cost basis, excent for certain finandial assets (including dervative financial
instrument) and contingent cansideration that have been measured at fair
vahue through profit or loss

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial posi
ton based on current/nan-current classifcation. An asset is current when it
is expected to be realized within bwelve months after the reparting periad.
All pther assels are classified as non-current, A liability is current when it

I5 s tor be settled within bwehse months after the reporting perod. The
Grioup dassifies all other labilities as non-current,

Basis for Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the inancial statements of
thie Parent Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31. 2021. Control
is achieved when the Parent Company has cantral over the investee, the
Parent Company is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its
invchiement in the investee, and the Parent Company has the ability to use
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T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fu

(R

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

The Groug's revenues for the financial year 2021 is allccated based on the
following identified performance obligations:

1) Cutlicensing of Mefecon to Everest Medicines for the Chingse region
and Sirgapare, and 1o Stada Arzneimittel for the EEA region,

2} Certain regulatory senices to Stada Arzreimittel related to the ELI
reguiatory approval process,

Revere for the eutlicensing of Mefecon for the Chinese region and Singa-
pore, as well as the EEA region. i= recognized at the point in fime when
rantral of the intellectual property is transferred. The revenue allocated

to the performance cbligation is based on the resicual approach, and
cansists of the total transacton price for each contract after deducting the
stand-alene selling price of Al other performance abligations. Revenue for
the provision of certain regulatory services to Stada is reported over fime
as the services are performed and the allocation of revenue to the perfor-
mance chligation is based on the expected costs to provide the service,
and a profit margin based or camparable comganies, In the prior year, the
Group recagnized reverue far a performance abligation to provide pharma-
ceutical goods for clinical trials to Everest Medicines. The revenue sllocated
to this performance obligation was based on the expected costs to provide
the goads, and a profit margin hased on comparable companies.

These contracts wnth customers consists of fived remuneration as well as

Pensions.

The Group has both defined -contribution and defined-benefit pension
plans, and most employees are covered by and recognized in the
defined-contribution pensian plans. Emgloyees in France and Swirzerand
are covered by defined-benefit pension plans, All ather employees were
covered by defineckcontrbution pension plans. See Mote 27 Pension
Liabilitiess for more information

Defined-contribution pension plans
A defined-cantribution pension plzr is a pension plan according to which the
Geoup pays freed premiums to & separate legal entity. The Group daes nat
have any legal or informal abligation to pay further premiums if this legal entity
cloes not have sufficient assets to pay the full remuneration to employees
comesponding fo their service during the current o previous periords, The
Group therefore has no further risk. The Group's coligaticons relating to fees
for defined-contribution plans are expensed in prafit or loss as they are
accrued due to the employes performing services for the Group over a period.

Defined-beneft pension plans

In defined-benefit plans, the pension is determined as a percentage of
the pensianable firal salary, based on the employee’s length of service
and average final salary. The Group i responsible for ensuring that the
estabiished bengiits are paid out The defined-heneht pension obligations

wariahle vin the form of regul y and cammercial milesteo

and sales-hased rovatties. Variable remuneration [for example, attributable
te fubure reaulatory milestonesh are inftially considered constrained, a5
there fs significant uncertainty as to whether these will coour, Compensa-
Hion attributable to sales-based milestones or ravalties s not recognized
writil the sale that results in the right to the royalbies have occurred.

Inventory
Inventory is recognized as the lower of the acquisiton cost and the net
realizabde value. The acouisition cost for completed goods and goods being
manufactured comprises raw materials and other direct costs and appli
cabile indirect manufacturing costs, The net realizable value is the estimated
sale price in aperating acthities. By continuaushy manitoring inventony, we
ensure that it is dispatched based on its shelf life and maving average basis,
When necessary, impairment of inventory is performed within the frame of
normal business aperations and is recognized in costs of goods sokd.

Financial Income

Financial income consists of interest income and foreign exchange gains.
Intarest income is recognized in accordance with the effective interest
method. Effective interest is the interest that discounts estimated future
receints and payments during 2 inandial instrument’s anficipated duration
ta the financial asset’s or lability's recognized net value.

The calculation contains all costs included in the effective interest paid by the
parties to the contract, ranssction costs and all other premiurms and discounts
Dividends recehed are recognized when the right to receive a diidend has
been established. Foreign exchange zains and losses ae netted

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primaily of costs incurred

for the Group's development. activities, inclucling the development of the
Group's product candidates, The Group expenses research and develon-
ment casts as incurred. The Groug recognizes extemal develapment costs
based on an evahiation of the progress to completion of specific tasks
using information provided by Calliditas’ service providers, Payments for
these activities are based on the terms of the individual sgreements, which
may differ from the pattern of costs incurred, and are reflected in the
cansolidated financial statements as a prepaid expense or accrued expense.
Research and development tax credits are recognized in Sweden and in
France. In Sweden tax credits are recognized on sodial security costs and in
France tax credits are recognized an accredited suppliers. These research
and development tax credits are recognized as an offset to research ancl
development expenses in the consolidated statements of incame,

and Selling
Acmiristrative and selling expenses consist of salares and other related
costs far perscrnel in the Group's executive, finance, corperate, market
access, commerciagization and business development and administrative
functions. Administrative and selling expenses sk indude professional fees
for legal, patent, accounting, auditing, tax and consulting services. related
travel expenses and facility-related expenses, which include allocated
expenses for rent and masntenance of faclifies and other operating costs,

Employee Benefits

Shart-term benefils

Current employee benefits such as salaries, social security costs, vacation
pay and bonuses are expensed during the pericd in which employees
perform the service.

are recognized in the consel of financial pesition as the
met total of the estimated present value af the obligations and the fair value
of the plan assets, which ane recognized as a pravision or a non-current
financial receivable, For defined-tenefit plans, pension expense and
commitments are caleulated using the applicable pringiples of 185 19 This
caloulstion is performed annually by independent actuaries. The Group's
abligations are measured at the present value of expected future payments.

Actuarial gains and losses may arise in connection with the determination
af the present value of the ohligations and the fair value of plan assets.
Thess arise either because the fair value differs from the previows assump-
tion, ar the: .)ssumnnons change, Actuarial Sdllns and losses are recognized
in the o ) of campreher Incarne i the periad in
which they arise, Interest expense, less the estimated return on plan assets,
s classified as 3 financial expense, Other cost items in the pension expense
are charged to operating proft

Severance pay
An expense far remuneration in connection with termination of emplay-
ment of personnel s recognized only if the Group is committed, without
any realistic possibility of withdrawal, by a formal detailed plan to eliminate
A position in achance of when that position wiuld nomalty expire, When
remuneratian is paid as an offer to encourage voluntary termination of
emplyyment, the cost is recognized if it is prabable that the offer will be
accepted ardl the number of empkayvees that will aceept the affer can be
relizbly estimated.

Share-based

Share-hased payments in the Group refers to option programs and
performance-based share award programs, which are regulated by equity
instrumnents. In cases where the fair value of the instrument exceeds what
the employes paid, the difference Is recognized as a personnel cost, The
fair walue of aptions is determinedd at the allotment date using the Black-
Lehales maodel for pricing of aptiens, The valuation of the performance
share awards is based on a discounted model with Monte Carla simulation
af the share price's development for the share-related parts and with
estimated probabilities for the cubcome of the market conditions. The cost
s recognized, together with a cormesponding increase in equity, during the
period in which the service conditions are met, up to and including, the
date on which the employees cancemed are fully eligible for compensation,

Sacial security costs attributable to equity-related instruments to
employees as remunesation for purchased services shall be expensed aver
the periods during which the services are performed. The cost should then
e measured using the same vakuation model used when the options were
sued. The provision recognized must be revalued at each reparting period
an the basis of a cakculation of the sodal security costs that may be paid
when the instruments are resalved.

Leases

Lessee

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract s, or
contains, 3 lease, That is, if the contract corveys the right to control the use
af anidentified asset for a period of time in exchange for conssderation.

The Group applies a single recognitian and measurement approach for all
beazes, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, The
Croup recognizes lease liabilities for future remaining lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of
the lgase {Le., the date the underiying asset is available for wse). Right-
of-use assets are maasurec at cost, less any acoumulated depreciation and
Impalnment bosses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease Rabilites
recognized, initial direct costs incurred. and lease payments made st or
befare the commencement date less any lease incentives recenved,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
lesse 4erm, which currently is twa o three years far the Group's leasss.

Leace liabilities

Af the commencement dlate of the lease, the Group recognizes lease
liahilities measured at the present value of lease payments ta be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any kease:
incentives receivable and variable lease payments that depend on an index
or arate. In calculating the present value of lease payments. the Group
uses its incremental bomowing rate at the commencement date, because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readity determinable. Following
the commencement date, the amount of lease lizbilities is increased to
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
I additian, the carrying amaunt of lease liahilities is remessured if thare

is & medification, a change in the lease term, or 2 change in the lease
payments fe.a. changes to future payments resulting friom a change in an
Indlex or rate used ta determine such lease payments). The Group's lease
liabilities are inchuded in Non-current lease liabilities and other current
liahsilities iry the consalidated statements of financial position fsee Note 8
Leases and 20 Finandial ard MNon-Financial Asscts and Liabilities).

Short-term leases and leases of low-value aszets

The Croup applies the short-term lease recognition exsmption @ its
shart-term leases of equipment [Le., those beases that have a lease term of
rwehee menths or less from the commencement datel. It also applies the
lease of low-value 5521 recognition exemption to leases of office equip-
ment that are considered to be low value, Lease payments on short-term
et and keases of low value assets are recognized as an expense on &
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial Expenses

Finanrial expenses mainly cansist of realized and unrealized losses on
foreign exchange derivative instruments and unrealized forsign exchange
Iosses. Foreign exchange gains and losses are netted.

Taxes
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax. Incame tax & recog-

nized in net profit for the year, except when the underbying transaction is
recagnized in ather comprehensive incame or eguity with the related tax
effect recognized in cther comprehensive income and in equity.

Current tax is the tax that is to be paid or received in the cument year, with
the application of the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reparting periad. Current tax also includes,
adjustments of current tax attributable to prior periods.

[referred tax is recognized on all temparary differences that arise hetween
the tax value of assets and abilities anel their canrving amounts, Temporary
differences attributable to participations in Group companies is not
recognized, since it is unlikely that such a reversal will take place in the
foreseesble future

The valuation of deferred tax is based on how the underlying assets or
liabilities are expectad to be realized or settled, Deferred tas is measured
with the application of the tax rates and tax nules decided or announced
on the closing date, and that are expected to apply when the deferred tax
asset In question is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are offser s far as possible within the
framewark aof kocal laws and regulations on taeation.

Dreterred tax assets on deductible temporary differences and loss
carryforwards are recognized crby bo the extent that it is probable that it
will be possible to utilize these, or to the extent that there are temporary
differences which these can be utilized to offset A provision for deferrad
tax assetswill be recognized when it is na langer deemed probable that
they can be utilized.

Intangible Assets
Irtangible assets in the Group consist of licerses and similar rights and
foedwill,

Licenses and similar rights
The acquisition of Genkyotex SA resulted in the Group scquiring the rights
to the NOX platform as well as goodwill.
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Impairment of Mon-Financial Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets not vet available for use, are not amorfized
buit the Group assesses for impairment at each reporting date, ar when
there T an indication that an asset may ke impaired. Equipment thar is
depreciated ks asseswed for impairment whenever events or changes in
clreumstances indlicate that the carmying amaunt is nat recoverable

Arvimpairment loss is made by the amount by which the asset's carrying
AMOUNT exceeds its recoveralie amaount. An asset’s recoverable amount s
the higher of an asset's ar cash generating units' (*CGU") fair value less costs.
of dispasal and its value in use. The recoverablz amount is i for

T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial fabilities at amortized costs are initially measured at fair value, net
af transaction costs. Subsequently perinds are measured at amartized cost
wsing the effective interest (EIR) methad. Financial liabilities classified at fair
walue are measured bath initally and in subsequent periceds at fair valug in
the Group's consolidated statements of financial pasition, where changes in
falr walue are recagnized in the Group's consolidated statements of income,
The comporsents of the change in fair value relating o exchange rate
effects are racognized in net inandal ibems and other changes in fair value
are recognized in operating profit or loss.

an individual asset. unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largehy independent of those from cther assets or groups of assets, When
the carrying amount of an asset or TG exceeds its recoverable amount, the
assel i cansidered impalred ard is written down to its recoverable amount.

I assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
ko their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects cument
merket assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific io
the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market
trarsactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
comahorated by waluation multiples, quoted share prices for publicty traded
wampanies or other available fair value indicators,

The Group bases its impairment measurement on intargible assets on a
probability-adjusted cash flow moded. The value of licenses is measured by
estimating the expected future cash flows srd oresent value adjustrments
to take into sccount the development risk. The valuaton takes into account
cash flow from potential commercialization duning the expected useful

lifie and does ot include caloulation of any residual value thereafter. The
most critical assumnptions mainly consist of assumptions about the tming
of patential commercialization, market size, market share and probability of
reaching the market.

Wher assessing the impalrmnent requirernent for goadwill, this is grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifisble cash flows.
Calliditas has made the assessment that the Group's operations 35 a whole
comprise a cash-generating unit. Impairment losses of continding oper-
ations are recognized in the statement of income in expense categories
cansistent with the function of the impaired ass=t

A previcusly recognized impairment loss is reversed anly if there has been
achange in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable
araunt since the last impairment boss was recognized. The reversal is
limited sa that the carrying amount of the asset does nof exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carying amount that would have been
determined, met of deprediation, had ne impalrment ks been recognized
four the asset in prior years,

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of
one entity and 2 firancial liability or equity instrument of anather entity.
Financial instrements are classified at initial recagnition, including on the
basis of the purpose for which the instrument was acquired and managed.
This classification determines the valuation of the nstruments.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets
The Group's financial assets corsist of long-term receivables, other current
receivables and cash, all of which are dassified at amortized cost.

The instruments are classified into:
- Amortized cost, or
- Fair value thraugh profit or loss

Financial assets at amortized cost are initially measured at tair value

wilh the additicn of transaction casts, Following the initial recognitian,
the assets are megsured at amartized cost less 3 provision for losses
onexpected credit losses, Assets classified st amortized cost are held
arcording to the business model to collect contractual cash flows that are
only payments of capital amount and interest on the outstanding capital
amount.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial liabilities
The Groug’s financial iabilities consist of contingent consideration related
fo business combinations, accounts payable and ather current liabilities, all
of which, except contingent consideratian, are classifies] as amortized cost,
Contingent conssderation refated to business combirations is classified at
Fair value through prodt or loss,

The instruments are classified into:
- Amertized cost, or
- Fair value thraugh profit or loss

A financial asset or financial liabdlity is recognized in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position when the Group becomes a party in accorclance
with the contractual terms of the instrument, Debt is recognizedd when the
counterparty has performed and a contractual abligation exists to pay. even
ifan inveice has ot yet been received

A finarcial asset is derecognized fram the cersolidsted statement of
financial positian when the rights in the agreement are ealized, expire or
the Group koses control of them. A financial lizbility is derecognized from
the consclidated statement of financial position when the contractual
obligation is fulfiled or otherwise extinguished. The same applies to part of
a hinancial assat or financial liahility

Gairs and losses from derecognition from the consolidated statement of
financial position are recorded in the cansolidated statement of income.

A fnancial asset and Ainancial lishilty are affset aod recognized with 2 ret amount
i the cormolidated statement of financial position anbewher there s a legal ight
to set off the amounts and that there & an intenbicr to settle the fems with a net
amaunt or to druitaneously realize the asset and settle the debt.

Impairment of financial assets

The Growp's impairment madel is based on espected crecdit losses and
takes into account farwacd-laoking information, The valuation of expected
credit ksses takes nto account any callateral and ather credit enhance-
ments in the form of guarantees. See Note 21 Financial Risks for informa-
tien on considerations relating to accounts receivable and depasits.

Cash
Cash is entirely comprised of cash at banks.

Equity

Common shares, other contributed capital and retained earnings are classi-
fied as equity, Financial instruments that meet the criteria for classification
as enquity are recognized as equity even IF the financial Instrument is legally
structured a5 a ability, Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of new shares or opbions ane recognized net after e in equity as
a deduction from the issue proceeds.

nts
The Group has only isswed warrants that were transferred at fair value.
Premiuns received for warrants granted to acquire shares in companies
within the Group are recorded as additions to equity, based on the warrant
premaim, at the date when the warrant was transferred ta the countermarty,

Option Program

The Group has issued an aption program which corstitutes share-based
payments. The cost far the remuneration that is recognized in a period

is dependent on the original valuation that was made on the date on
which the contracts with the participants in the incentive programs were
cencluded, the number of manths of service required for vesting of their
aptions [accruals are made over this period), the number of cptions that
are expected to he vested under the terms of the plans and a continuous
reassessment of the value of the tax benefits for the participants urder
the plans {for determining provisions for social secunty expenses), Thise
estimates which affect the cost in a period and the comesponding increase
Fnequity mainly refer bo inputs for the valuation of the options. Al the
aptions are classified as eguity-settled, as vested options are settled in
equity. When the options are exercised, the company issuss new shares.

Provisions

A prendsion differs from other liabilities in that there is uncertainty about

the: time of paymment ar the amount of the amcunt to settle the provisicn. A
prowision is recognized in the statement of Ainancial position when there is an
esdsiing legal ar infarmal ciigation arising from past events, and it i Beely that
an outflow of financial resources will be reguired to setthe the chligation and

a refiable estimate of the amount can be made, The amount recogrized s the
et estimate of what & reguired to settle the exsting obligation on the balance
shewt date. Where the effect of when payment is made in time = sgnificant
provisions ane calculated by discounting the expected fsture cash flow.
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Contingent Liabilities

A confingent liahility is disclosed when there i= a possible commitment orig-
inating from events that have ccourred and whose ocowrrence is canfirmed
b one ar several uncerain future events. An obligation arising from past
events whase existence will be confirmed by the orcurence of nan-occus-
rence af one or more uncertain future events s not recognized as a lability
OF provision,

Foreign Currency

Transactions in foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency
at the exchange rate on the date of the transacton. Manetary assets and
liabifities in foreign currancy are translated to the functional currency at the
euchange rafte that applies on the cosing date, Exchangs rate diferences.
arising on translation are recognized In net peofit for the vear, Forelgn
exchange gains and lasses on operating recehvables and labilities are
recognized in aperating profit, while foreign exchange gains and losses on
firancial receivables and liabilities sre recogrized as inandal items.

Transiation from foreign operations

Assets and liabilities in foreign operations are translated from the func-
tonal currency of the operations to the Group's presentation currency at
the exchange rate anplicable an the closing date. Income and expenses ina
foreign aperation are translated to SEK at the average exchange rate which
correspands o an aporoxination of the exchange rates prevalling on each
Indlividieal transaction date, Translation differences arising in the translation
of foreign operaticns’ functional currencies are recagnized in the conscli-
dated statements af comprehenshve income

Earnings per Share

The calculation of eamings per share is based on the Group's net loss

for the year and on the weighted-average number of comman shares
outstanding during the vear. In calculating earnings per share after dilution,
earnings andl the average number of shares are adjusted for the dilutive
effects af potential commaon shares, Eamings per share s not adjusted for
any dilutian that results in a prafit per share after dilution that is higher
than profit per share before dilution, or loss per share that is lower than
lexss per share before dilition

Cash Flow

The consolidated statement of cash flows is prepared in accordance:

with the indirect method. The recognized cash flow includes only
transactions that involve inflows and outflows, divided into operating activ-
e, imiesting activities and financing activities, Cash flows from inflows
and putflows are recognized at gross amounts, except for ransactions
comprising large inflows and outflaws that pertaln to items that are traded
quickly and have short terms,

Segment Information

An operating segment i a part of the Group that conducts business
activities from which it can generate revenue and incur costs, and for
which independent financial information i available. Identification of
segments is based on internal reparting to the chief operating decision
rmaker {"CODM) The CODM for the Group is the Chief Executive Officer
["CEC). The Group does nat divide its aperations nto different segments
and the CODM operates and manages the Groun's entire cosrations a5
o segrnent, which is consistent with the Group's internal organization
and reparting system. The Group's revenue is attributabie to the Farent
Campany in Sweden and the nan-current assets are lacated in Sweden.
France and Switzerlznd,
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GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Intangible Assets
The Group's intangible assets are essentially attributable to the Group
acguiring the rights to the NOX platform, as well as goodwill in connec-
rian with the acquisition of Genkyatex 3, In additicn, ta the previous
In-licensing agreement of Budencfalk 3mg oral capsule fram the German
pharmaceutical company Dr Falk Pharma GabH. For gacchwill and Intan-
Ribde assets not vet available for use the Groun assesses for imparment
at each reperting date based an their recoverable amaunts, including key
assumptions such as the timing of potential commercializati
market share. prabability of reaching the market and the
below and Mate 14 Intangible Assets and Impairment Testing,

Goodwill and intangible assets, not yet available for use

The Group conducts impairment testing, at least anrually, for goadwill
and intangible assets, not yet avallable for use. in accordance with the
palicy described in Note 1 Significant Aumm-ina Policies. The recover-
aIJIe amount of the cash-generating unit is determined by calculating the
in use, This cakoulation requires certain judgments ard assumptions
© made, ser Mote 16 Intangible Asscts and lmpairment Testing, As of
[}ecrzmber 31, 2071, the Group's goodwill amounted to SEK 37 227 and
other intangible assets ameunted to SEK 262 191, The impairment testing
resulted inimpairment of SEK 27 975 related to the vaccine platform
(GliL-agreemant] where the development of the product can not: he
expected to generate future cash flows.

Capitalization of intangible assets

The Group capitalizes expenditures for the development of pharmaceuti
cals ta the extent that it is expected ta meet the eriteria in secordance with
145 38 — Intangible: Asscrs. The dedsion to capitalize is based on significant
judgments made by management. inchading the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale
and assumptions used to demonstrate that the asset will generate probable
future economic henefits (e.g. projected cash flow projections. discount
rate), The Group's expenditures for the development of pharmaceuticals
were nal deemed to meet the capitalization criteria for the year ended
December 31, 2021 and was thus expensed. Capitalization of expendi-
tures are generally mads in lste stage of the development. for example
after anproval, depending on when the criteria are deemed to have been
met. The reason far this is that before then it is uncertain whether the
expenditure will generate future economic benefits and that financing the
completion of the asset is not yet guaranteed

WS Food and Drug Administration [FOA) has appeoved TARPEYD in the
LS undler accelerated approwal, It is expected that TARPEYO will be
available in the L5, earty in the first quarter of 2022, Continued approval
may be contingent upon verification and deseription of cinical berefit in

a confirmatory chnical trial and, accordingly, the conditions for capitalizing
development expenditures may change to be reflected in the sssumptions
when they accur.

The Graups tax losses carried forward have not been recagnized as
deferred tax assets in the statement of financial position as of December
31, 2021, except for such circumstances, where there are future temporary
differences that such losses can he used to offser. Defermad tax assets will
be recognized for unused tax losses ta the extent that it is probable that
tawabile profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized,

The Group has identified an uncertain tax position in relation to the ahility
o use tax kboss carried forward in France due to transactions performed

historically. The related tax |osses carried forward has not been recognized
as deferred tax assets in the consclidated statements of fnancial position.

Assumptions for The Valuation of Pension Benefits
The valuation of pension commitments and pension expenses is hased on
the actuarial assumptions specified in Mate 27 Pension Liabilites,

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions conceming the future and other key sources of esti-
mation uncertainty at the reperting date have a significant risk of causing a
mazterial adjustment to the carrying amaounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. The Group hased its assumptians and estimates

on parameters available when the cansalidated financial statements were
prepared, Existing circumstances and assumptions about future devel-
opments, howewer, may change due to marker changes or drcumstances
arising that are heyord the control of the Growp, Such changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur,

Note 3 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group's revenues for the financial year 2021 are related to rermu-
neration within the framewaork of outlicensing Nefecon ta Eeerest for

the Chinese region and Singapore and to Stada Aczneimittel in the EEA
member states, Switzerland and the UK. Reverwes for the provision of
certain regulatory services to Stada are reported over tme as the services
are performed, plus a fair market margin

The Growup has identified two performance obligations within the agree-

ment with Stada:

1) Qut-licensing of the product candidate Mefecan in existing condition at
the signing of the agreement, and

2) Performance of certain regulatony serices related to the MR far EU,

The recognition of revenue is asseciated with significant accounting judg-
ments and estimates, for additional information see Mote 2

Zet out below is the Group's revenue from contracts with customers:

Note & Auditors’ Fee
‘Vear Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

‘ear Ended December 31,

2021 2000 2019
Type of goods or service
Dut-licersing of the product
candidate 225252 = 1B4829
Performance of certain regulatory
services 4095 - -
Provision of drugs. = B74 e
Total 229,347 874 184829
Geographical markets
Europe 201 878 = 5
China, Hang Kang. Macau, Taiwan
and Singapore 27469 B74 184827
Total 29347 874 184829

The total vabue of outstanding performance abligation to be performed in
future periods amounted to SEK 4,095 as of December 31, 2021,

Mo outstanding performance obligations existed as of December 31, 2020,

MNote 4 Other Operating Income

‘Yoar Ended Dacember 31,

2021 2020 019
Exchange rate differences 149 2,501 4,385
Mt gains an dispasal of aquipment 110 = g
Total 259 2,501 4,385

Mote 5 Other Operating Expenses

*fear Ended December 31,

2021 2020 019
Exchange rate differences 1,807 - 4464
Met lns on dispasal of equipment a7 = a1
Change invalue of the contingent
consideration at fair value 4470 o~ =
Total 6,344 - 4525
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EY

Audit services 6,233 4449 443
Other audit achvities. 2106 1774 3343
Tax achice 73 .

Qther services = = 78
Total  sa13 a3 a0
KPMG

Audit services 472 102

Other audit activities 1178 2,552

Total 1,650 2,654 =
Other auditors

Audit services a7 102 -
Other audit ackvitics. 79 .

Total 550 102 -
Total audit fee ‘ 10,613 ‘ 10,979 4086

Audit zssignments relate to the statutory audit of the financial statements
and the accounts, as well as the management of the Bo, f Directors
and the CFO. This includes ather responsihilities thar it cumbent upan
the company's audliter to perfarm including providing advice or any ather
assistance that may result from olservations in such review or the conduct
of such other responsibilities,

Other auditing sctivitles are these services in accordance with a special
agreement on financial statements, Other services include advice an
accounting issues and advice on processes and internal control.

MNote 7 Costs according to Type of Cost

“Wear Ended Decambaer 31,

2021 2020 2019
Oither external expenses 549 0?9. 311329 176729
Personnel costs 164,206 68,943 34157
Depreciation on equipment’s and
right-of-use assets 34,433 2823 1822
Other operating expenses 6,394 z 4525
Total 754,062 383095 217233

Note
Right-a!

Cipening
Additior
Termina
Exchang
Additior

Closing

Deprici;
Opening
Depreci
Terming
Exthang
Closing

Net boc

Depreci
ments o
to SEK ¢
respecti
71412
respecti

Lease li;

Non-cut
Current
Total

Lease liz
pasiticn
Change:
further i

Maturit

<13 mo
1-2 year
> 2 wear

Future |y
inchude -

The leaz

whethe
and has
lease pa
limitatic
lease lia
right-of-
affice et

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annuz




(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Interest expenses attributable to lease lizbilities

Expenses attribut ta shori-temn lease

Expenses attributabie to leasing agraements with
o value

Expiensss, attributabie to wari.
that are not included in e

fle lease payments
2 liahilities

Expensss attrib 0 lease depreciation

Total expensed during the year

This year's lease payments in the Group

2021 2020
590 358
433 731
146 103
4dé 344

5711 2,786
1.526 4352

6,659 4930

Note 9 Employees and Personnel Costs

Awerage Number of Employees
ear Ended Decembser 31,
2021 2020 2019
¥ of % of H.of
Husmber Male  Bumber Male  Humber Male
of Empl Empl.  of Emgl. Empl  of Empl. Ermpl
Parent
Company
Sweden 29 40% 16 44% 13 38%
29 40%. 16 44% 13 3B%
3 256% = 5
zerland & 47% = =
United
States 18 A7% 5 1D0% 1 100%
i s5% 7 8% 1 100%
Total for
the Group 56 47% 23 57% 14 43%
‘Wages and Salaries, Pension Costs and Social Security Costs to the
Board, Executive Management and Other Employees.
Wages and Salaries
ear Ended December 31,
w021 el 019
Parent Company
Beard ared executive management™ 27,792 19,211 13,109
Other employees 33,370 6091
Subsiglaries
Board and executive managsment 4983 3184
Diher employees 57452 11415
me.\ . i 122!.59’7 49,608 22173

¥ Exgcutive management inciudes CEQ and other executiv

management,

T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Secial Security Costs and Pension Costs

Parent Company

Pensian costs for the Bazrd and
exECUlive management

Fensian costs to other employess.

Sacial security costs

Subcidiaries

Pensian costs for the Baard and

exEcutive management

Panzian costs to other employess.
Sodial security costs

Total

“Yoar Ended Dacomber 31,
2021 2020 2019
1,785 1748 1

4,084 Lb6aE 1,180
17,088 12,330 2008

157 12%
028

99

B.5%6 3
32.648 16,604 6131

Gender Distribution Amang the Board and Executive Management

Percentage of women an the Board

Percentage of men on the Board

e of women ameng ather
ve management

af men among cther
= management
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‘Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
0% 0%, 33%
40% 408 67%
3% 33%

E7% 7% E7%

Disclosures Regarding Total Remuneration of the Board and Executive Management

Chalrman of the Board
Elmae

chree:

Board members
Hilde Furberg
Lennart Hansson
Diane Parks

Muolhy Henderson

Executive management
CEQ

Other executive management (5 pecple]

of which relates to s aries
Total

Chairman of the Board

Elmar Schree

Board members

Thomas Eklund {until June, 2020)
Hilde Furberg

Lennart Harsson

Bergt Jularder funtil June, 20200
Diane Parks

Modly Henderson (from June, 2020)

Executive management
CEQ

Cther executive management (5 pecple]

Base Salary,
Board Fee  Pension Costs

BPE
336
340
421
538 -
4,860 760
11,277 1193
2,775 147
18,694 1,953
Base Salary,
Board Fee  Pansion Costs
B34
72
273 -
281 -
58
379
345
3401 678
7B16 1198
2,547 129
15,459 1,876

Bossd Fee  Pension Costs.

Chairman of the Board
Elmar Schree

Board members

Thomas Eklurd

Hilde Furberg

Lennart Hansson

Bergt Julandler

Diane Parks

Ol Helleba (until May. 20151

Executive management
CEQ

zement (8 people]

of which relates to suf

Total

aries

280 =
180 =
10z &
10z
bl

S8 »

2,634 510

8927 1,134
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Other Remuneration

Other remuneration comprises of fees for services rendered to the Parent
Company. Management services purchased from Cordeom Consultants
KB amounted to SEK 0{SEK 472, SEK 853) for the year ended December
31,2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and relates to the functians of 2
Head of Communications and Investor Relations that were outsourced to
this entity. There were no services provided from Jedako Consult AB for
the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectivly, but for the year
ended December 31, 201% the Group purchased SEK 3,848, The services
pravided related ta the function of a Chief Medical Officer that were
cutsourced o this entity.

of
Remunerafion of the CED and other execufive management comprises
base salary. persion benefits. variable remuneration and remuneration in
the farrn of consultancy fees, Other executive management camprise the
fivee indrviciuals whe, tagether with the CED, comprise Executive Marage-
ment. Other exscutive management are: Chisf Financial Officer, Chiet
Medical Officer, Wice President Regulatory Affairs, Fresident, Morth America
and Vice President Operations.

Pensions

Al pension commitments are defined-contribution plans for executive
manzgement, The payments mads by the Growp far defined contriby

tion plans are recognized as expense in the statements of cansolidated
operations for the perod towhich they relate, The age of retirement for
the CED is 65 and the pension aremium is 20% of base salany, Persion
eammitments for ather Swedish exeeubive manspement are between 15%
and 20% of base salary. The age of retirement is 65 for all other exccutie
management. Defined-beneft pension plans occurs only if reguined by aw
or other regulations. In such cases, the defined-benefit leved shall be limived
o the mancatary level. There are no ather pension obligations.

Varlable Remuneration

“ariahle remuneration refers 1o 8 varizble bonus based on a fiked
percentage of base salary, Outcome is based on 2 vesting period of one
wear and depends on fulfillment of 3 combination of predetermined
personal targets and business targets. The madmum cutcame for the CEQ
and for other executive management s 40% accarding to the guidelines for
remuneration to executive management.

Severance Pay
A notice period of six manths applies if employment is terminated by the
CED, A notice period of twelve months applies if emplayment is terminated
by the: Group, The CECis not enfitled o separate severance pay but is
eligible to recerve a salary during the periad of notice, A mutual notice
perind of three te baebe months, with salary paid, spplies between the
Group and executive manggement. Mo severance pay is paid to Board
members.

iidelines for Executive
Az the 2021 Annual General Meeting the mast recently adopted guidelines
for executive remuneration was approved. Remuneration within the Group
shall be based on principles of performance, competitiveness and faimess,
For additional infoemation of the wark of the Board of Directors, please see
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 8691

Executive management refer to the CEQr and other members of the exeo-
utive management, a5 well 35 hoard members. The guidelines shall apply to
employment agreements concluded after the listing on Masdag Stockhalm,
as well 3s to changes in existing agreements after the listing.

The remuneration to the executive management may consist of fixed remy-
nesation, variahle remuneraticn, share and share price-related incentive
prograns, pension and ather benefits, if kacal conditicns justify varlations in
the remuneration principles, such varianians may occur, The fied remuner-
ation shall reflect the individual's responsibaity and experience level, The
fimesdd remuneration shall be reviesed anrually. The exetutive management
may be affered varisble remuneration paid in cash. Such remuneration

may not exceed &0 percent of the annual fiked remuneration. Varizble
remureration shall be connected to predetermined and measurable criteria,
designed with the aim of promoting the Groups long-term value creation
Remuneration and ather terms. of employment for the CED are prepared
by the Remuneration Commitiee and decided by the Beard of Directars.
Remuneration and other terms of employment for ather members of the
executive management are decided by the CEQ. in accardance with peinci-
phes decicedd by the Board of Directors and the Remuneration Committee

The Board of Directors is entitled to deviate fram the guidelines if the
Brard of Directors, in a certain case, deems that there are good reasons
for the devistion. Decisions as to the current remuneration levels and
other conditions far employment of the CEO and the other members of
the executive management have been resolved by the Board of Directoss,
There are 0 previous payments that have nat been due.

T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNote 10 Share-Based Payments

Warrants

The Group hias twi warants programs, whereby persannel and certain
ather emplovess have purchased warrants at fair value with rights to
acquire shares in the Parent Comparny. When warrant is exercised, the
folder pays 3 subscription price and then receives ore comman share in
the Parent Campany. For the programs inftiated in 2018 and 2019, the
warrants can be exercised between January 1, 2022 and March 31, 2022
and between October 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, respectively. IF
the warrant halder leaves the Group prior to exercise, the Group has the
aption to repurchase a certain number of warrants, depending on the time
af leaving. at the lesser of fair value or the purchase price.

The warants have been valued acconding o the Black & Scholes model,
which mears the value of the warrant depencls on factars including the
walue of the underbying share, which in this case is the camman share, For
the programs initiated in 2018 and 2019 the abservation period was short
for the: urderlying share and the volability was then based on the chserva-
ticn period with a discount as it normally decreases as the share's histony
beromes longer. The risk-free interest rate is at the same level as Swedish
Zovernment bands with a comesponding term. Dividends are assumed ta
ameunt to zero dunng the perod until the date of expiration,

Warrants Program 2018/2022

In 2018, a tatal of 856,586 warrants were issued to employees and

ke cansultants in the Group, The warsants in the warrants prograrm
2018/ 2022 can be ewercised between lenuary 1, 2022 and March 31,
2022, where each warrant gives the participant the right to subscribe for a
newr share in the compary at a subscription price of SEK 74.30 per share.

Warrants Pragram 2019/2022
In 2019, a otal of 422,500 warrants were issued o employvees and
key consuftants in the Group. The warsants in the warrants program

2019/2022 can be exerdisedd between Octaber 1, 2022 and December 31,

2022, where each warmant gives the participant the right to subscribe fora
rvewr share in the compary at 3 subscriphion price of SEK 7450 per share,

Accumulated No.of  Weighted Average
Allotted Warrants Outstanding  Ewarclsa Price, SEK
As of December 31, 2019 2,575,586 58
Exercised during the period [L.296.500} 42
As of December 31, 2020 1,279,086 74
Exercised during the period - -
As of Decamber 31, 2021 1,279,086 T4

The allocated welghted-average exescise price for warrants that are
autstanding amaunts to SEK 74, SEK 74 ard SEX 58 a5 of December 31,
2021, 2020 ardd 2019, respectively, During 2020, 5,186 warrants wene
exercised under the Wirrant Program 2017/2020, where one warrant
entitles to the subscription of 250 shares. The registration of the issue of
shares amounted to 1,296,500 common shares.
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Wasrrants Outstanding as of
Outstanding Wamrants  December 31,  December 31,  December 31, Exercise Price,
2019 2020 2021 SEK

per Year Wiarr:

Warrant program

201772020 1,2%4,500 = 4236
Warrant program

2018/2022 856,584 856584 856,584 7430
Warrant program

201912022 422,500 422500 422,500 74.50
Total 2575586 1279084 1279088

* Average value

Charges and hodings of warrants for (he Board, CEO, other executive management and oth
are presented below;

Warrants
Holder January 1, 2019 Change  December 31, 2019
CEQ Renée Lucarder 719500 195000 14,500
Baard membser Thomas
Eklund funtil June, 20201 111250 - 111250
Board membxer Hilde Furberg 29500 = 29,500
Qither executive manage-
ment TET DS 107,500 @34 584
Other employess, consul
tants apdl external parties 30,750 {245,000) 485750
Total 2,518,086 57,500 2575586 (1
Option Program
In 2020 and 2021, respectively. Calliditas implemented option programs Eathve
for employees and key consultants in Calliditas, The apticns were allotted at a pret
free of charge 1o participants of the program. The options have a three- af the w
year vesting perind caloulated from the allotment date, provided that, with on Mase

customary exceptions, the participants remain 25 emplayvees of, or continue clate, Th
to provide services to, Calliditas. Once the ogtions are vested, they can be Black &
exercised within 3 one-year period,

Changes and holdings of aptians far CEQ, other executi and other emp

Optians
Halder January 1, 2019 Change  December 31, 201%

Renée Aguiar Lucander, CEC
Other executive management % el =

Other employees and
corsultants

Total - - - B

Calculation of fair value of eption program
The fair value an the allostment date was calculated using an adapted version of the Black
exercise price; the term of the aptions, shae price on the allatment date and espected v
cptions,

Fair Vialy

Grant Date Euercise Date  lssue of the Optior
ESOF 20201 July 1, 2020 July 1, 2023
ESOP 2020:2 September 17, 2020 September 17, 2023
ESOF 202063 February 4.2021 February 4,2024
ESOF 20204 Mars 9, 2021 Mars 3, 2024
ESOF 2021:1 Jun 14, 2021 lur 14, 2024
ESOP 2021:2 September 29, 2021 September 29, 2024
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5D

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

The total cost of the culstanding option program is presented below, These
costs do nat affect the Groups consalidated statement aof cash flows, The
3,000,000 warrants wi are set asidle to seoure the delivery
INPECTion with the urilization of the option program. For
nfarmatian see Mote 25 Eguity,

Wear Ended December 31,

2001 2020 2019
Share-based payments 24737 5304 .
Prowvisions attributable fo changes
in social security costs (Shase-lased
payments) 9992 3,164
Total 34,729 BAGE 3

Share-Based Payments

Board LTIP 2019

This is a performance-based lorg-rerm incentive program for certain
members of the Board of Directors In Calliditas, A total of 51.39% share
aviards is outstanding for the incentive program 2019, The share awards

a e e three years urtil the AGM 2022 or 1, 2022,
whichever is the earliest. based on the development of Calliditas
price during the period from May 8, 2019 through on June 1, 2022 The
shane awards are vested by 1/3 at the end of sach perind, provided that
the participant is still @ member of the Board of Calliditas that day.

In acldition ta these conditions far vesting, the share awards are subject to
performance-hased vesting based on the development of Calliditas share
price, If Calliditas share price has Increased by moee than 40 pescent, 100
percent of the share awards shall be earned, and if the share price has
incregsed by 20 percent, 33 percent of the
the event af ar increase in the share price by beteeen 20 and 80 percent,
westing will be lincar. If the share price has increased by less than 20
percent. novesting will take place. Each share award entitles the halder to
receive a share in Calliditas free of charge, provided that the holder is still a
member of the Baard of Calliditas at the relevant vesting date.

Changes and holdings of share awards for the Board on the opening and closing Bafance are presented below:

share: awards shall be vested, In

Share Awards Outstanding as of

Holder Janwary 1,201% Change  Decembes 31, 2019 Change December 31, 2020 Change  December 31, 2021
Elmar Schnee, Chairman of the

Boasd - 23234 23236 - 23,236 ) 23236
Thomas Eklurvd, Board member

{until June, 2020) = 8447 15,433 2814 5 2818
Hilde Furberg, Board member 8447 8449 8,449
Lennart Harsson, Board member - GA4T 2 B3 o 8,45
Diane Parks, Board member - 8449 - B449 - Bads
Total = 57.032 15,633) 51,399 - 51,399
Calculation of fair valwe of share-bosed payments (Board LTIP 2018} The total cost of the outstarding share-based payments is

Fair value at grant day has been measured using a Mante Carlo simulation
of future share price developments. The simulated share price trend has
been used to hoth calculate the cutcome of the program ared the value of
f.‘\"th share at the fime of acquisition [oresent valug adiusted (0 the grant
date).

Fair Value at Murmber of
Exerciced Date GrantDate  Share Awards
Board LTIF 2019 June 1, 2022 224% 51399

below. These costs do not affect the Growps consolidated statement of
cash flows. The Group has 70,000 warrants which are set aside to secure
the delivery of shares in connection with the utifization of the Board LTIP
2019, For additional information see Nate 25 Equity,

‘Year Ended December 3

2021 2020 2009
Share-hased payments 96 440 249
Pronisions atfributable to changes
In social securlty costs (Share-hased
paymentsh = La26 175
Total 396 1,866 424
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Board LTIP 2020 In additi
This is a parformance-based long-tenn incentive program for certain perform
members of the Board of Direct in Calliditas. A total of 31,371 share price, If
awards s autstanding far the incentive program 2020, The share awards perent
are gracually wested over theee vears until the AGM 2023 o July ACrease
whithever is the earliest, based on the development of Calliditas sha the ever
price during the perice] from the date the share awards are allocated lgrant  westing:
date} up to and including the day before the vesting date. The share awards percent,
are vested by 1/3 at the end of each period. provided that the participant receive
is still a mamber of the Board of Calliditas that day. member

Changes and holdings of share avards for the Board on the opening and closing balance are
Share Awards Outstanding
Halder January 1, 2019 Charge  December 31, 2019

Elmnar Schives, Chairman of the
Baoard

Hilde Furberg, Board member 2 2 2
Lennart Harsson, Board member - - -
Diane Parks, Board member

Molty Henderson, Board member

Total - - =

Calewlation of fair value of share-based payments [Board LTIP 2020}
Fairwalue at grant day has been measured wsing 2 Mante Carle simulation of future shan
used to buth calculate the autcome of the program and the value of each share at the tir

Fair Vialue at. Mumber of
Exercised Date Grant Date  Share Awards

Board LTI 2020 Juby 1, 2023 3397 31371

Board L1
Thiz iz a

The total cost of the outstanding share-based payments is presented
below, These costs dao not affect the Groups consalidated statement of i
cash flowss, The Group has 40,000 warrants which are set aside to secure price cu

the delivery of shares in connection with the utilization of the Board LTIP date up
2020, Far additional information see MNote 25 Exquity. are‘\_vl\i:-;l
= <till 2
Vear Encled December 31, In ackditi
perform
021 2020 019 price. IF
Share-based payments 445 267 F percent
increase
Prowisions attributable to changes the ever
m sacial security costs [Share-based wizsting
paymentsl 171 207 -

Total 16 474 e

Changes and holdings of share avards for the Board on the opening and closing balance are
Share £

January 1.

Holder 2019 Change December 31, 201

Elmar Schree, Chairman af the
Board

Hilde Furberg, Board member

Lennart Harsson, Board member

Diare Parks, Board member

Holty Hendlerson, Board member = 3
Total - -

Calculatian of fair vatue of share-based payments {Board LTIP 2021}
Fair walue at grant day has been measured using a Mante Carlo simulation of future shan
used ta both calculate the autcome of the program and the value of each share at the tir
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Falr Valse at Mumiver of
Exercised Date: GrantDate  Share Awards

“fear Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Bagrd LTIP 2021 July 1.2024 62.34 26,968

The: total cest of the cutstanding share-based payments is presented
besow, These costs da not affect the Groups consalidated statement of
cash flows. The Group has 40,000 warrants which are set aside to secure
the delivery of shares in connection with the utilization of the Board LTIP
2020. For additional information see Mote 25 Equity.

Wear Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Snare-based payments 431
Prewisians attributable to changes
N sacial security costs [Share-based
payrnents) 126 3 5
Total 557 = -

Note 11 Financial Income

‘Year Ended December 31,

2021 020 2019
Interest incame 102 547 926
Exchange rate differences 20234
Total 2‘;)336 547 926
Note 12 Financial Expenses

Wear Ended Decembaer 31,

2021 2020 2019
Interest an lease Habilicies (5900 (388} 1307}
Other interest expenses 16,518 15 (18}
Ewchange rate differences - (33,207 12383}
Changes in FX opfions measured at
fair value = 3,218} 2,700}
Other financial expenses 12,145}
Total (9.253) (56978} (5408}

Note 13 Income Tax Expense

Wear Ended Decermber 31,

2021 020 2019
Current income taxes {4.581}) (1.035) 77
Deferred tax 8417 475 =
Income tax expense recognized
in the consolidated statements of
income: 3836 (360} @7

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Accounting lass before income tax [513373) 436,151)  {32.501)
Tax in accorcdarce with applicable

ta rate in Sweden 20,65 (214%
21,4%) 105,755 93,338 6955

Tox effect of:

Effect of ather tax rates for foreign
subsidiaries 11481 &80 2

Tax attributable to non-deductible
tax losses carried forward and
unrecoanizad deferred tax assets {101,785 {91725) (316

Mon-deductible experses 111,615) (2.652) 7a2)
Men-taxable income: o 1 64
Income tax expense recognized

in the consolidated statements of

income 3836 (360) (77
At the effective income tax rate 1% 0% 0%

The Groap has costs attributable to new share issue amaunted to SEK
20.90% (SEK 7486 and SEK 10.915) for the year ended December 31
20212020 and 2019, respectively, which are recognized directly agalnst
ejuity. These costs are deductible for tax purposes,

The Group has SEK 3.200.911 [SEK 2,704,803, SEK 578.117) of tax kosses
carried forward for which deferred tax assets hawe not been recognized in
the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021, 2020, and
2019, respectively. The tax lesses carried forward are allocated between
Sweden of SEK 1,434,157, France of SEK 1080573 and Switzerland of
SER 684,161, where the fax losses caried forward in Sweden and France
may be carred forward indefinitely. but in Switzerand then a time limit
af seven vears, Deferred tax assets will be recognized for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probahle that taable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilized

Note 14 Earnings per Share

“Vear Endod December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Loss per share before and after
difution

Met loss for the vear attribut

able 1o equity holders of the

PFarent Campany (500293)  4334%94) {32.578)

Weighted-average number of
common shares autstanding 50829255 44873448 36,940,587

Loss per share before and
after dilution 15.84) (9.66) (0.88)

For calculation of sarnings per share after dilution, the weighted-average
number of cutstanding ordinary shares is adjusted for the dilution effect

of all potentisl ordinary shares. The Parent Company has a categary of
patential common stock with dilution effect: stack aptions, These potential
common shares are attributanle to the optians and performance shares
aranted during the years 2018 - 2021, For additional Information see MNote
10 Share-Based Payments, If the profit for the year is negative, the opticns
are not corsidered dilutive. The 1 alse da nat impact the numerator
in the carnings per share cakculation, including the addition of the value of
remaining future services to report during the vesting period, exceeding the
average market price for the period. There is no dilution effect for issued
warrants and cptions with entil ent to subscribe to 2,568,086 shares,
since the Group is in a loss position for the vear ended December 31,
2021, December 31, 2020 and Decernber 31, 2019, respectivety. Further,
there is no dikution effect for issued share awards wi fitlement 1o
receive 109738 shares, due to performance-based ve:

Far disclosures regarding the number of autstanding shares, reter to Note
25 Equity.
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Mote 15 Business Combinations

Qi Movember 3, 2020, Calliditas acquired a controlling interest in
Gerkyotes S4, 2 biopharmaceutical campany specializing in NOX therapies
with offices in France and Switzerdand. Its unigue platform enables the
identification of orally available small molecules which selectively inhibit
spcific MO enzymes that amplify multiple disease processes such as
fibrosis and inflammation. The purpose of the acquisition s that it acds a
ate-stage orphan pipeline asset and platfarm in inflammation and fibrosis.
o the Groups procduct portfalio in orphan diseases,

The fair walue of the acquired assets and assessed liabilities for the acgulsi-
thon of Genkyatexs S8 in 2020 was preliminarily established for the first 12
manths and have therester been inalized

The fair walue of the scquisitions of Genkyotes have changed due to alloca-
ton of assets and liabilities to Switzerland and therefore IFRS adjustments.
were made to the acouisition values.

There were no business acqui

jons during the financial vear 2021

Preliminary Adjustments Final
The assets and
liahilities recagnized
in conjunction with
the acquisition are as
Fatlows:
Intangible assets:
MOK Platform 282,521 (34,349) 348.124
Intangible assets:
Qither ficansss 28893 - 28R%3
MNan-gurrent assets 2438 = 2438
Qther current assets. 10,022 - 10022
Cash 32,365 - 32345
Pension liabilities (9.410) - 17,410}
Deterred tax fabilies 182 483) 43971 (38.712)
Cither ron-current
liabilities (643) : 1643
Other current
liabsilities (20477 N (20,677)
Acquired identified
assets 342,726 9574 352,300
Han-controlling
interests (136.084) 5 {134,084}
Gandhwill 48,839 (9,574) 39245
Acquired net assets 255481 : 255481

The gross amounts of acquired receivables does not differ significantly from
fair value.

The helc
sheet fn

(SER int]

ASSETS
Non-cu
Intangib
Eaquiprm
Right-of
MNor-cu
Total ne

Current
Tatal cu
TOTAL.

Other n
Fensian
Deferre
Lease lic
Total ne

Current
Tatal ey

TOTAL
LIABILI
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Note 16 Intangible Assets and Impairment Testing

I GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets

December 31, Goodwill
2021 2090 The assessment of the vahue af the Group's goodwill & based on the fair
walue less cost of disposals for the smallest cash-generating unit, which for
Licenses and similar rights Calliditas is deemed ta be the full Group, The impairment measirement is
Cost at opening balance 380836 16066 based on a probability-adjusted cash flowe maded. measured at Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy. re the most critical assumptians mainly consist
Business comhinations = 37707 at assumptions about the timing of potential commercialization, market
Telrierrs = =ire, market share and probahility of reaching the market. The period for
Acquisition for the year L60as the forecast cash flow extends to 2035, where na terminal growth rate has
Exchange differences on translation (6. 734) (12.247) been taken into account. As of December 31, 2021, the Group's gooadwill
5 ameunted ta SEK 37,227, There is no impairment for the year ended
Cost at closing balance 390,166 380,836 December 31, 2021,
7 The: fellowing table shows the discount rate used before tax:
. . oar Ended December 31,
Cost at opening balance -
2021 2020
Impairment (27 575} %
Cost at closing balance 127.975) 2 - -
Discount rate 110 10,5
Goodwill
- Intangible assets, not yet available for use
Cost at apening balance 37989 These significantly consist of the NCX platform and Budenofalk 3 mg aral
BiE e b TonE v 39065  Capsule, which are tested, at least, annually for impairment requirement
- e . The technalogy and the rights were reviewed far impaime icuiglly,
Exchange differences on translation {762} (1,276} The assessment of the value of the technology and the rights is based on
Cost at closing balance 37227 37,989 the fair value less cost of dispasals of each indridual asset, The fairvalue
. 2 by cost of disposals is based on cash flows that are expected to be gener-
ated ever the remaining life of the asset
Net book value 399418 418,825

Intangibée assets consist of kicenses and similar ights of SEK 362,191 and
goodwill of SEK 37,277,

Business combinations:
The acquisition of Genlkyatex SA resulted in the Group acquining the rights to
the NCX platform and vaccine platform (S agreement), as well as gocdwill

The net book value of the NCX platform amounts bo SEK 330,059 as of
December 2071, The MOX plattorm canstitutes 3 technology, induding
the lead compound setanaxib, enables the identification of orally available
small molecules which selectively inhilit specific NOX enrymes that amplify
multiple disease processes such as fiibrosis and inflammation. The estimated
fair value of the NOX platform was determined using the discounted cash
flow (DCF) method, adjusted for the likelihood of ocourrence.,

The net ook value of the vaccine platform (3L agreement), which is an
out-license agreement with Sensm Institute of India (SIL) fior the use of 4
waccing technology. amounts to SEK 27,957 as of Decernber 31, 2020 and
written off as per December 31,2021 since the project is nat expected to
generate future cash flows.

Goodwill amounts bo SEK 37,227 as of December 31, 2021 and for further
information please see Nate 15 Business Combinations.

The fodlowing table shows the discount rate used before tax:

Wear Ended Decernber 31,

2021 2020
Parameter, %
Discourt rate MOX platform ki) 128
Discount rate Vaccine platform - 7.0
Discount rete Budenofalk 3 mg aral capsube 124 12.4

When the technology and the rights are tested for impairment require:
ment, a number of assumptions are made, where the most critical assump-
ticns mai onsist of the timing of potential commercialization. market
size, market share, probability of reaching the market and the discount rate,
The earlier in the chain of development the praject is, the higher the risk,
As it passes through the defined phases of development, the likelihood of
reaching the market increases. The review af the technekogy and the rights
showed no impairment recuirement.
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MNote 17 Equipment

Dacember 31,

2021 2020 2017
Cost at opening balance 214 118 813
Aequisition for the year 4,588 118
[Disposal for the year (118} = (813}
Exchange diffarences 389 4]
Additicnal, through business
combinations = 100
Cost at closing balance 7.073 214 118
Depreciation at opening
balance (51) (14 [e)
Deprecation for the year tda5) (37) (441}
Dispesal for the year 51 T34
Exchange differences (295) . 5
Depreciation at closing
balance (764) (51) (14}
Net book value 6,309 163 104

Crepreciation on equipment are included in the consolidated statement

of income under Research and development expenses amaounted o SEK

59 and Administrative and selling expenses amounted to

SEK 406 [ SEK 37 and SEK 44) for the year ended December 31, 2021
.

2020 and 2019, respec

Note

Cost a
Bark gu

Reimbu
deposit

Exchang

Acquisit
combin:

Net boc

Han-cu
amownt
2020 ar
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T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Note 19 Deferred Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 312021

Deferred Tax Deferred Tax

Assets Liabilities Net

Intanginle assets : 146,175) 146,175)
Tangible assers = [238) (238)
270 = 70

Personnel-related items 4141 - 4,141
Tax Inss carried forward 15319 - 15,319
Qther items 22 : 22
Total 19,753 (46,413) (26,661)
Offsetting (15.557) 15557 -
Tax assets/liabilities, net [ 4‘196" i (30,858) 126,661)

Tax lasses carried forward of SEK

to future temparary differences that such asset can be used to offset

For informatian regar

Change In deferred tax, 2021

Cost at Opening Balance  Recognized in Profit or Loss Exchange Differences Costat Closing Balance
Intangitle assets 47,1200 - iR {46,175)
Tangible assets = [2328) 112) 123B)
Lease items net value = 256 14 270
Personnel-relared items 596 3,304 240 4,140
Tt lnss carried forward 456 5,045 588 15319
Other iterns 4 18 1 23
Total (35,854) 8417 1776 (26,661)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020

1% have been recognized as deferred tax assets in the staterment of financial pesition 35 of December 31, 2021 due

ognition of deferred tax losses. see Note 13 Income Tax Expence

Dreferred Tax Deferred Tax
Assits LUlallithes Net
Intangile assets (471200 147.120)
Personnel-related items 596 396
Tax loss carried forward 6t 9866
ther items 4 B 4
Total 10266 (47,120) {36,854)
Offsetting (9.666) D646
Tax assets/labilities, net 600 (a7,454) (36,854)

Tax losses carried forward of SEK 2,664 have been recognized as deferred tax assets in the statement of financial positon as of December 31, 3020 due o

futture temparary differences that such asset can be used to offset.

Change in deferred tax, 2020

Increase through

Cost at Opening Balance  Recognized in Profit ar Loss Business C Costat C|
Intangitle assets {47,120 471200
Personnel-related items. 596 Sy
Tax lnss carried forward - = 2866 ST
Qther items 4 4
Total - 600 (37.454) (36,854)

No deferred tx a

and deferred tax liabilities occurred for the financial year 2
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MNote 20 Financial and Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial and non-financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2021

Financial Assets
Measured at
Fair Valse through  Finaneial Asse
Profit or Loss atAm

Assets

MNan-current f

Cash -
Financial Liabifities
easureel at
Falr Vahse through  Financial Liabilis:
Profit ar Loss atAm
Liabilities

Cortingent consideration 54,399

man-current interesting-heanng liabiies E

Nan-current lease llahilities

Accounts payable E
Qther current liabilities @

Accrusd expenses and deferred revenue

54399

Financial and non-financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020

Financlal Assets
Measured at
Fair Valse through  Financial Asse
Profit or Loss at e

Assets
Man-current financial assets

Other current assets.

Cash
Financial Liabilities
exsured at
Falr Vahse through  Financial Liabilid:
Profit ar Loss atAm
Linbifities
Contingent consideration EETTA
Qther current liabilities
Acrrued expenses and deferned revenue
48,969

Curency ar'|r'|-< outst .uvlmg since rhr-\.- \\:vc- s-mum and as af I)Prrml»' ’;‘ curn
at fa f\.-.\lur' based on calculation using the Black-Schales eption pricing moﬂ\ at Lewel 2
s of contingent conssderation in connection with the Dusiness combint
Y20, respectively. The fair value of contingent corsiderabion is measuned

The carrying amount for other itens above is an approximation of the fair value, which is

vatue hizrarchy.
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T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i
G

(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)
Note 21 Financial Risks

Through its apesaticons, the Group is exposed to a variety of financal risks:
eredit risk. rarket risk [curmency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
refinancing risk, liquidity risk and extemal risk, The Group's averall risk
management foouses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and
it endeavors to minimize potentialty unfavorable effects on the Group's
financial results.

The Group's financial transacticns and risks are managed centrally through
the Group's CRO and CEC, The overall chiective for financial risks is to
pravide cost-efficient financing and liguicity management and to ensure
that all payment commitments are managed in a timely manner.

The Board prepares written policics for both the overall risk management
and for specific areas, such as credit risks, currency risks, interest rate risks,
refinancing risks, liquidity risks and the use of derivative instruments and
imvestment of surplus liguidity.

Credit Risk

Credit sk is the risk that a caunterparty will nat meet its ab¥igations under
a financhal instrument, keading to a financial loss for the Group, The Group's
expsure to credit sk is Bmited to deposits with Banks with high credst
ratings, which mears the Group is of the apirion that there s no material
credit risk. and accordingly na provision for credit risk is recognized.

Credit risk accounts receivable
The payrment terms amount to 20 business days depending on the counterparty.

Days past due, but nat impaired, receivabies on the clasing day is given
betaws, Thers is o reserve far bad delts and no recognized oredit losses,

December 31,
2021 2020 2019
[Diays past due account recelvables [ 3 = =
Mot due accaunt receivables - £ 46,586
Total = E: 46,586

The credit quality of receivables that are not past due or wiitten down is
deermed to be good. See Note 3 Revenue fram Contracts with Custoemers
for further information.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that the fair valee or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The type of
market risk that impacts the Group is currency risk, The Group dees not
currently have any Inans or holdings that expose the group to interest rate
risk or other price risk,

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an
expusure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
primary exposure derives from the Group's purchases in forsign currencies.
This expasure is known as transaction exposure. Currency risk is also found
in the translation of the assets and liabilities of foreign operations to the
Parent Company's functional currency, known as translation expasure

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that would be adversely impacted by changes in
interest rates resulting from increased interest costs. Caliditas exposure to
interest rate risk mainly ocewrs through external leans and cash. Calliditas
financing sources primarily corsist of equity and borrowings. In the case of
interest-heanng bormowings, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk. The
Group doss not currently have any variable interest rate.

Transaction Expasure
Trarsaction exposure from contracted payment Alows in foreign curmency 15
limited in the Group. Refer to the table below for exposuse in each currency.

Cperating
Cumency Expasiore 2021 %) Revenue Expenses
usn 14% 43%
EUR B&% 8%
GBEF B 3%
SER : &%

Operating
Currancy Expesure 2020 (%) Revenus Expanses
st 100 35%
EUR = 3%
GBF = %
SEK = 23%

Operating
Currency Exposure 2019 (%) Revenue Expenses
usD 100% 2%
EUR : 34%
GBP = I
SEK = 1%

As presented in the table above, the Geoup's primary transaction expesure is
As presented in the table above, the Group's primary transaction exposure
B in Eueg and L5, dollar, & 10% stronger Eurg against the Swedish Krona
winiill have a negative impact on profit after tax and equity of approsdmatehy
SER 909 (SEK 10,247, SEK 10,24&) A 10% stronger WS, dollar against the
Swedish Krona would have a negative impact on profit after tax and equity
of approximately SER 22402 (SEK 9,979, pos. SEK 14,355},

Translation Exposure

The The Group alsa has translation expasure that arizes on the translation
af earnings and net assets of foreign subsidiaries to the Swedish Kronar.
Translation against LL5. doflar amounted to SEK 18,270(5EK 1,255 as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020. A 10% stronger Swedish Krona against the
US, dollar would have a positive impact an equity of approsimately SEK
1,627 {SEK 126). Translation against Euras amounted to SEK -93.814 (SEK
26,673 a5 of December 31, 2021 and 2020, A LO% stronger Swedish
Krona against Euros would have a positive impact on equity of approxi-
mately SEX %381 (neg. SEK 2,647,

The Group abso has a translztion exposure arising from the translation of
forsian trade debt to the Swadish Kronor, This exposurs amounted to SEK
29236 3EK 15,811, SEK 5846) at the closing date and in L5, dollars SEK
10707 (SEK 28,806, SEK 14.817) in Eurce. A 10% stronger LS, dollar against
the Swedish Keona would have a negative impact on profit after tax and equity
af approvirnately SEK 2,924 (SEK 1,581, SEK 387). A 10% stronger Euro
apaingt the Swedsh Krona weukd have 2 negative impact on profit after tax
and equity of approwimately SEK 1071 (SEK 2,881, SEK 1.482).

Refinancing Risk

Refinancing risk rafars to the risk that cash are nat available and the risk
that financing cannat be secured at a reasonable cost or at all. The Group
s currently mainky financed by equity and thus is not exposed to large risk
related to extemal loan financing, Howeer, if the Group would increase
the external loan financing, there would be a risk that the Group coukl not
refinance these lans. Accordingly, the prismary risks pertain to the risk of
not securing additional contributions and investments from the share-
holcers,

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group encounters difficulties in meeting its
abligations assaciated with financial liabilities. The Board manages liquidity
risks by continuously onitcrng cash flow se that it can recuce liguidity
risk and ersure its schency, Gven that the Parent Campany curently does
nok have [ts own eaming ability, the Board carries out long-temn work with
awners and independent investors to ensure that quidity is available to
the Parent Campany when a need arises,

The Group's contractual and undiscounted interest payments and repay.
ments of financial liabifities are presented in the table below. Amount
fareign currency were translated to SEX at the dosing day rate. Financial
instrurnents with variable interast rates were measurad at the rate an the
closing date. Liabilities were included in the earfiest periad when repay-
ment ks required, Far future lease payments see Note 8 |eases,
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Maturity analysis
December 31, 2021
<6 months é12 months *12 moniths
Accounts payable 47,971 = =
Other current liabilities 7906 4798 =
Accrued expenses 47,753 5.800 it
Contingent consider-
atian = 2 54,399
December 31, 2020
o mnths G-1Z months *12 moniths
Accounts payable 53827 - -
Other current liabilities 7934 1954 -
Accrued expenses 34833 6,552 i
Contingent consider-
atian - - 4B 949
Mon-current Interest-bearing liabilites
December 31,
2 200 019

Opening balance 5 5

New borrawings 199524 s -
Transaction costs paid (14,858) & 5
Interest expense 2145 N

Exchange difference on

translation 2,353 =

Closing balance 189,164 - -

I July 2021, Callicitas signed & loan agreement of up ta the suroeguivalent
of 75 millicn dollar with Kreos Capital. The loan facility is divided into three
tranches of 23 million dollar each. Drawdown of the first 25 million dallar
tranche was made in September, 2021, Drawdown of the second tranche
of 25 millicn dallar can he made untl 30 June 2022, Drawdoewn of the
third and final 25 million dollar tranche can be made until 21 December
2022 and will be available subject to certain revenue milestones and
cowerage metrics. The interest rate on the loan is 9 % per annum with a
maturity to December 2025, which is recognized at Met fimandial incame/
(expenses), The lean has ne financial covenants,

Note

Prepaid
Prepaid

anl dew
Other p
Total

Note

Cash at
Total
Cashan

Adjustn
flows:

Depreci
Change
Share-b
Orther it

Total

Reconcl

Nor-cu
bearing

Lease li:

Lease li:
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Note 24 Group Companies

Company Principal Activities
Parent Company
Research and devalopment of pharma-
Calliditas Therapeutics AB  ceuticals
Subsidiaries

tion of incenfive programs

Nefecan AR he Parent Company

Calliditas NA Enterprises Inc
Calliditas Therapeutics US Inc  Commercial activities in the United States

Calliditas Therapeutics France Research and development of pharma
545 ceuticals

Calliditas Therapeutics Suisse  Research and development of pharma
54 ceuticals

T GROUP - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% Equity Interest % Equity Interest % Equity Interest
2021 2020 2

Country of Incorporation 019
Sweden

Sweden 1005 100% 100%
United States 10005 100% 100%
United States 100%

France 100% B6,2%

Switzeriand 1005 Be,2%

For further information an the business combination, see MNote 15 Business Combinations,

Note 25 Equity

Share capital and other contributed capital

Addithonal
Mumber Paid-in
of Shares  Share Capital Capital
As of January 1, 2019 35.202.347 1408 1072319
Prerniums from war
SSLANCE. 2534
Share-hased payment 249
MNew share issue 3.505.291 140 1992462
As of December 31, 2019 38,707.638 1548 1274669
issue’ 3937440 a7 793,304
Exercise of warrants 1.296.500 52 59177
Share-based payment 012
As of December 31, 2020 49,941,584 1998 2,133,179
Mew share issue®* 2400000 96 302,995
Share-based payrment
23 547
As of December 31, 2021
52,341,584 2094 2459741

“ initia! public offering on The Masdog Global Select Market in the United States
in June 20120 and the fallowing esercise of the partial aver-allotment opfian
fram the (PO in July 2020,

sharg issue in &

Share Capital

All shares hawve heen fully paid and no < re reserved for sale. All
shares are comman shares, confer the same entitlement to capital, and
carry onevore, The guotient value is SEK 0.04 per share, Na shares are
held in treasury by the Parent Company or its subsicliaries

Additional Paid-in Capital

Additional paid-in capital is comprised of capital contributed by the Parent
Company's owners, in the event of share premiums arising on share
subscription, w. and accounted capital from warrants. and

Translation Reserve
The reserves pe

slation
atica of

=3
£
z
2
2

reserve include

exchange rate differences arising on the tra
5 from Foreign operations.

December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Pering Balanie T lemo) @s) (34)
Change for the ye (20889)  (6045) in
Clasing balance (26,979) (&,090) (45)
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MNote 26 Provisions

Pravisions as of December 31, 2021

Secisl Security Costs on
Share-Based Paymant Other Pr
Opening balance 4572 I
Additioaal pravisions during the year a112
Exchange differences
Total 13,084

Provisions as of December 31, 2020

Sacial Security Costs on

Share-Based Payment Crther Pr
Opening balance 175
Additicnal provisicns during the year 4797
Exchange differences
Total 4972

Soclal Securlty Costs on Share-Based Payment
Refers to social security costs related to share-based payment, There is uncert
the future, and what

nty as to
rount they vl ulimately e adusted ta as it is dependent on ma

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annua




(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)
Changes in the defined-benefit pension obligations
Dafined Bar
: . oo Plan Obliga
Note 27 Pension Liabilities (switzerl
Defined-Benefit Pension Plan lanuary 1. 2020
tzerland for retirement, death and disability. The pr 1 C Business combinations nes
the obligation includes special payroll tax. in accordance with 1AS 19, far 2 ik
the Swiss pension plans. Pe
Service costs &)
Interest expense
Net obligation per country nterest expense 1
Decomber 31, Curtailment |
2071 2010 Employer contribution
Switzerland (3.071) 8124} Subtatal included in the of i i5
France {111 1172}
Total (3,182) (8,294) Amaunts paidrecefed i
Rebern on assers (exche FEST EX[ENSES)
Chi in the defined-benefit ion obligation:
T LR " Actuarial gains/losses) related to changes in dermographic assumptions 1i
iliied B e Actuarial gains/llosses related to changes in financial assumptions (2
Plan bigation Plan Ol Falr Value of PI Employee Benefit = " y
oblgaton  Punoblgaron | Fak Voieofpan - Emplyee Benet Other actuarial gins fasses) ¢
January 1. 2001 (19,193 (172 11060 (B.298) Subtotal included in ather items of comprehensive income 1
Service cast 12.145) {13) 5 12.178) Emgioyertoniribit e
Currency transtation effect H
Inferest expense (17 o 1a 7 December 31, 2020 9.1
12011 = 17,805} 4,206
= = 704 704 Di ion by plan assets (Swil
= Discoun
of 9,829 13) (7.091) 2725 increass
December 31, an incre
2021 2020 covered
Amaunts paid/received 251 - (291} - and Dis:
Cash 205 244
= ’ . " | o4 o Baonds 2801 365
et on assets [excluding interest expenses) - =
e 667 iagg.  EEm
A ial gainsAlossest related to changes in demographic assumptions 349 77 - 426 bargaini
Shares 92 365 plans an
Actuadal galnsflossest related to changes In financlal assumptions 1,120 = = 1120 T 760 1638 1
Other actuarial gains/llosses) 360 = 5 L Other investments 346 941
Experience effect - - - -
akils Total 48711 11,069
Subtotal included in other ftems of comprehensive income 1,829 7 &4 1.970 "
Of the plan assets abave, SEK 2,801 [SEK £,365] has a quoted price in an Swiss pe
active market sy
Employer contributions = = 704 704 i 2 .
For pension obligations in France, there are no plan assets, Martalit
‘Currency translation effect (678] (3) 705 288)
Risks connected to defined-benefit pension plans Salary e
December 31, 2021 (7.942) {111) 4871 13,182) Threugh its defined-benefit pension plans far pest-employment benefits, S
the Group is exposed to a number of risks, The most signibeant risks a Retirem
inflation
*The change in the Curtailment refer to retirement obligation settlement Life expectancy assumption: Most of the pensicn commitments entail that #he Depasit
cannected ta the departure of sensar mana of Switzerland employees covered by the plan will receie life-long benefits and, . actount
employess. the langer life expertancy assurmptions will resudt in higher pension i (=1
Thiis is particularhy sigri tin the Swiss plan, in which inflation increases Tunowe
result i higher sensitiity to changes in life expectancy assumptions,
Remaini
Inflation risk: Some of the plan's pension commitments are linked o tancy at
Inflation. Higher inflation keads to higher liabifities (although, in most cases, Retirem
t for the level of inflation to protect the plan against sl
exceptional increases in inflatban), Most af the plan assets are er
unaffected by (eedrate bonds), or weakhy correlated with (shares) inflation,
which means that an increase in inflation will also increase the dehct.
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Sensitivity analysis
December 31,

2021 2020
Pension commitments under current
assumptions for Swizs pension plans 7947 153462
Discount rate, -0,5% 8904 21631
Discount rate , +0,5% 7130 17,139
Retirement pension inflation rate, -0.5% 7575 18241
Retirement pension inflation rate, +0.5% 8352 20257
Salary revaluation rate, -0,5% 7792 18802
Salary revaluation rate, +0,5% 8100 1%.405

The amounts above show what the value of the pension cbligation

wiuld have been assuming the change in the individual assumption. The:
sensitivity anahyses are based on a change in ane assumption, with all ather
ASSUMpEHCNS remaining constant. In practice, this is highly unlikedy to coour
ani some of the changes in the assumptions may be conelated, When
calculating the sensitivity of the defined-benefit obligations to sigrificant
actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined-ben-
eht obligation applying the prajected unit credit methed at the end of the
reparting period) has been applicd as when calculating the pension lisbility
recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position

s the defined benefit pension plans in France are deemed to be insignifi-
cant far the Group, no further infermation has been provided.

Fior the 2021 financial year, cantributions te plans for post-employment
benefits are expected to be SEK 555 (SEK 805). The weighted average
raturity of the obligation is an estimated 22,3 (23,8} years.

There are na defined benefit pension plans for the 2019 fiinancial year.

Note 28 Accrued Expenses and Deferred Revenue

December 31,

2021 WD-
Wataban pay liabilities 107 4921
Aaciued salaries and Board fees 16,786 B.134
Sachl security costs 5492 3440
Deferred revenue 3387 =
Accrued expenses far research and
development 4,230 14.135
Accrued expenses for administrative and
selling 17551 10756
Total 53,553 41,386

Note 29 Inventories

2021 2020 2019
Faw materials 889 & =

The greups inventaries are recognised after US Faod and Crug Administra-
tion (DA} has approved TARFEYD in the US under accelerated approval.

Mot 30 Contingent Consideration

Contingent consideration as of December 31, 2021

Contingant consideration
Opening balance 43769
Change for the year 4470
Excharge differences D40
Total 54,399

Contingent consideration as of December 31, 2020

Contingent consideration
Cpening balance =
Business acguisition 50614
Exchange differences (1.645)
Total 48,769
‘Contingent Consideration

In connection with the business combination of Genkyotex 54 the Graup
hias undertaken to make potential future milestone payrments relating to
contingent consideration, pravided that future regulatary approvals ar
marketing authorizations regarding setanaxib are obtained. The transaction
stipulates the following contingent consideration:

Milestane 1: EUR 3000 million if Genkyotes is granted the right ta
commercially manufacture, market and sell setanaxib in the United
States by the FDA.

Milestone 2: EUR 15.0 million if Genkyotex is granted the right to
commertially manufacture, market and sell setanaxib in the European
Uriéan by the European Commission.

Milestone 3: EUR 10.0 million if Genkyotex is, by the FDA or Eurcpean
Cornrmission, grantad the right to commeszially manufacture, market and
sell setanaxib in the United States or European Union for the treatment
of IPF or Type 1 Diabetes,

The fair value of confingent cansideration Is measured at Level 3 of the
fair walue hierarchy, Cantingent consideration is recognized as a financial
Hiability in the: consolidated statements of financial pesitian, which is
revalued at fair value each reparting period. Ary revaluation gains and
kasses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income, The
confingent consideration has beers computed in accordance with the
present value method and the probability has been taken into account if
and when the various milestones will occur. The calculations are based on
a discount rate of 10.0 percent. The mast significant input affecting the
waluation of the contingent canskleration is the company’s estimate of the
probability of the milestones being reached.
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Mote 31 Related-Party Transactions

For infarmatian regarding remureration of sxecutive management, refe
to Mate 9 Employess and Persernel Costs and MNote 10 Share-Based
Payments.

There are no additional agreements or transactions with related partics,
other than thase described in Notes & Employees ard Personnel Costs and
10 Share-Rased Payments

Note 32 Pledged Assets, Contingent Liabilities
and Other Obligations

The Group is required o pay Kyowa Kirin Services Lid., #/k/a Archimedes.
Development Lid (*Archimedes") a fiesd rovalty of 3% of net sales of
MefeconTarpeyo cavered by the ficense in according to the Group's
agreement with Archimedes pursuant to which Calliditas were grantad 0 an
exclusive license to joint inteflectual property developed with Archimedes
and (5l 3 non-exchusive license ro certain of Archimedes” know-how as
necessary or useful to develop and commercialize Nefecon o other
product canclidates.

The Group has exclusive rights to use, develop and market the formulation
under the license agreement with Archimedes, and Archimedes only has
rights to rovalties when the product is sold in the future. The Group will
then have 2n obligation to pay a kaw single digit percentage of royalties
based on net sales wntil the exclusive license for the patent covering the
fermulation of Mefecon expires in 2029,

The Group has pledged assets amounted ta SFK 3.915 (5FK 2.336) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which consist of restricted
tank accounts and lease deposits. The assets are pledged for the benefit of
certain lessars and ather suppliers. The Group has ne ether abligations.

MNote 33 Events After the Reporting Period

I January 2022, Calliditas anrounced the commerdial availability and first
sale of TARPEYO.

In March 2022, all B54 5864 warrants were subscribed for in the
2018/2022 warrant pragram, which entitled to purchase of a new share in
the parent company at a subscription price of SEK 74.30
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I PARENT COMPANY PARENT COMPANY
Statements of Income Balance Sheet

ear Ended December 31,

(SEK. In thousanis, except per share amounts) Mate 021 2020 (SEH In thousands)
Met sales 2 229347 874 ASSETS
Research and development expenses 7 (275,950} (227.027) Non-current assets
Administrative and selling expenses S&T [377,475) 1128, 6896) Intangible Assets
Other operating incame 2 70,234 2482 Licenses and similar rights
Other operating expenses 4 {1,874)
Operating loss (355,717) (352,567) Tangible Assets

Equiprment
Profit/(loss) from financial income;(expenses)
Proht/loss from participations in Group companies & = 4 Nen-Current Financial Assets
Other interest received and similar items v %895 654 Participations in Group companies
Interest expense and similar items. 10 (8,583 [65.355) Receivables from Group companies
Loss before income tax {354,405) (407,363) Other non-current financial assets
Income tax expense 11 E
Loss for the year (354,405) (407,363) Total non-current assets

Current assets

Irventary

Statements of Comprehensive Income Other current assets

Prepaid expenses

‘ear Ended December 3,
(SEK in thousands) Nate 2021 2020 Cash
Total current assets
Loss for the year 354,405) (407,363)
Other comprehensive income/loss) for the year TOTAL ASSETS
Total comprehensive loss for the year 354,405) (407,363)
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I PARENT COMPANY

Balance Sheet

December 31,

(SEK. In thousands] Mate 021 2020

SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity 19

Restricted shareholders’ equity

Share capital 2,094 1598

Statutory reserve 3092 3092

5,186 5090

Non-restricted shareholders’ equity

Share premium resene 2420,4%8 2116721

Retained earnings [B&3,175) (479.379)

Net loss for the year (354,405) (407.363)
1203117 1,229.979

Total shareholders' equity 1,208,303 1,235,069

Non-current liabilities

Pravisions 20 2075 4972

Mon-current interesting-bearing liabilities 1 189,164

Liabilities to Group companies 23 105 105

Total non-current liabilities | 198,344 5077

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 51,711 42489

Liabilities to Group companies 24 31121 4003

Other current liabilities 2345 1120

Accrued expenses and deferred revenue i) 346,615 30,787

Total current liabilities 121,792 78,379

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,528,439 1,318,525
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PARENT COMPANY
Statements of Changes in Shareh

Restricted Shareholders' |
Sta

(SEK i thousands, except per share amountz) Share Capital [

Opening equity January 1, 2020 1,548 3

Transfer of previous year's loss

Less for the year =

Oither comprehensive income/iloss) for the year -

Total comprehensive loss for the year -

Transactions with owners:

Mew share issue 397

Costs attributable to new share issue ]

Exercise of warrants 52

Share-based payments -

Total transactions with owners 449

Closing equity December 31, 2020 1,998 3

Opening equity January 1, 2021 1998 3

Transfer of previous year's loss

Loss for the year

Other comprehensiva income/{loss) far the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year €

Transactions with owners:

Mew share issue 96

Costs attributable to new share issue =

Share-hased payments =

Total transactions with owners. 6

Closing equity December 31, 2021 2,094 3
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. .
Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Financial Statements
(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)
Year Ended December 31, Note 1 Accounting Policies Note
(SEH in thousands) Mate 021 2020 Basis for Preparation
The Parent Company prepared its annual report in accordance with the
Annual Accounts Act the recommendations from the Swedish Financial
Operating activities Reporting Board, RFR 2 "Accounting for legal entities”. Exchang
Operating loss (355,717} (352.547) The clifferences hetween the Group's and the Parent Company's et loss
accounting policies are presented belaw, The accounting policies for the Total
Adjustments far non-cash items 18 19,805 10,832 Parent Company s stated, been apnlied
X B, 3 ial statements, The
Interest received 103 1912 ts provide comparative infarmation in respect of the
iphereath
Interest paid 14:837) ] prene e Note
Subsidiaries
Sash flow from operating activides before changes In worldng capital (340,547} (339,826) Participatians in subsidiaries have been racagnized on  histarical cost basis
in the Parent Comparry, which implies that ¢ 1 casts are included in
the carrying amount of participations in subsidiaries. e
Cash flow from changes in working capital &
. o Fimncial Assets and Liabilities i
Changes In invefitory ] (949) 3 S to the relationship between acceunting and txation, the regalations 5
. ) e ro' nancial instruments in accordance with IFRS % are not applicd in the Other &
Changes in operating receivables 191,250) 13684 Parerit Company as a legal entity. The Parent Comparyy applies a historical e
~hanpe i E = cost basis in 2ccordance with the Annual Azcounts Act. For this reason, ax sebvi
Changes in;operating liatifi=s - SR 40024 financial assets are measured in the Parent Comparvy at cost less any Other st
Cash flow from operating activities (392,811) (285,918) impairment ane financial current assets are valued to the lower of cost or i
Ll Total
Leases
Investing activities The Parent Company applies the exemption contained in RFR 2 for legal Audit a=
i o r G ¢ entities and record all lease agreements as an expense through the state and the
Acgusition of participations in Group companies 14 [100,091) (254.05%) et of Incorhe o & StlGhE e el adertha Jease 4Emm: bt
Purchase of equipment 1 {526 upan th
] 3 ! Group and Sharehelder Contributions olharas
Investments in non-current Ainancial assets 16 (70,96d) (1.683) Both received and provided Group contributions are recognized as .3|me conduct
2 priations in accordance with the alterna mw rule. Sharehalders' contri
Disposal of non-current financial assets = 4 butions are recognized in the sharchalders’ equity of the recipient and Other &
r g capitalized in "Paticipations in Group companies” by the contributor, where agreeme
Purchase of intangible assets 12 116,064) R impairment is Rt required. aceount
Cash flow from investing a (187,648) (295,738)
Note 2 Revenues MNote
Financing activities “ear Ended Decembar 31, Leasing
New share issue 324,000 891,388 2021 2020 ;Ehg 3
20, re
Costs attributable to new share issue (19927} {#5.938) Type of goods or service are spet
Transacticn costs, paid # 54,920 Qut-licensing 225952
Mew borrowings a1 199,524 - Performance of certain regulatory services 4095
Costs attributable to new loans {14,857) - Provisian of drogs s B74 Future
Cash flow from financing activities 488,739 850,370 o sebian 874 within:
Betwes
Met increase/(decrease) in cash (91,720) 268,714 Geographical markets More th
Cash at beginning of the year 978,208 FE2 448 Eutupe Sliad Total
China. Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and
Exchange-rate difference in cash 7967 {42.954) SinRapon 27465 874
Cash at the end of the year 18 894,455 978,208 Total 229,347 874 Note
For sala
For roee information, see Note 3 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  INFOIma’
for the Group. f:j rr“-‘;
i Group.
MNote 3 Other Operating Income
ﬁir Ended Decamber 31.
Re-invalcing af costs 0218 2
Exchange rate differences 16 2452
Total 70,234 2482
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Mote 8 Profit/Loss from Participations
in Group Companies

“Year Enced December 31,
202 2020
Prefit an liquidation of subsidiaries - 4
Total = 4

The former subsidiary Pharmalink Oncology AS ceased through
woluntary liquidation, 2= no operations were conducted far the year
ended December 31, 2020.

MNote 9 Other Interest Received and Similar ltems

“ear Ended December 31,
2021 2020
Interest incorme from Croup companiss. HBS 11
Other interest income 10z 545
Exchange rate differences 8907
Total 9,895 559

Note 10 Interest Expense and Similar Items

“ear Ended Decembar 31,

2021 2020
Interest expense (6.438) )
Exchange rate differences R 152037
Changes in F options measured at fair value = (3.318)
Dther fnancial expenses (2.149) =
Tatal 18,583) 155,359)
Note 11 Income Tax Expense

Vear Ended December 21,

2021 2020
Current tax tases =
Income tax expense recognized in the
statements of income o 3
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Accounting loss before tax (354.405)  [407.363)
Tax in accordance with apnlicable tax rate for
the Farent Company 200.6% (21.4%) 73,007 87,176
Taw effect of:
Tax attributable to non-deductible tax losses
carried farward and unrecognized defered
tax aszets 159.425) (&87.084)
Nan-deductible expenses (3.582) #3)
MNaon-taxable income = 1
Income tax expense recognized in the
statements of income - -
At the effective income tax rate 0% 0%

7 PARENT COMPANY - NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Parent Comparwy has costs attributable to new share issue amounted
to SEK 19,927 and SEK 97,684 for the year ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively, which are recognized directly against ecuity
These casts are deductible for tax purposes.

The Barent Comparry has SEK 1432462 and SEK 1,081,734 of tax
lossess carried forward for which deferred tax assets have not been
recagnized in the statements of financial position as of December 31
2021 and 2020, respectively. Deferred tax assets will be recognized for
unused tax lozses to the extent that it is probable that taxable proft will
be available against which the losses can be utilized.

Note 12 Intangible Assets

December 31,
- w1 aom
Licenses and similar rights
Cost at opening balance 16,066 16064
Acquisition for the year 14,064 -
Cost at closing balance 32,132 16,066
Met book value 32,132 16,066

For additicnal infarmation on intangible asets in the Parent Company,
see Mole 16 Intangible Asseis and Impairment Testing in the Group.

MNote 13 Equipment

December 31,

2021 2020
Cost at opening balance 118 118
Acquisition for the wear 524
Disposal for the year (118]
Cost at closing balance 526 118
Depreciation at opering balance (38 14
Depeecation for the year (25 24
Dispasal far the year 51
Degreclation at closing balance 12) 38)
Met book value 514 B0
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Mote 14 Participations in Group Companies

December 31,

2021 2020
Cost at apening balance 298,998 5371
Acquisition for the year 98,993 295158
Shareholders' contributions 12,187
Liguidarion : 11,531)
Cost at clesing balance 410,177 298,998
Impairment at opening balance 37an (5.270)
Reversal of write-downs - 1531
Impairment at clesing balance (3,739) (3,739)
Met book value 406,438 295,259

Paid acxhl sans carrespord o share-beeed remuneration recognized in the:

December 31,
Compary { Corporate Reglstration Mumber /

Registered affice 2021 2020
Mefecon AB, 556604-9068, Stockholm

Share of eouity 100% 100%
Share of valing power 100% 100%
Murmber of parficination rights 1,000 1.000
MNet book value 100 100
Catliditas NA Enterprises Inc, 83-40%4951,

UsA

Snare of equity 100% 1008
Share of valing power 1004 100%
Humber of participaticn 1000 1,000
Net book value 11 356 1
Calliditas Therapeutics US Inc., 86-3169403

usa

Share of equity 100%

Share of vating power 100%

MNumber of participation rights 1000 -
Met book value 707 L]
Calliditas Therapeutics France SAS. 439 489

022, France

Share of equity 100% BE%
Share of vobing power 100% B&%
Mumber of participation rights 14074165 10121676
Net book value 394,275 295,158

Note

Cipening
Addition

Opening
Bank gu
Net boe

Note

Prepaid

Prepaid

Note

Cash at
Total

Adjustn

Depreci
Chage i
Share-b

Orther

Total

Reconci

Hon-cur

N lihil
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(SEK in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise indicated)

Note 19 Shareholders’ Equity

As of December 31, 2021
Share capital consists of 52,241, 584 and 4% 941 584 shan ith 2
guotient value of SEK 004 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respec-

tively. All shares hold has the same entitlement to the company's profits.
For additional information see the Group's Mote 25 Equity.

The share premium reserve refers to capital from new share issues that
wiere issued at a price that exceeds the quatisnt value less cost atiributable
o new share issues.

Proposed appropriation of earnings
The following zamings are at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting:
December 31,
2021 2020
Share premium reserve 2420678 2114721
Retained samings 1863,175) A72.379)
MNet boss for the year {354,405) 1407, 363)

1,203117 1229979
Tor bee distribated as follows:

To be carried forward 1,203,117 1,229,979

Note 20 Provisions

December 31,
2021 2020
Dpening balance 4972 175
Presdsions for the year 4103 4797
Total 9075 4972

For additional information on Provisions in the Parent Company, see Note:
26 Fravisicns in the Group.

Note 21 Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

December 31,

2021 2020
Due for payment between 1 and 5 years
Nan-current interest-bearing liabilities 189164

For addifional infoemation, see Note 21 Financial Risks in the Group,

Note 22 Accrued Expenses and Deferred Revenue

December 31,

2021 2020
Accrued salaries and Board fiees 9,586 5925
“Wacation pay liability 4155 2,603
Social security costs. 2759 344
Deferred revenue 3387
Accrued expenses for research and devel-
opment 29 12072
Accrued expenses for administrative and
selling expenses 14,6750 5746
Total 36,615 30,787

7 PARENT COMPANY - NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Mote 23 Assets Pledged and Contingent Liabilities

I|| ormaticn ConCeming assets pledaed and any contingent labilites in the

Compamy can be found in Craup's Moge 30 Assets Pledged,
_unhr gent Liabilites and Other Obligatians. In the Farent Company
restricked bank accounts amounts to SEK 3,742 and SEK 1,938 as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectivehy.

Note 24 Related-Party Transactions

Salesal  Purchase Recelvables  Liabilities
Gomdls/  of Goods/ on Closing  on Closing
Services Services Other Balance Balance
Subsidiaries
ear Ended
December 31
2021 70,218 91,786 - 142724 31,2256
Year Ended

December 31,
2020 19,548 1485 4,108

Far informatien regarding remuneratian of exccutive management, refer to
the Growp's Mote @ Employees and Personnel Cests,

Note 25 Inventories
Bacember 31,
2021 2020 M9

Raw materials &89

imventories are recognised after US Food and Drug Administration (FEx)
s anproved TARPEYD in the LS under accelerated approval
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The undersigned declare that the annual report has been pre
accounting principles in Sweden and these consolidated financii
with the International Financial Reparting Standards (IFRS), as a

report and consolidated financial statements respectively prov
position and earnings of the Group an

The Report of the Board of Directors' for the Parent Comp
the performance of the Parent Company’s and the Group's ¢
the significant risks and uncertainties facing the Parent Comp

Stockhalm, April 25,1

Elmar Schnee Re
Board Chairman

Diane Parks
Board member

Mally Henderson
Board member

Cur audit report was submitted i

Ermst & Young Ak

Anna Svanberg
Authorized Public Acco
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Auditor’s report

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Calliditas Therapeutics AB, corporate identity number 556659-9766

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

Opinions

We have audited the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts of Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ) for
the year 2021. The annual accounts and consolidated
accounts of the company are included on pages 28-77
in this document.

In our opinian, the annual accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the parent company as of 31 December
2021 and its financial performance and cash flow for
the year then ended in accordance with the Annual
Accounts Act, The consolidated accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the group as of 31 December 2021 and
their financial performance and cash flow for the vear
then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and
the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration
report is consistent with the other parts of the annual
accounts and cansolidated accounts.

‘We therefore recommend that the general meeting

of shareholders adopts the statement of income and
balance sheet for the parent company and the state-
ment of income and statement of financial pasition for
the group.

Qur opinions in this report on the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts are consistent with the content
of the additional report that has been submitted to the
parent company's audit committee in accordance with

the Audit Regulation (557/2014) Article 11.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with Inter-
national Standards on Auditing (15A) and generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our respon-
sibilities under those standards are further described

in the Auditor's Responsibiliies section, We are
independent of the parent company and the group in
accordance with professional ethics for accountants in
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical respon-
sibilities in accordance with these requirements. This
includes that, based on the best of our knowledge and
belief, no prohibited services referred Lo in the Audit
Regulation [537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided
to the audited company or, where applicable, its parent
company or its controlled companies within the EU

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinians.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that,
in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts of the current period, These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of, and in forming
our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consol-
idated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a
separate apinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context,

‘We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation
to these matters, Accordingly, our audit included the
perfarmance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit proce-
dures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, pravide the basis for aur audit
opiman an the accompanying financial statements
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Revenue recognition

Description

Far the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group's
and Parent Company’s revenues were SEK 229 347
thousand. As explained in Note 1 and Note 3 of the
consolidated financial statements, revenues are gener-
ated fram contracts for transferring the commercial
rights to the Nefecon product for specific regions to
partner companies. These revenue contracts consist
of multiple performance obligations, which are the
outlicensing of commercial rights and the performance
of certain regulatory services.

The allocation of the transaction price between these
performance obligations is based on the standalone
selling price of each performance obligation, Since
revenues for outlicensing the commercial rights are
recognized at the time control of the intellectual
property passes to the customer and revenues for the
provision of regulatory services are recognized over
time as the services are performed, the allocation of
the transaction price to the different perfarmance
obligations materially impacts the timing of the related
revenue recagnition.

We determined revenue recognition to be a key audit
matter, as auditing the allocation of the transaction
price between the performance obligations and the
related revenue to recognize was complex, because
of the significant judgments made by management in
datermining the stand-alone selling price for the provi
sion of regulatory services, which includes estimates
of the expected cast to fulfil the perfermance obliga-
tion and the appropriate profit margin to recognize in
relation thereto,
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AUDITOR'S REPORT

Valuation of intangible assets

Description

Intangible assets for the Group and Parent Company
amount to SEK 399,418 thousand and SEK 32,132
thousand, respectively, as of December 31, 2021, As
explained in Note 1 and Note 16 of the consolidated
financial statements, the Company performs an impair-
ment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets not
vet available for use, on an annual basis, or when there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. The
Company's evaluation of the carrying value of intan
gible assets involves the comparison of the recoverable
amount of each asset or cash generating unit to their
carrying values.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets is asti-
mated based on a probability-adjusted cash flow
model, where the amount is determined by estimating
the expected future cash flows and present value
adjustments to take into account the development risk.
Changes in assumptions used by management could
have a significant impact on either the recoverable

amount, the amount of any impairment charge, or both.

We determined the valuation of intangible assets to be
a key audit matter, as auditing the valuation of intan-
gible assets was complex due to the significant judg-
ments made by management to estimate the recover-
able amount, including the determination of the likely
fiming of potential commercialization, the market size,
the probability of reaching the market and the discount
rate used.

How our audit addressed this key audit matter

‘We performed audit procedures related to the valua
tion of intangible assets, which included, among others,
understanding management's methadology for esti-
mating the recoverable value and evaluating the appro-
priateness of the discounted cash flow madel utilized.
In addition, we tested the inputs and assumptions
utilized by management regarding potential commer-
cialization, expected market size and the probability of
the praducts reaching the market by comparing these
to statistical data for the clinical indications targeted
and for other development projects within the industry.

‘We also performed a sensitivity analysis of the
Campary's discounted cash flow models. With the
assistance of our valuation specialists, we evaluated
the discount rates  used by comparing these to rates
used by peers, and tested the mathematical accuracy of
calculations within the impairment models.
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Other Information than the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts

This document also contains other information than the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts and is found
on pages 1-27 and 86-9%. The Board of Directors and
the Managing Director are responsible for this other
infarmation.

Qur apinion on the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts does not cover this other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
regarding this ather information

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the
infarmation identified abowve and consider whether the
information is materially inconsistent with the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts. In this procedure
we also take into account our knowledge otherwise
abtained in the audit and assess whether the informa-
tion otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this
information, conclude that there is a material misstate-
ment of this other information, we are reguired to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts
and consclidated accounts and that they give a fair
presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts
Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, The
Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also
responsible for such internal control as they deter-
mine is necessary ta enable the preparation of annual
accounts and cansalidated accounts that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts, The Board of Directors and the Managing
Director are responsible for the assessment of the
company’s and the group's ability to continue as a
going concern, They disclose, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting. The going concern basis of
accounting is however not applied if the Board of
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AUDITOR'S REPORT

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting paolicies
used and the reasonableness of accounting esti
mates and related disclosures made by the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Directors' and the Managing Director's use of the
going cancern basis of accounting in preparing the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts, We
also draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence
obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may

cast significant doubt on the company’s and the
group’s ahility to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the annual accounts and
consalidated accounts or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion about the annual
accounts and consalidated accounts, Our conclu-
sians are based on the audit evidence abtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause a company and a
group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts, including the disclosures, and whether the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts repre-
sent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express
an opinion on the consolidated accounts. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and perfor-
mance of the group audit, We remain solely respon-
sible for aur apinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit. We must also inform of significant audit findings
during our audit, including any significant deficizncies
in internal control that we identified.

We must alsa provide the Board of Directors with

a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or related safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of
Directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the annual accounts
and cansolidated accounts, including the most
important assessed risks for material misstatement, and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in the auditor's report unless law or regulation
pracludes disclosure about the matter.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Report on the audit of the administration and the proposed a

Opinions

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, we have also audited the
administration of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director of Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ)
for the yvear 2021 and the proposed appropriations of
the company's profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of sharcholders
that the profit be appropriated {loss be dealt with) in
accordance with the proposal in the statutory admin-
istration report and that the members of the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director be discharged
from liability for the financial year.

Basis for opinions

We conducted the audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Qur respon-
sibilities under those standards are further described

in the Auditor's Responsibilities section. We are
independent of the parent campany and the group in
accardance with professional ethics for accountants in
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled cur ethical respon-
sihilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Mana-
ging Director

The Board of Directars is responsible for the proposal
for appropriations of the company's profit or loss. At
the proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment
of whether the dividend is justifiable considering the
requirements which the company’s and the group's
type of operations, size and risks place on the size of
the parent company's and the group's equity. consali-
dation requirements, liquidity and position in general
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AUDITOR'S REPORT

Reasonable assurance s a high level of assurance, but
is Not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accor-
dance with generally accepted auditing standards in
Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that
can give rise to liability to the company, or that the
proposed appropriations of the company's profit or loss
are not in accordance with the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skep-
ficism throughout the audit, The examination of the
administration and the proposed appropriations of the
company’s prafit or loss is based primarily an the audit

The auditor's examination of the ESEF report

Opinion

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, we have also examined that the
Board of Directars and the Managing Director have
prepared the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
in a format that enables uniform electronic reporting (the
Esef report) pursuant to Chapter 16, Section 4a) of the
Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528) for Calliditas
Therapeutics AB for the year 2021

Qur examination and our opinion relate only to the
statutory requirerments.

In our opinian, the ESEF report #[341fcbef-
0469d682a293374251f%d32(Feata 741
e708099e134a59430804f0%d0] has been prepared in
a format that, in all material respects, enables uniform
electronic reporting.

Basis for opinion

‘We have performed the examination in accordance
with FAR's recommendation RevR 18 Examination of
the ESEF report. Our responsibility under this recom-
mendation is described in more detail in the Auditors’
responsibility section. We are independent of Calliditas
Therapeutics AB in accordance with professional ethics
for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled
aur ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements

of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed
are based on our prafessional judgment with starting
point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus
the examination on such actions, areas and relation-
ships that are material for the operations and where
deviations and violabions would have particular impor-
tance for the company's situation. We examine and test
decisions undertaken, support for decisions, actions
taken and other circumstances that are relevant to our
opinion cancerning discharge from liability. As a basis
for our opinion on the Board of Directars' proposed
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss we exam-
ined whether the propesal is in accordance with the
Cormpanies Act,

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is suffi
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Mana-
ging Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Directar
are responsible for the preparation of the Esef report
in accordance with Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the
Swedish Securities Market Act (2007-528), and far
such internal control that the Board of Directors and
the Managing Director determine is necessary to
prepare the Esef report without material misstate.
ments, whether due to fraud or error,

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the Esef report is in all material respects
prepared in a format that meets the requirements of
Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the Swedish Securities
Market Act (2007:528). based an the procedures
performed.

RevR 18 requires us to plan and execute procedures
to achieve reasonable assurance that the Esef report is
prepared in a format that meets these requirements.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
it is not a guarantee that an engagement carried out
according to RevR 18 and generally accepted auditing
standards in Sweden will always detect a material
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misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the Esef report.

The audit firm applies ISQC 1 Quality Control for Firms
that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements,
and other Assurance and Related Services Engagements
and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system

of guality contral, including documented palicies and
procedures regarding compliance with professional
ethical requirements, professional standards and legal
and regulatory requirements.

The examination involves obtaining evidence, through
various procedures, that the Esef report has been
prepared in a format that enables uniform electronic
reporting of the annual and consclidated accounts. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement in the report, whether due to fraud or
error. In carrying out this risk assessment, and in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, the auditor considers those elements
of intermal contral that are relevant to the prepara-
tion of the Esef report by the Board of Directors and
the Managing Director, but not far the purpose of
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Corporate Governance Report

Introduction

Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ), "Calliditas” is a
Swedish public limited liability company with its regis-
tered office in Stockholm. The company's share was
listed on June 29, 2018 on Nasdag Stockholm and on
June 5, 2020 on Nasdaq Global Select US and is traded
under the ticker CALTX and CALT, respectively. This
report pertains to the financial year of 2021 and has
been examined by the company’s auditars

Background

Corporate governance refers to the systems through
which shareholders, directly or indirectly, control the
company. Good corporate governance is an essential
part of efforts to generate value for Calliditas' share-
halders, Corporate governance in Calliditas is based on
Swedish law, Nasdag Stockholm's Rule Book for lssuers
and internal rules and regulations. The company also
applies the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
(the "Code"). The Code applies to all Swedish compa
nies whose shares are listed on a regulated market in
Sweden. The campany need not comply with all of the
rules of the Code as the Code itself offers an opportu-
nity to deviate from the rules, on the condition that any
such deviation, and the chosen alternative solution, is
described and the reasons explained in the Corporate
Governance Report {according to the comply or explain
principle). However, the company has not deviated
from any of the rules established in the Code during
the year, The company is classified as a Foreign Private
lssuer {(FPI) in accordance with the regulations estab-
lished by the US Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) and therefore follows market practice in the
domestic market, ie Swedish corporate governance.

Examples of Important Rules and Regulations
Important internal rules and regulations

.

Articles of Association

Rules of procedure of the Board of Directors and
Committees

Directives for the CEC
Policy documents

Important external rules and regulations

Swedish Companies Act

Swedish and international accounting legislation
Masdag Stockholm's Rule Book for lssuers
Masdaq U.S Rule Book for |ssuers

Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
Sarbanes-Oxley Act

.

.

Shareholders

Calliditas' shares were admitted to trading on MNasdag
Stockholm, Mid Cap, in June 2018 and on Nasdag
Global Select, in June 5, 2020, At the end of 2021,
the tatal number of shares and vating rights amounted
to 52,341,584, distributed between 19,972 share-
holders. The ten largest shareholders held 5%.07% of
shares outstanding and ather sharshalders 40.93%.
As of December 31, 2021, three shareholders owned
shares that each represented 10% or more of the total
number of shares and vating rights in the company:
BWF Partners LP 12.7%, Stiftelsen Industrifonden,
11.0% and Linc AB 10.5%.

Dividend Policy

The company has so far not paid out any dividend.
Any future dividend and the size thereof, will be deter-
mined based on long-term growth, earnings trends
and capital requirements of Calliditas, It is the view of
the Board of Directors that Calliditas should priaritize
progression of the development program, and until

the future revenues substantially exceeds the cost of
the development programs, financial resources should
mainly be used to finance Calliditas' development
pragrams. Inview of company's financial position and
negative earnings, the Board of Directors does not
intend to propose any dividend before the company
generates long-term sustainable profits and posi-

tive cash flow. Dividends shall, as far as a dividend is
proposed, be balanced with regard to the business risk,

Annual General Meeting

Right to participate in the Annual General Meeting
Sharehaolders whao wish to participate in the Annual
General Meeting (AGM) must be included in the share-
holders' register maintained by Euroclear Sweden on
the day falling six banking days prior to the meeting,
and notify the company of their participation no later
than on the date stipulated in the notice convening the
meeting. Shareholders may attend the shareholders’
meetings in person or by proxy and may be accom-
panied by a maximum of two assistants, Typically, it

is possible for a shareholder to register for the AGM

in several different ways as indicated in the notice of
the meeting. A shareholder may vote for all company
shares owned or represented by the shareholder.
MNobice of the AGM shall be published in the Swedish
Official Gazette and on the company's website, within
such time as set forth in the Swedish Companies

Act (2005:551), It shall be announced in Svenska
Dagbladet that a notice has been Issued.
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Annual General Meeting 2022

Calliditas' 2022 AGM will be held on Thursday, May 19,
2022 With reference to the Swedish Act {2022:121) an
temporary exceptions to facilitate the execution of general
meetings in companies and other associations, the Board
of Directors has decided that the annual general meeting
will be conducted by advance voting only, without physical
presence of shareholders, proxies and third parties.

The minutes fram the AGM will be made available at
wwcalliditas.se.

Participation at the Annual General Meeting
Shareholders who wish to participate, through advance
vofing, in the meeting must:

be recorded in the share register maintained by
Euroclear Sweden AB relating to the circumstances
on Wednesday 11 May 2022, and

give nofice of participation by casting their advance
vates in accordance with the instructions under the
heading "Advance voting” below, so that the advance
wvoting form is received by Euraclear Sweden AB no
later than on Wednesday 18 May 2022,

Shareholders whose shares are registered in the name
of a nominee through a bank or a securities institution
must tempaorarily register their shares in their own
names to be entitled to participate in the meeting,
Such registration, which may be temporary (so-called
voting rights registration), must be duly effected in the
share register maintained by Euroclear Sweden AB on
Friday 13 May 2022, and the shareholders must there-
fore advise their nominees well in advance of this date.

Nomination Committee

Companies applying the Code shall have a Nomination
Committee. According to the Code, the AGM shall
appoint the members of the Nomination Committee or
resolve on procedures for appointing the members. The
Momination Committee shall, pursuant to the Code,
cansist of at least three members of which a majority
shall be independent in relation to Calliditas and the
Group Management. In addition, at least one member
of the Nomination Committee shall be independent in
relation to the largest shareholder in terms of voting
rights or group of shareholders who cooperate in terms
of the company's management.

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on
September 14, 2017, it was resolved that the Nomi-
nation Committee shall be composed of the Chairman
of the Board of Directors together with one represen-
tative of each of the three largest shareholders, based
on ownership in Calliditas as of the end of the third
quarter of the fiscal year, The Nomination Committee
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

and on Calliditas' website. Shareholders may submit
proposals to the Nomination Commities in accor-
dance with what has been published on the company's
website, www.calliditas.se, prior to the AGM.

Auditor

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Callid-
itas must appaint a registered firm of accountants as
external auditor. The 2021 AGM elected the registered
firm of accountants Ernst & Young AB as auditor, up to
the 2022 AGM, The Auditor-in-Charge is Anna Svan-
berg. The auditor examines the Parent Company's and
the Group's accounts and administration on behalf of
the AGM, The external audit of the Parent Company’s
and the Group's accounts and the Board's and CEC's
administration is conducted using generally accepted
auditing standards in Sweden. The company entrusted
the auditor to review one interim reports in 2021,
which satisfies the requirements of the Code. For
information about remuneration of the auditor, refer to
Mote & Auditors’ Fee.

Board of Directors

The Beard of Directors is the second highest deci-
sion-making body of the company after the AGM.
According ta the Swedish Companies Act, the Board of
Directors is responsible for the organization of Callid-
itas and the management of the company's affairs,
which means that the Board of Directors is responsible
for, among other things, setting targets and strategies,
securing routines and systems for evaluation of set
targets, continuously assessing the financial condition
and profits as well as evaluating the cperating manage-
ment. The Board of Directors is also respansible for
ensuring that annual reports and interim reports are
prepared in a imely manner. Moreaver, the Board of
Directors appaints the CEO,

Members of the Board of Directors are normally
appointed by the AGM for the period until the end of
the next AGM. According to Calliditas’ Articles of Asso-

ciation, the mermbers of the Board of Directors elected
by the AGM shall be not less than three and not more
than ten members with no deputy members of the
Board of Directors.

According to the Code, the Chairman of the Board

of Directors is to be elected by the AGM and have a
special responsibility for leading the work of the Board
of Directors and for ensuring that the wark of the
Board of Directors is efficiently organized

The Board of Directors applies written rules of proce-
dure, which are revised annually and adopted by the
inaugural board meeting every year, Among ather
things, the rules of procedure govern the practice of
the Board of Directors, functions and the division of
work between Board members and the CEQ, At the
inaugural board meeting, the Board of Directors also
adaopts instructions for the CEQ, including instructions
for financial reporting.

The Board of Directors meets accarding to an annual
predetermined schedule. In addition to these meetings,
additional Board meetings can be convened to handle
issues which cannot be postponed until the next ordi-
nary board meeting. In addition to the Board meetings,
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the CEO
continuously discuss the management of the company.
Currently, the company's Board of Directors consists of
five ordinary members elected by the AGM.

Board Independence

The company satisfies the requirements of the Code as
most of the Board members elected by the AGM are inde-
pendent of the campany and management, and that at least
twio of these are independent in relation to major share-
holders, The table on page XX presents the independence of
members at the date on which this report was published.

Work of the Board in 2021
During 2021. the Beard of Directers held a total of 14

Board bers' inds dence, dance and in 2021
Independent in relasion to Attendance

Board The comparny Aaselit Remuneration Total

maembr andmanage-  Major share- Board meot-  Committes Committee remunaration,
Mame Position since ment holders ings meetings mectings SEH i thousand
Elmar Schnee Board Chainman 2019 s Yes 16716 = 33 1363
Lennart Hansson Board Member 2008 Wes Vs 15/14 5 33 522
Hilds Furberg, Board Member 2014 e es 15/1& 5/5 - 499
Diane Parks Board Mermber 2019 s Yes 16714 = 343 584
Mally Hendersan Board Member 2020 Wes Yes 14714 5/5 &64
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meeatings, of which & were ordinary and 10 extraor
dinary meetings. Calliditas’ CEO participates in Board
meetings, as does the company's CFO and General
Counsel, who was secretary at the meetings. Other
employees from Calliditas have reported on particular
issues at the meetings. The extracrdinary meetings
were a result of the company's work with acquisition
and capital raise.

Board Remuneration

Fees to members elected by the Annual General
Meeting are decided by the Annual General Meeting,
The Annual General Meeting on May 27, 2021
resolved that fees to the Board for the period up to
the end of the next Annual General Meeting shall be
as follows: Board fees shall be SEK 850,000 to the
Chairman of the Board and 5EK 300,000 to each of
the ather members not employed in the Group, SEK
150,000 SEK 50,000 to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and SEK 75,000 to other members of the
Audit Committee who are not employees of the Group.
and SEK 50,000 to the Chairman of the Remuneration
Comrmittee and SEK 25,000 to other members of the
Remuneration Cormmittee who are not employees

of the Group. In addition to the fee proposed above
for ordinary board work, it is proposed that a board
member wha is resident in the USA shall receive an
extra fee of SEK 140,000 and that a board member
whao is resident in Eurape but outside the Nordic region
shall receive an extra fee of SEK 50,000. For more
information regarding remuneration of Board members,
refer to Note 2 Employees and Personnel Costs.

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Calliditas has an Audit Cornmittee consisting of three
members: Molly Henderson (Chairman), Lennart
Hansson and Hilde Furberg. The Audit Committee shall,
without it affecting the responsibilities and tasks of
the Board of Directors, monitor the company's finan-
cial reporting, maonitor the efficiency of the company's
internal contrals, internal auditing and risk manage-
ment, keep informed of the auditing of the annual
report and the consolidated accounts, review and
monitor the impartiality and independence of the audi-
tors and pay close attention to whether the auditors
are providing other services besides audit services for
the company, and assist in the preparation of proposals
for the AGM's decision on election of auditors.

The Committee held five meetings in 2021, The
company’s auditors taok part in four of the meetings,
where discussions included the auditors’ planning of
the audit, their observations and examination of the
campany and the compamy's financial statements,

Remuneration Committee
Calliditas has a Remuneration Committee consisting
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the work of the CEO by manitering the perfermance of
the operations compared with established targets and
makes a formal assessment each year,

CEO and Management Team

The role of the CEQ s subardinate to the Board of
Directors. and his or her primary task is to attend to
the company's daily management and operations in the
company. The Rules of Procedure for Decisian-making
for the Board and instructions for the CEO present
which issues that the company's Board of Directors
are to consider and decide and which are the respon-
sibility of the CEQ. The CEOQ is also responsible for
preparing reports and required documentation for
decision-making prior to board meetings and is the
reporting person on the material at board meetings.

Calliditas’ management consists of six individuals and
includes, in addition to the CEQ, the Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Medical Officer, Vice President Opera-
tions, Vice President Regulatory Affairs. and President
Morth America. For information about current senior
executives at Calliditas, when these assumed their
positions, and date of birth, education, experience,
sharehclding in the company and current and previous
assignments, refer to pages 24-95 and the company's
website, www.calliditas.se.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board of Director's responsibility for the internal
control is governed by the Swedish Companies Act,
the Swedish Annual Reports Act - which requires

that information about the main features of Callid-
itas’ system for internal control and risk management
related to financial reporting each year must be
included in the corporate governance report - and the
Code, The Board of Directors shall, amang other tasks,
ensure that Calliditas has sufficient internal contral
and formalized routines to ensure that established
principles for financial reporting and internal control
are adhered to and that there are effective systems to
monitor and control the company’s operations and the
risks assaciated with the company and its operations.
The overall purpose of the internal control is to ensure
that the company's operating strategies and targets

are maonitored and that the owners’ investments are
protected, to a reasonable degree. Furthermaore, the
internal control shall ensure that the external finan-

cial reporting, with reasonable certainty, is reliable

and prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practice, that applicable laws and regulations
are followed, and that the requirements imposed on
listed companies are complied with. The internal control
primarily consists of the following five components,

Control environment

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility
for the internal contral in relation to financial reporting.
In order to create and maintain a functioning contral
enviranment, the Board of Directors has adopted a
number of policies and guidelines governing financial
reporting. These documents primarily comprise the
rules of procedure for the Board of Directors, instruc-
tians for the CEO, rules of procedure for the Audit
Cormmittee and instructions for financial reporting. The
Board of Directors has also adopted a delegation of
signatory authority and a treasury palicy. The company
also has a financial manual which contains principles,
guidelines and process descriptions for accounting and
financial reporting. Furthermore, the Board of Directors
has established an Audit Committee whose main task is
to monitar the company's financial pasition, to manitar
the effectiveness of the company's internal control,
internal audit and risk management, to be informed
about the audit of the annual report and consolidated
financial statements, and to review and maonitor the
auditor's impartiality and independence. The responsi-
bility for the angoing work of the internal cantrol aver
financial reporting has been delegated to the compa
ny's CEQ. The CEO regularly reports to the Board of
Directors in accordance with the established instruc-
tions for the CEO and the instructions for financial
reporting. The Board of Directors also receives reports
fram the company's auditor.

The responsibility for the internal, business-specific
control in the daily operations lies with the CEC,

Risk assessment

Risk assessment includes identifying risks that may arise
if the basic requirements for the financial reporting of
the company are not met. Calliditas’ management team
has, in a specific risk register, identified and evaluated
the risks that arise in the company’s operations, and has
assessed how these risks can be managed. Calliditas’
management shall annually perform a risk assessment of
strategic, operational and financial risks and present the
assessment to the Audit Cormmittee and the Board of
Directors. The CEQ is responsible for the presentation.
The management’s risk assessment shall be reviewed on
an annual basis by the CFO.
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Control activities

Control activities limit the identified risks and ensure
accurate and reliable financial reporting. The Board

of Directors is responsible for the internal control and
monitoring of the company's management. This is done
thraugh bath internal and external control activities, and
through examination and monitoring of the company’s
guidelines related to risk management. The effectiveness
of the control activities are assessed annually and the
results from these assessments are reported to the Board
of Directors and the Audit Committes, In agreements
with essential subcontractors, the company has secured
the right to audit each respective subcontractors' fulfill-
ment of relevant services, including quality aspects,

Manitoring

Compliance with, and effectiveness of, the internal
controls are constantly monitared. The CEQ ensures
that the Board of Directors continuously receives
reports on the development of the company’s
activities, including the development of the company's
results and financial position, as well as information
an important events, such as research results and
important contracts. The CEO also reports on these
matters at each ordinary Board meeting. The compa-
ny's compliance with relevant policy's and guidelines
are assessed annually. The results from these assess-
ments are compiled by the CFO in the company and
then reported to the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee annually.
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Auditor’s report on the corporate governance s

To the general ting of the shareholders of Calliditas Therap

Engagement and responsibility

It is the Board of Directors who is responsible for the
corporate governance statement for the year 2021
on pages 86-91 and that it has been prepared in
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

The scope of the audit

Our examination has been conducted in accordance
with FAR's standard RevR 16 The auditor’s examination
of the corparate gavernance statement. This means that
aur examination of the corparate governance statement
is different and substantially less in scope than an audit
conducted in accordance with International Standards

i

on Au
dards
provic

Opini
A corp
Discle
secon
and ct
same
the cc
the Ar

Stockhoelm, April 27,
Ernst & Young A

Anna Svanberg
Authorized Public Acce

Calliditas Therapeutics | Annuz




Board of Directors

Elmar Schnee

Chairman

Born 1959,
Board member since 2019

Education: Master's degree in marketing
and management from SI1E

Board Committees: Chairman of the
Rernuneration Cammittes.

Experience: Elmar Schnee was previ
ously CEO of Merck Serono and was
instrumental in the acquisition of Serono
by Merck KGaf. He has also served as
General Partner and member of the Exec
utive Board of Merck KGaA and has ¢
ausly held several senior global manage
ment positions with UCB and Sanofi.

i

Other current assignments: Chairman of
the board of directors

of Santhera Pharmaceutical, ProCom Rx
54, Moleac Pte Lts and Noorik Biophar
maceuticals AG as well a member of the
board of directors of Kuste Biogharma and
Damian Pharma AG.

Heldings in the Company: Elmar Schnee
holds 10,000 shares in the company,
23,234 share awards in board LTIP 2019,
14,063 share awards in LTIP 2020 and
10,424 share awards in LTIP 2021. Inde-
pendent In relation to the Company and
its management and in relation to majer
shareholders.

Hilde Furberg

Non-executive Director

Born 1958,
Board member since 2014

Education: Master of Science in Engi
reering from Oslo University, Morway.

Board Committees: Member of the Audit
Committee

Experience: Hilde Furberg is an indepen
dent consultant and professional Board
member. She has extensive experience

in lezdership from her 35 vears in sales,
marketing, strategy and management in
Pharma/Biotech, Hilde has worked for
companies such as Genzyme and Baxter,
she was most recently SYP and General
Manger/European Head of Rare Diseases at
Sanof Genzyme. In addition to working for
Genzyme/Sanofi Genzyme, Hilde has since
2005 worked as non-executive director and
Board member of Probi, Pronova, Clavis,
Bergenbio and Algeta

Other current assignments: She is currently
an industrial advisor to Investinor and
Board member of PCI Biotech, Cnoodenge,
Herantis Pharma and Bic-Me.

Holdings in the Company: Hilde Furberg
holds 44,750 shares in the company, B,449
share awards in board LTIP 2019, 4327
share awards in board LTIP 2020 and 4,086
share awards in LTIP 2021. Independent in
relation to the Comparny and its manage-
ment and in relation to major shareholders.
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Lennart Hansson

Non-executive Director

Bam 1956,
Board member since 2009

Education: PhD in Genetics from the
University of Umea.

Board Committees: Member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Cammitte,

Experience: Lennart Hansson has broad
experience from leading positions within
pharmaceutical development and busi
ness development in both biotech and
pharma companies such as KabiGen AB,
Symbicom AB, AstraZenecs, Biovitrum
ABand as CEQ of Arexis AB. Lennart

was responsible for Industrifonden's life
science operations between 2008- 2016
He h sorked on more than 30 company
boards and is also the co-founder of two
pharmaceutical development companies.

Other current assignments: Chairman of
the Board of Directors of Sixera Pharma
AB, lgnitus AB and Cinclus Pharma
Helding AB. Member of the Board of
Directors of InCiex Pharmaceuticals
Holding AB (publl and Medivir AB (publ).

Holdings in the Company: Lennart
Hangson holds 12,000 shares in the
compary and B,449 share awards in
board LTIP 201%, 4,327 share awards in
board LTIP 2020 and 4,086 share awards
n LTIP 2021. Independent in relation to
the Company and its management and in
relation to major shareholders,

Diane Parks

Non-executive Director

Eorn 1952,
Board member since 201%.

Education: Master's degree from Kansas
State University and an MBA from Georgia
State University.

Board Committees: Member of the Remu
neration Committee.

Experience: Diane Parks is a senior
executive with deep sales and marketing
experience from the US, where she

has held positions such as Head of US
Commercial for Kite Pharma, WP of Sales
for Amgen and Head of Global Marketing
at Pharmacyelics.

Other current assignments: Soard
member in Kura Oncology, Soligenix and
TriSalus Life Sciences,

Haoldings in the Company: [iane Parks
halds 8,449 share awards in board LTIP
2019, 4327 share awards in board LTIP
2020 and 4,086 share awards in LTIP
2021, Independent in relation to the
Compary and its management and in
relation to major shareholders.,

Molly Henderson
Non-executive Director

Born 1970,
Board member since 2020

Education: M.B.A and B.5.
the State Unnwersity of Mew
Buffalo.

Board Committees: Chairman
Cormittee.

Experience: Mally Henderson
as the CFO of several listed lifs
companies for over 17 years, €
sh is the CFO of Phathom Ph
tical, Inc. She was previausly |

Uragen and Executive Vice Pre
Advaxis, Inc. the CFC of lovan
apeutics, Inc. (formerly Lion Bir
nologies, Inc.) and before that

Business and Financial Officer
Vice President of VirtualScopic
has also atvised start-up comp
Switzerland, and wa
aulit i i
LLR.

‘Other current assignments: C
Phathem Pharmaceuticals

Holdings in the Company: Mo
Henderson holds 100 shares it
company and 4. 327 chare awa
board LTIP 2020 and 4,086 <h
in LTIP 2021. Independent in r
the Company and its manager
relation to major shareholders.
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Management team

Renee Aguiar-Lucander
Chief Executive Officer

Born 1942,
CEC since 2017

Education: BA in Finance from Stockhalm
School of Economics. MBA fram INSEAD,

Experience: Before joining Calliditas, Rende
Aguiar-Lucander was a Partner and CO0 of
Oinega Fund Managament, an intermational
venture capital company focused on invest
ments within the life science sector. Before
that, she served as a Partner in the venture
capital group 2i Group plc in London, where
she managed the publicly quoted assets
and was co-head of the global healthcare
and technology portfolic. Prior to this
Rende Aguiar-Lucander was the European
Group Head and Managing Director at a
global stment bank and has more than
12 vears' experience in corporate finance
Prior fo her career in investment banking,
she was the Head of European Sales and
Marketing in & company focused an the

“lal services,

Other current assignments: Chairman
of the board of directors of Exenta Inc.
Member of the board of directors of

Medcap AB (publ) and RAL Capital Ld,

Heldings in the Company: Bonde
Aguilar-Lucander holds 593,000 shares
in the Company, 195,000 warrants' and
416,000 options®.

in Warrant pragram 201 %/2022. ' Holding in ES0P 2020, ar

Fredrik Johansson
Chief Financial Officer

Born 1977,
CFO since 2017,

Education: Studies in Business Law at
Jinkiiping International Business School.
Studies in Business and American law,
Economics and Finance at Georgia S
University, University of South Carolina
and Lund University.

Experience: Fredrik Johansson has exten-
sive experience in executive positions,
primarily within telecom and software,
Previously, he was CFO and COO at
Birdstep Technology? Techstep ASA, liste
on the Osla Stock Exchange, where he,
among other things, was in charge of the
ion and reversed listing of Teki
rs. Previous CFO positions also
include Phone Family, Teligent Telecom
and Wayhinder Systems

Haldings in the Company: Fredrik
Joh: n helds 37,750 shares in
the Company, 50000 wanants?
and 180,000 options’.

r ESOP 2021
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Frank Bringstrup
Vice President Regulatory Affairs

Bam 1959,
WP Repulatory Affairs since 2019,

Education: Medical education from the
University of Copenhagen. He has a
diploma in Managing Medical Product
Innavation (MMPI) from the Copen
hagen Sehaol of nomics, a diploma

n business administration from Warwick
University, and a post graduate specialist
course in public health science from the
Mational Board of Health. Denmark

Experience: Frank Bringstrup has aver

17 years of experience in the pharma
ceutical industry within regulatany affairs
and health autherity interactions. Prior

t0 joining Calliditas, he warked in various
positions at MNovo Mordisk A5, He started
his professional career first as a clinic
doctor and then Frederiksborg County
wedical Advisor

Helding in the Company: Frank Bringstrup
helds 6,000 share in the Company, 7,500
warrants' and 45,000 options®.

Andrew Udell

President, North America

Eorn 1970

Head of Marth America Commerrial since
2019.

Education: B5c from Lehigh University:
MBA from the University of Connechicut,

Experience: Andrew Udell has more

than 20 years of commercial experience
in the pharmaceutical industry. Before
joining Calliditas, Andrew worked as Vice
President of Narth America Commer

cial at NeuroDerm. Andrew began his
career in the pharmaceutical industry at
Furdue Pharma and held several sales and
marketing positions, including responsible
for the company's brands and led a multi-
functional team for a multi-billion pain
medication franchise.

Holding in the Company: Andrew Udell
halds 26,000 share in the company,
20,000 warrants' and 210,000 options®,

Katayoun Welin-B:

Vice President Operations

Born 19468,
WP Ciperations since 2020

Education: Ph3 in Pharmacy fi
University, Sweden

Experience: atayoun \Welin-E
has more than 28 years of oo
experience in the pharmaceuti
bisdogics industry. Before joinit
Katayoun worked as Vice Presi
Operations at BioGaia. Katayo:
her career in the pharmaceutic
at AstraZeneca and held sever,
within both R&D and Operatic

Holding in the Company: [ata
Wielin-Berger holds 11/ shi
a ed party, 5,000 war
45,000 options”.
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Glossary

ACE inhibitors (ACEls): Angiotensin
Converting Enzyme inhibitors
(ACEis) are a type of blood pressure
medication that work by limiting
the effects of the hormene angio-
tensin 11, which has a constricting
effect on blood vessels and stim-
ulates salt and water retention in
the body and thus increases blood
pressure. Angiotensin |l is activated
by a molecule called Angiotensin
Converting Enzyme (ACE ) which is
blocked by ACE inhibitors

Adaptive Design: An adaptive
design trial is one in which the
design allows for medifications to
the trial and/or statistical proce-
dures of the trial after its initiation
without undermining its validity and
integrity

ALP: Alkaline phosphatase (ALP)
is an enzyme which is used as a
marker in PBC. A rise in ALP levels
indicates impaired bile flow in the
liver

Angiotensin Receptor Blockers
(ARBs): ARBs work by blocking the
AT1 receptors that the hormone
angiotensin |l acts on, thereby
limiting its action and lowering
blood pressure

Autoimmune disease: Disease
that is manifested because of the
imrmune system's harmful attack
with autoantibodies on the body's
own tissue. All people have some
degree of autaimmunity, but when
it gets too high it becomes harmful

Budesonide: a patent glucocor-
ticoid with rapid elimination that
fits very well with local treatment
where you want to minimize
systemic side effects

CAF: A cancer-assaciated fibroblast
(CAF) is a key cell type within the
tumor microenvironment, CAFs
promote tumaer growth via a variety
of mechanisms, including initiating
the remodelling of the extracellular
matrix or secreting cytokines

Corticosteroids: a class of steroid
hormones and synthetic analogues.
Corticosteroids are used systemi-
cally for the treatment of inflamma-
tory and immunological diseases,
including IgA nephropathy, autoim-
mune hepatitis and primary biliary
cholangitis

Creatinine: a chemical substance
made by muscles. Measured in the
blood circulation and produced in 2
relatively even amount. Eliminated
through the kidneys. Too high a
concentration in the blood is a
measure of impaired kidney func-
tion. It is used to calculate eGFR.
High creatining corresponds to low
eGFR

Dimeric: Also known as 'pelymeric)
a dimeric molecule is composed

of two identical simpler molecules
(menomers)

DKD: Diabetic kidney disease
(DKD.) also called diabetic nephro-
pathy, is kidney disease that is due
ta Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes

Double blind: A double-blind
study is one in which neither the
participants nor the experimenters
know wha is receiving a particular
treatment

eGFR: estimated glomerular filtra-
tion rate. A measure of the kidney's
ahility to filter and purify the blood.
When a kidney disease warsens,
eGFR decreases
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EMA: European Medicines Agency
ESRD: end-stage renal diseasc

Enteric: relating to or occurring

in the small intestine. The enteric
coating an Mefecon refers to the
fact that it is designed to dissolve in
the ileum, which is in the distal part
of the small intestine

FDA: US Food and Drug Adminis-
tratian

Galactose: a type of sugar that

is similar to glucose. Antibodies
such as IgA have sugar chains
attached to them. These sugar
chains contain, among other things,
galactose

Glomerulus: An anatomical struc-
ture of the kidney. Blood vessel
bundles where the blood is filtered
to urine

Glomerulonephritis: an inflamma-
tion of the glomeruli, the kidney's
filtration function

HbA1c: HbAlc is a term commanly
used in relation to diabetes and is

a measure of average blood sugar
levels. The term refers to glycated
haemoglabin, which develops when
haemoglabin joins with glucase in
the blood, becoming 'glycated'

IgA: Immunoglobulin A (an anti-
body.) Also referred to as IgAl

IgA Nephropathy (IgAN): a rare
autoimmune kidney inflammatory
disease, within the glomerulone-
phritis class

lleum: the distal end of the small
intestine, also called the bowel arm,
is 2-4 meters long and connects to
the colon

Immuneglobulin: antibodies
[proteins) used by the bady's
immune system to detect and
identify foreign substances that can
cause damage

Incidence: number of new patients
per year in a disease

Immunosuppressive agents: 2 class
of drugs that suppress, or reduce,
the strength of the body's immune
system

Immunotherapy: Immunotherapy
is the treatment of disease by acti-
vating or suppressing the immune
system

Investigator-Led Study: Inves-
tigator led studies are clinical
studies initiated and managed by

a nan-pharmaceutical company
researchers, like individual inves-
tigators, institutions, collaborative
study groups or cooperative groups

IPF: |dicpathic pulmonary fibrosis
{IPF) is a condition in which

the lungs become scarred and
breathing becomes increasinghy
difficult, the causes of which are
unclear

KDIGO: Kidney Disease: Improving
Global Qutcomes, a non-profit
organization that develops global
guidelines for treatment in kidney
disease

Monomeric: a monomeric molecule
is one that is a single unit and can
be bonded to other identical mole-
cules to form a polymer

MNADPH Oxidase: NADPH oxidase
[nicotinamide adenine dinuclectide
phosphate oxidase,) also known

as MOX enzymes, are membrane-
bound enzyme camplexes, which
catalyse the production of reactive
oxygen species

Nephrologist: a physician
ized in kidney disease

Off-label prescription; pr
of an approved drug outsi
approved indication

On-label: prescription of i
approved drug within the
indication

Open-label: An open-labe
one in which information
which treatment is being
istered is not withheld fro
participants and researchs

Orphan disease: a rare di
falls within the criteria of |
drug law

Oxidative Stress: Oxidati
is when there is an imbala
between the production
accumulation of reactive ¢
species (ROS) in cells and
and the body’ ability to de
these reactive products

PEC: Primary biliary chala
rare autoimmune fatty live

Peyer's patches: lymph &:
the ileum, the distal part ¢
small intestine, part of the
immune system

Prevalence: number of pe
population having a disea:

Proteinuria: a condition ¢
terized by the presence o
than normal amounts of ¢
the urine; a measure of le
the kidney's filtration func

Proof of Concept Trial: Pr
Concept Principle studies
early stage of clinical drug
ment when a compound
potential in animal model:
safety testing, and often it
between a Phase 1 and a
ranging Phase 2 study
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Exhibit 99.2

calliditas

Stockholm, Sweden April 27, 2022
Calliditas Therapeutics’ 2021 Annual Report Published

Calliditas Therapeutics AB (Nasdaq: CALT, Nasdaq Stockholm: CALTX) today announces that the Annual Report for 2021 now is available at the company’s website: www.calliditas.com.

This information is information that Calliditas Therapeutics AB is obliged to make public pursuant to the Securities Markets Act. The information was submitted for publication at 18:00 CET on April 27, 2022.

For further information, please contact:

Marie Galay, IR Manager, Calliditas
Tel.: +44 79 55 12 98 45, email: marie.galay@calliditas.com

About Calliditas

Calliditas Therapeutics is a commercial stage biopharma company based in Stockholm, Sweden focused on identifying, developing and commercializing novel treatments in orphan indications, with an initial focus on renal and hepatic
diseases with significant unmet medical needs. Calliditas’ lead product, TARPEYOTM (budesonide) delayed release capsules, has been approved by the FDA and is the subject of a marketing authorization application (MAA) with the
European Medicines Agency (EMA). Additionally, Calliditas is conducting a pivotal clinical trial with its NOX inhibitor product candidate setanaxib in primary biliary cholangitis and is initiating a head and neck cancer Phase 2 trial
with setanaxib. Calliditas’ common shares are listed on Nasdaq Stockholm (ticker: CALTX) and its American Depositary Shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (ticker: CALT).

Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended, including, without limitation, statements regarding Calliditas’ strategy, commercialization
efforts, business plans, regulatory submissions, clinical development plans and focus. The words “may,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “project,”
“potential,” “continue,” “target,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Any forward-looking statements in this press
release are based on management’s current expectations and beliefs and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and important factors that may cause actual events or results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by
any forward-looking statements contained in this press release, including, without limitation, any related to Calliditas’ business, operations, continued EMA review and approval for NEFECON, market acceptance of
NEFECON/TARPEYO, safety or efficacy of NEFECON/TARPEYO, clinical trials, supply chain, strategy, goals and anticipated timelines, competition from other biopharmaceutical companies, and other risks identified in the section
entitled “Risk Factors” in Calliditas’ reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Calliditas cautions you not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made.
Calliditas disclaims any obligation to publicly update or revise any such statements to reflect any change in expectations or in events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statements may be based, or that may affect the
likelihood that actual results will differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statements contained in this press release represent Calliditas’ views only as of the date hereof and should not be
relied upon as representing its views as of any subsequent date.




Exhibit 99.3

calliditas

Stockholm, Sweden April 29, 2022
Number of shares and votes in Calliditas Therapeutics

During April, Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ) has allotted 830,586 common shares within the company’s warrant program issued in 2018. Thus, as of April 29, 2022, the number of shares and votes in the company amounts to
53,172,170.

For further information, please contact:
Mikael Widell, Investor relations
Tel.: +46 703 11 99 60, email: mikael.widell@calliditas.com

The information in the press release is such that Calliditas Therapeutics AB (publ) is required to disclose pursuant to the Swedish Financial Instruments Trading Act. The information was submitted for publication, through the agency
of the contact persons set out above, at 10:00 a.m. CEST on April 29, 2022.

About Calliditas

Calliditas Therapeutics is a commercial stage biopharma company based in Stockholm, Sweden focused on identifying, developing and commercializing novel treatments in orphan indications, with an initial focus on renal and hepatic
diseases with significant unmet medical needs. Calliditas’ lead product, TARPEYO™ (budesonide) delayed release capsules, has been approved by the FDA and is the subject of a marketing authorization application (MAA) with the
European Medicines Agency (EMA). Additionally, Calliditas is conducting a pivotal clinical trial with its NOX inhibitor product candidate setanaxib in primary biliary cholangitis and is initiating a head and neck cancer Phase 2 trial
with setanaxib. Calliditas’ common shares are listed on Nasdaq Stockholm (ticker: CALTX) and its American Depositary Shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (ticker: CALT).




